OFF-TIME ILLNESS: WHEN YOUNG ADULTS GET ILLNESSES ASSOCIATED WITH OLD AGE

by

KATHRYN G. NORTON-SMITH

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Department of Sociology and the Division of Graduate Studies of the University of Oregon in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

December 2022

DISSERTATION APPROVAL PAGE

Student: Kathryn G. Norton-Smith

Title: Off-time Illness: When Young Adults get Illnesses Associated with Old Age

This dissertation has been accepted and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in the Department of Sociology by:

Jessica Vasquez-Tokos

Jill Harrison

Ryan Light

Ellen Scott

Chairperson

Core Member

Core Member

Core Member

Elizabeth Budd Institutional Representative

and

Krista Chronister Vice Provost for Graduate Studies

Original approval signatures are on file with the University of Oregon Division of Graduate Studies.

Degree awarded December 2022

© Kathryn G. Norton-Smith

DISSERTATION ABSTRACT

Kathryn G. Norton-Smith

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Sociology

December 2022

Title: Off-time Illness: When Young Adults get Illnesses Associated with Old Age

This dissertation explores the lived experiences of young adults with cancer through qualitative methods, including 40 in-depth interviews and participant observation. This dissertation extends sociological inquiry to an unexamined population, young adults with cancer. This dissertation focuses on how age and life course state shape illness experience, with attentiveness to variations based on race, class, and gender.

Young adulthood is socially constructed as a period of health, and cancer as a disease of old age. Such assumptions shape age-specific social support systems, medical practices, and perceptions of young adult bodies, impacting young adult experiences of illness. This manuscript analyzes themes of young adults' experience of diagnosis. Young adults experience diagnosis as a multi-sited process encompassing self-diagnosis and professional diagnosis. A central theme in these accounts was the difficulty navigating the age-specific construction of young adulthood as a period of health and cancer as a disease of old age. Second, this project explores the experience of the body for young adults with cancer, focusing on the experience of aberration or out of placeness. Shaped by the institutional environment, aberration represents both the embodied experience of the young adult patient and the positionality of a young adult patient in medical knowledge. This aberration resulted in a loss of agency, especially regarding reproductive autonomy. A third research aim explores the impact of a cancer diagnosis on education,

iv

occupation, family formation, and the role of institutions in supporting or exacerbating this disruption. My findings demonstrate universal disruptions in education, occupation, and family formations. The timing of this disruption during the transitional period of young adulthood resulted in potentially long-term, cascading impacts. Finally, this project explores life after a cancer diagnosis. Young adults expressed uncertainty and a recognition of mortality independent of their health status. In response, young adults employ strategies informed by common sense narratives and ideologies, including bodily labor, family work, and support work.

CURRICULUM VITAE

NAME OF AUTHOR: Kathryn Norton-Smith

GRADUATE AND UNDERGRADUATE SCHOOLS ATTENDED:

University of Oregon, Eugene Kent State University, Kent Ohio

DEGREES AWARDED:

Doctor of Philosophy, Sociology, 2022, University of Oregon Master of Science, Sociology, 2014, University of Oregon Bachelor of Arts, Sociology and Political Science, 2010, Kent State University

AREAS OF SPECIAL INTEREST:

Health and Illness Age and the Life course Critical Race Theory

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE:

Graduate Teaching Fellow, University of Oregon 2012-2015, 2016-2022

Research Assistant, Pacific Northwest Tribal Climate Change Program 2014-1016

GRANTS, AWARDS, AND HONORS:

Lawrence Carter Graduate Student Research Award, Off-time Illness: When Young Adults get Illnesses Associated with Old Age, University of Oregon, 2018

Wasby-Johnson Dissertation Award, Off-time Illness: When Young Adults get Illnesses Associated with Old Age, University of Oregon, 2018

Special "OPPS" Travel and Research Award, Off-time Illness: When Young Adults get Illnesses Associated with Old Age, University of Oregon, 2018

- Department of Sociology Small Grants Fund, Off-time Illness: When Young Adults get Illnesses Associated with Old Age, University of Oregon, 2017
- Marquina Award, Talking Back to Controlling Images: Latinos' Changing Responses to Racism over the Life Course, 2014

PUBLICATIONS:

- Norton-Smith, Kathryn; Lynn, Kathy; Chief, Karletta; Cozzetto, Karen; Donatuto, Jamie; Hiza Redsteer, Margaret; Kruger, Linda.; E Maldonado, Julie; Viles, Carson; Whyte, Kyle P. 2016. *Climate change and indigenous peoples: a synthesis of current impacts and experiences*. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-944. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station.
- Vasquez-Tokos, Jessica, and Kathryn Norton-Smith. 2017. "Talking back to controlling images: Latinos' changing responses to racism over the life course." *Ethnic and racial studies* 40,(6): 912-930.
- Reprinted in: Vasquez-Tokos, Jessica, and Kathryn Norton-Smith. 2019. Race, Class, and Gender: Intersections and Inequalities (10th edition), edited by Anderson, Margaret L., and Patricia Hill Collins. Boston, MA: Cengage.
- Reprinted in: Vasquez-Tokos, Jessica, and Kathryn Norton-Smith. 2020. Introduction to Women's, Gender, and Sexuality Studies: Interdisciplinary and Intersectional Approaches (2nd edition), edited by Saraswati, L. Ayu, Barbara Shaw, and Heather Rellihan. Oxford University Press.
- Alvarez, Camila and Kathryn Norton-Smith 2018. "Latino Destinations and Environmental Inequality: Estimated Cancer Risk from Air Toxics in Latino Traditional and New Destinations". *Socius*, 4.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to thank my advisor, Professor Jessica Vasquez-Tokos, for her guidance, support, and friendship throughout my graduate school journey. I also want to express my gratitude to my dissertation committee, Professors Ellen Scott, Jill Harrison, Ryan Light, and Elizabeth Budd. I am grateful to the University of Oregon Department of Sociology and Graduate School for the grants and financial assistance that made the research informing this dissertation possible.

Thank you to my partner, Zach, for love, encouragement, and support over the last decade. Thank you for joining me in the unraveling cognitive knots. Thank you to our wonderful Ellery for your patience and understanding when I was too busy to play. Thank you to my parents, Linda and Thomas Norton-Smith, for being my advocate in an education system that was not designed for my brain. Thank you for never doubting my intellectual abilities, even when I did. Thank you to my brothers and sisters, Michael, Danielle, Shelley, Mark, Amori, and Tristan, and in-laws, Paula and Bill Rix, for loving and supporting me throughout my time in graduate school. Thank you to my graduate school friends who joined me throughout this journey: Jeanine Cunningham, Katie Warden, Christopher Smith, Julius McGee, Camila Alvarez, and Dimitra Cupo. Thank you to Becky Lamoureux and the teachers and staff at Moss Street Children's Center for providing the care to our tiny human that gave me space to think and write. Thank you to Betsy Payne for proofreading my final draft. Thank you to the young adults who shared their stories in hope of improving the lives of unknown others. Finally, thank you to Dr. Danielle Petit for making the call that saved Zach's life. Without you, our family, and this project, would not exist.

To Zach.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Cha	apter	Page
I. Iî	NTRODUCTION	1
	Overview of the Study	2
	Literature Review.	3
	Cancer Details	3
	Life course and Off-Time(ness)	7
	The Life Stage of Young Adulthood	9
	The Sociological Study of Cancer	11
	Young adults with cancer	13
	Body and Embodiment	15
	Intersectionality	17
	My Relationship to Young Adult Cancer	19
	Methods	20
	Research Design	20
	Target Population and Recruitment	21
	Data Collection	22
	Data Analysis	23
	Study Participants	23
	Chapter Outlines	25
	"NO ONE TOOK ME SERIOUSLY": AGE-RELATED BLINDSPOTS IN DIAGNOSIS	30
	Young Adult Diagnosis Stories	36

Embodied Experience of Symptom Interpretation	37
Commonly Recognized Cancer Symptoms	38
Lesser Known Cancer Symptoms	40
Experience of Professional Diagnosis	44
A Note on Individualizing Containment	45
Physician Related Delay	46
Access to Colorectal Screenings	51
Perceptions of Racism.	54
Health Care Social Capital	57
Discussion	60
III. "THE YOUNGEST IN THE ROOM": EMBODIED ABERRATION	68
Young Adult Bodies as Aberration	70
Aberration in Physical Space	71
Aberration in Medical Practices	73
Complicating Aberration	79
Consequences of Aberration: Treatment Induced Infertility	84
Discussion	91
IV. BIOGRAPHICAL AND CULTURAL DISRUPTIONS	96
Disrupted Biographies and Interrupted Lives	100
Education and Employment Related-Disruptions	. 100
Education	101
Employment	103
Obstacles v. Opportunities	. 108

	Relationships, Intimacy, and Family Formations	113
	Natal Family	113
	Family Formation	119
	Friendships	123
	Discussion	126
V.	STRATEGIES OF ACTION IN UNSETTLED LIVES	132
	Unsettled Lives	137
	Uncertainty	137
	Bodily Labor	141
	Protective Health Behaviors	142
	Self-Surveillance	145
	Family Work	149
	Support Work	155
	Peer-to-Peer Support	155
	Advocacy Work	157
	Political Advocacy	160
	Racial Justice	161
	Discussion	164
IV	. CONCLUSION	172
	Contributions	173
	Emphasis on Young Adults with Cancer	173
	Emphasis on Age	174
	Riographical Discuption in Young Adulthood	175

Structural Factors Shaping Illness Experiences	1///
Rethinking Resilience	178
Limitations and Future Research	178
Recommendations	180
Healthcare Reform	181
An Expanded Conception of Informed Consent	178
Reconceptualizing Cancer	185
Final Thoughts	186
APPENDIX: Young Adult Participants Demographic Characteristics	187
REFERENCES CITED	189

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

"I was in the process of trying to buy a house. I was trying to start my career. I was trying to get married. I was trying to figure out who I was as a person. And then you get hit with a cancer diagnosis everything stops, no one's taking care of these appointments for me. I have to set them up. You know, I don't know anything about the medical establishment or how any of this works. I don't know anything about insurance. You're at an immediate disadvantage unless you're specifically in that field, or you have adults in your life that can do it for you. So young adults have so much going on without a cancer diagnosis, they're kind of coming of age throughout that whole time of your life into probably into your late thirties. It's a completely different monster. Everything that you've been working towards, it's gone, and you don't really know if it's too late to start back over. People at 28 are either in a relationship, are actively looking for one and a cancer diagnosis stops that. And if, you know, you have someone whose 28 their partner or boyfriend or girlfriend or whatever, who can't handle your diagnosis, they have every right to jump out because it affects their lives too. It's just a different beast completely. And then if you get chemotherapy you've got to think about fertility and if you want kids, if that is even a conversation that you get to have. There are so many plates that are spinning when you're, I would say even 18 to late thirties, early forties. It's totally different than being diagnosed at a younger or older stage. I think things are set up kind of working against you." – Carlos, 32, Latinx, working-class, diagnosed with stage IV colorectal cancer at 28.

In the last thirty years, the incidence of cancer in young adults have increased more than in any other age group. Cancer is the leading disease killer for young adults under the age of forty, responsible for nearly 10% of deaths. Each year, more than 80,000 young adults are diagnosed with cancer in the United States. While the cancer survival rates for both children and older adults have improved in recent decades, the survival rates for young adults between 18 and 39 have remained stagnant. Despite these patterns, until recently, the young adult demographic remains largely neglected in both medical and social science research. This project addresses this gap by examining how the life stage influences the experience of illness.

Overview of the Study

Present society expects individuals to live to the age of 70 and beyond (Kellehear 2007). This expectation shapes how individuals envision the trajectory of their lives. Age is socially constructed and serves as a marker for when events should occur along the life course and provides a prescription of how individuals move through time, influencing their understandings of themselves and the social world (Hockey and James 2003). In Western society, catastrophic illnesses are usually associated with later life course stages. This means that a cancer diagnosis can challenge the normal life course expectations for young adults. A cancer diagnosis may cause a biographical disruption, disrupting everyday life and forcing the individual to reevaluate future expectations (Bury 1982). While nursing, psychology, oncology, and social work have begun to examine the experiences of young adults with cancer, their findings often focus on psychological and individual wellbeing, obscuring the role of societal forces in shaping illness experiences (See: Bloom et al. 2001; Rabin et al. 2011). Too often, such studies point to an increasing need for "social support," concealing the structural patterns that socially construct the age-specific vulnerability of young adults with cancer (See: Decker 2007). For example, patterns of late-stage and misdiagnosis are attributed to inexperience with self-advocacy in healthcare rather than access to quality care and institutionalized assumptions about the health of certain bodies. Feelings of anxiety, isolation, and depression incite proposed solutions of young adult-specific support groups and psychological intervention. While important to an individual, this fails to confront, for example, the absence of any real social safety net for young adults who experience catastrophic illness. Additionally, the findings of nursing, oncology, and social work typically rely on populations of young

adults with race and class privilege, failing to consider how race, class, and gender intersect with life course stage to impact both institutional arrangements and individual lives. Insight from sociology details how race, class, and gender have been central to the story of cancer, and cancer's disparities, awareness, and experiences have been, and continue to be, shaped by gender and racial politics (Wailoo 2010). The strength of a sociological approach is to consider this personal trouble in the context of history and biography, illuminating how the axis of life course stage intersects with race, class, and gender intersect to shape illness experiences.

This dissertation examines the experience of cancer in young adulthood. How do young adults experience self-diagnosis? How do they experience professional diagnosis? How does a cancer diagnosis impact their lives, from educational and occupational trajectories to relationships, intimacy, and family formations? How do social institutions mitigate or exacerbate the impacts of off-time illness? How does a cancer diagnosis challenge age-specific expectations of young adult bodies? What strategies did young adults employ in life after cancer diagnosis? How are these strategies informed by culture? In answering these questions, I am attentive to variations based on race, class, and gender. Young adults shared similar stories. Stories in which a cancer diagnosis challenged sociocultural expectations of health in young adulthood, unsettled education, work, and family formation, and unsettled how young adults knew and experienced their bodies.

Literature Review

Cancer Details

Cancer refers to a group of diseases characterized by uncontrolled growth and spread of abnormal cells. In the early 19th century, a cancer diagnosis carried little likelihood of survival. Over the last century, the five-year survival rate for all cancers has increased from 20% in the 1930s, to 25% in the 1940s, 50% in the 1970s, and 60% in the 1990s. According to the National Cancer Institute, the current 5-year survival rate from 2007-2013 is 67%. While survival rates vary based on type and location, the five-year survival rate for cancers that are localized is over 80%, highlighting the importance of timely diagnosis. Remission refers to the disappearance of the signs and symptoms of cancer. While the forms of remission will not be addressed here, it is important to note that even in complete remission, where all signs and symptoms of cancer have disappeared, cancer may still be in the body. This means that individuals in remission face the threat of recurrence, cancer that returns after six months after initial treatment is completed. Again, the chance of recurrence varies from case to case, depending on patient characteristics, stage at diagnosis, cancer type, and treatment type.

Improvements in survival rates are attributed to biomedical advancements in diagnostic testing and cancer treatment. These improvements have transformed cancers that were once fatal into chronic conditions. Previously treated only with surgery and radiation, the addition of chemotherapy to treatment regimens has dramatically increased survival rates and overall life expectancy for many cancers that were previously considered terminal (Arruebo et al. 2011). A consequence of medical advancements in the treatment of cancer is the emergence of new patient populations of young adults that would previously have had fatal outcomes that are now simultaneously living with the long-term, cascading impacts of a cancer diagnosis, including the ongoing fear of a

recurrence, as well as the long-term side effects and late effects of treatment. For example, reliable chemotherapy regimens and radiotherapy courses have transformed Hodgkin's Lymphoma from a fatal illness to one with an 80% survival rate. Despite these favorable gains in short-term survival rates, Hodgkin's ranks third in Years of Life Lost (YLL), or the years of life lost because of early death, due to treatment-related complications, including secondary malignancies and cardiovascular disease (Ng and Mauch 2009; Ahmadzadeh et al. 2014).

Previous research exploring the young adult demographic has identified long-term physiological and psychological impacts of diagnosis and treatment. Young adults experience the highest rates of mis- and late-stage diagnosis and medical bankruptcy and are characterized as the most underserved population within the cancer community. Many young adult 'survivors' face an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (Ganz et al. 2003), second malignancy (Abrahamsen et al. 2002), and chronic fatigue. Findings also demonstrate increased levels of anxiety, depression, and social isolation (Burgess et al. 2005) and a decrease in perceived emotional support over time (Bloom et al. 2004). This emphasis on physiological and psychosocial wellbeing leaves unexplored how both vulnerability and resilience are shaped by larger social structures. For example, anxiety, isolation, and depression incite prescriptions of population-specific support groups and psychological intervention, leaving unchallenged the nonexistence of a social safety net to support young adults with catastrophic illnesses. Previous studies have also been narrow in their failure to consider how social location might impact the experience of cancer during young adulthood. I recognize that individuals and bodies are positioned within a matrix of domination, impacted by various axes of privilege and oppression.

Feminist scholarship has established how the intersection of race, class, and gender impacts access and mobilization of resources, the value and treatment of bodies, experiences, and understandings of illness, and where one turns for support.

According to intersectionality, mutually constructed phenomena, like race, class, gender, life course stage, ability, sexuality, and nation, shape social inequality in complex ways (Collins 2015). This project explores how age and life course stage intersects with race, class, and gender to craft unique experiences of vulnerability and resilience for young adults with cancer. In doing so, this illuminates how both vulnerability and resilience are socially constructed for those that experience off-time illness. As a population, young adults experience several health-related disparities, including high rates of late-stage diagnosis and few age-specific clinical trials. Young adults are more likely to be uninsured or to have very limited health insurance, impacting access and utilization of care (Smith and Medalia 2014).

Different bodies may experience different cancers in different locations and stages. While this uniqueness must be recognized, it is imperative to examine the larger patterns in these experiences - experiences with diagnosis, treatment, surveillance, emotion, and embodiment – to illuminate unique sources of both vulnerability - and resilience - based upon shared and similar markers of privilege and oppression. Privilege and oppression not only dictate who is likely to develop cancer in the first place (See: Alvarez and Norton-Smith 2018; Gee and Ford 2011; Hoover et al. 2012; Park and Pellow 2004; Williams and Sternthal 2010), but also how an individual, and their body, experiences diagnosis, treatment, and survivorship. Intersectional analysis marks an important move away from additive approaches to social inequality that assume

experiences are independent, separate, and summative and that identities and oppressions can be ranked (Bowleg 2008). Such approaches ignore intergroup difference (Crenshaw 1991). Intersectionality conceptualizes the relationship between race, class, gender, and other axes of power as interlocking categories that are socially constructed, interdependent, mutually constituted, and relational (Collins 2000; Crenshaw 1991; King 1988; Zinn and Dill 1996). While the category of "age" is included as a social category, it has been largely neglected in sociological inquiry. This project explores how age is positioned within multiple axes of power to shape illness experiences.

Life Course and Off-Time(ness)

The sociology of life course provides important insight into how age impacts the experience of illness. The sociology of life course examines the socially constructed patterns of change that occur from childhood to adulthood. Within a specific culture, individuals follow predictable patterns and transitions. A life course consists of culturally and normatively constructed life stages and age-specific roles. Individuals have several life trajectories or "pathway[s] defined by the aging process or by movement across the age structure" (Elder 1985: 31). Life trajectories are "punctuated" by a sequence of successive life events and transitions (changes in state). An event is understood as an abrupt change, while transitions are gradual changes (Elder 1985: 31). Social norms and expectations dictate the appropriate "timing" of events and transitions along the life course, classifying them as "off-time" or "on-time" (Settersten 2003). In addition to timing, major life events have a presumed order or sequence. When events do not occur in the correct sequence, they can create role conflict, for example, caring for both a child and an aging parent. Young adults that experience a cancer diagnosis violate the timing

and sequence of life events as ill-health is associated with later life stages (Gullette 2017). According to social expectations, young adults should be independent, self-sufficient, and contribute to the political economy. Culturally, young people should be branching out, starting their own lives, and caregiving, either through direct care of older family members and children or through contribution to social security through taxation on their wages (Jain 2013). Importantly, the discourses and assumptions associated with the life course shape the self (Kohli and Meyer 1986; Gubrium and Holstein 1994; Laz 1986).

Expectations attached to life stages are formalized through governmental policies that attach specific responsibilities, rights, and benefits to people at specific *ages* within the life course. Age should not be understood as an individual attribute or chronological fact (Laz 1986). Rather, age reflects – and shapes — institutions and normative discourses based on cultural expectations about the life course. This conception of age is like that offered recently by Barrett and Michael (2022:185), who conceptualize age as an institution or "a structure of social relations scaffolded by ideologies about age and aging, grounded in practices to sustain them, and enforced by coercive social norms." Consider the role of age, and the underlying ideologies, reflected in the construction of two agebased insurance policies: Medicare and the Dependent Coverage Mandate of the Affordable Care Act (ACA).

Medicare, which provides national health insurance to those 65 and older, was established in 1965 to protect individuals in the later stages of their life course. Before enactment, 50% of seniors were without health insurance (De Lew and Weinick 2000). While there is a biological basis for the association of ill-health with old age (as health

declines with chronological age), Medicare formalized eligibility based on age. Notably. the same ideological association between aging and decline that justifies Medicare has been used to argue for the ineffectiveness of universal healthcare (Gullette 2017; Barrette and Michael 2022)¹. On the other hand, the 2012 Affordable Care Act (ACA) Dependent Coverage Mandate (DCM) extended the age that adult-children could remain on a parent's health insurance until 26 regardless of marriage, residential, and employment statuses (Simon, Soni, and Cawley 2017). This extension reflected transformations in the young adult life stage and "emerging adulthood." Like Medicare, the ACA's DCM used age to formalize inclusion based on shifting expectations of parental independence².

The Life Stage of Young Adulthood

Young adulthood is a life course stage of transition and change (Mortimer and Aronson 2000; Shanahan 2000). This dissertation understands young adulthood to be between the ages of 18 - 39. As dependence on family declines, individuals begin to establish careers, intimate relationships, and autonomy (Seiffe-Krenke 2006). Historically, the study of young adulthood has emphasized transitions from youth to adulthood, focusing on five life events: completing education, entering the labor force, leaving family, becoming financially independent, getting married, and becoming a parent (Mortimer and Aronson 2000; Shanahan 2000). However, these transitions have

¹ Importantly, in the context of the US, such policies are not seen as entitlements but rather 'supplements' to existing medical and financial resources. In this context, the government does not have the responsibility to care for the needs of sick people.

² The coverage provided by the DCP has been uneven, with Black and Latinx patients less likely to have private insurance before and after the Affordable Care Act-Dependent Coverage Provision, compared with white patients (Alvarez et al. 2017). In fact, research demonstrates that the ACA-DCP improved healthcare coverage for those young adults that traditionally have access to resources and healthcare, reinforcing existing patterns of inequality, and that insurance does not directly translate to increased access due to high out-of-pocket costs (Kirchhoff et al. 2012; Tai et al. 2012). Therefore, it is central to focus attention on expanding access for publicly insured groups and decreasing out-ofpocket expenses. While the ACA-DCE did expand converge for a subset of the young adult population with race and class privilege, it serves to reify existing racial and socioeconomic disparities for those that already experience disparate survival outcomes (Alvarez et al. 2017).

become increasingly complex and non-linear (Furlong 2017). For example, a young adult may live independently for a time and then return to the parental home. Compared to prior generations, contemporary young adults live independently, buy homes, partner, and become parents later in life, necessitating a new life-course phase of emerging adulthood (Arnett 2001; Manning 2020). The increasingly non-linear and complex nature of the transitional period of young adulthood, irrespective of a cancer diagnosis, makes examining a cancer diagnosis in young adulthood even more timely.

Cultural and political shifts of recent decades have made young adulthood a life course stage of increasing instability, making it increasingly challenging to achieve traditional markers of adulthood (Arnett 2010; Furlong 2017). Globalization, technology, the offshore outsourcing of work, the weakening of labor unions, and the spread of neoliberal economic doctrines³ has resulted in a rise of contingent, or non-regular, work arrangements such as temporary, contract, and part-time work. In this hostile and precarious labor market, employment is insecure and unstable and offers relatively low earnings and benefits (Beck 2000). The emergence of precarious labor markets is central to the experience of young adulthood, as finding – and maintaining – secure employment is foundational to independent living, which provides the foundation to achieve additional markers of adulthood (Furlong 2017). Prior scholarship shows that the growth of precarious labor disproportionally impacts young adults who experience the highest rates of unemployment and underemployment and face obstacles in launching their careers. Importantly, these patterns persist despite young adults having the highest levels of postsecondary education (when compared to prior generations). Even highly educated young

-

³ For an in-depth discussion of economic changes, see "Beck, U. (2000). The brave new world of work. Malden, MA: Blackwell."

adults struggle to find secure, full-time employment that meets their education level (Furlong 2017) and experience credential inflation, where jobs require a higher level of education (van de Werfhorst 2009). Moreover, precarious labor can significantly hinder young adult resilience to off-time illnesses as employer benefits like paid time off and health insurance are central to navigating catastrophic illness. I argue that the impact of illness at this critical juncture must be understood in terms of its potential long-term and cascading effects.

The Sociological Study of Cancer

Cancer has been a central focus of the sociology of health and illness. Most of this literature uses qualitative methods to explore lay experiences of cancer, encompassing diagnosis, treatment, and support. Most of this literature focuses on experiences of a specific cancer type, with breast and gynecological cancers being the most common (Kerr et al. 2018). The two studies that focus on cancer in young adulthood (Parsons et al. 2008; Grinyer 2009) will be examined in the following section on young adults with cancer.

A central theme in this literature is how cancer diagnosis and treatment reconfigure identities, causing both positive and negative implications (Kerr er al. 2018). Several of these studies examine cancer using Bury's (1982) "biographical disruption" to gauge how people respond and adapt to cancer. For example, using interviews and participants' photographs, Balmer, Griffiths, and Dunn (2015) apply the biographical disruption framework to individuals living with poor prognostic cancers. Balmer et al. (2015) find that for poor prognostic cancers, full recovery is impossible and "threaten[s] biographical trajectory and self-identity forever." Others show how cancer disrupts day-

to-day life, requiring one to reevaluate future goals, expectations, and self-concept (Reeve et al. 2010; Sinding and Wiernikowski 2008; Brown and de Graaf 2013; Rozmovits and Ziebland 2004). These studies do not specify a specific life course stage, opting for samples that are heterogeneous by age.

Others have documented the enduring experiences of uncertainty and worry as cancer survivors live in "the remission society," or the space between healthy and sick (Frank 2005, 2013). This literature shows that cancer is not experienced as an acute disease (Fosket 2000; Frank 2005, 2013). At the conclusion of active treatment, individuals experience continued medical surveillance and experience enduring fears of recurrence (Quigley 1989; McKenzie and Couch 2004). Despite remaining preoccupied with the possibility of disease and untimely death, cancer survivors feel pressure to hide cancer's ongoing effects on their everyday life (Sinding and Gray 2005; McKenzie and Couch 2004; Little, Jordens, and Sayers 2000). As such, "survivors are required to act as if cancer is over, and at the same time they are required to act to prevent recurrence. The first requirement rejects or pathologizes an ongoing sense of vulnerability to cancer; the latter is premised on it" (Sinding and Gray 2005:157).

Sociological inquiry has also been extended to examine cancer culture and dominant narratives of cancer survivorship. Youll and Meekosha (2011) demonstrate that "positive thinking" in response to cancer serves to minimize stress and harm while also reinforcing dominant neoliberal ideals of personal responsibility. Similarly, Bell (2012) shows how discourses frame cancer survivorship as an opportunity for "post-traumatic growth" and a "unique opportunity to catalyze the patient's physical and psychological development" (Bell 2012: 584). Bell (2012) shows how oncological discourses on cancer

survivorship reflect the neoliberal logic of privatized risk management, where the individual is expected to take responsibility for managing the risk of cancer recurrence to alleviate the financial burden on the healthcare system.

Young Adults with Cancer

The bulk of prior scholarship on young adults with cancer occurs in oncology, nursing, psychology, and social work. Often this scholarship uses quantitative methods and applies a cross-sectional design to provide insight into the impact of cancer on work (Parsons et al. 2012; Yanez et al. 2013), family formation (Kirchhoff et al. 2012; Xie et al. 2022; Bellizzi et al. 2012), financial hardship (Lu et al. 2021), sexual function (Cherven et al. 2021), psychological wellbeing (Vandraas et al. 2021; Odo and Potter 2009). Other studies generally serve to identify "unmet needs" and "special considerations" of the young adult population (Joffe et al 2022; Choi, Becker, and Kim 2022).

A central theme in the literature has been the impact of cancer on vocational activities and paid employment. Studies show that while young adults return to work after cancer treatment, productivity can be negatively impacted by the long-term physical or cognitive side effects of treatment which reduces earnings and causes distress (Stone et al. 2017). Exploring the impact of cancer on work and education for adolescents and young adults, Parsons et al. (2012) find that although three-quarters of young adults had returned to work or school 15-35 months after diagnosis, more than 50% had trouble with cognition (Parsons et al. 2012).

This literature also examines the impact of young adults (hereafter YA) cancer on family formation. Fertility is cited as a central concern for young adults, particularly after

the conclusion of active treatment (Xie et al. 2022). Kirchhoff et al. (2012) compare marriage and divorce among young adult cancer survivors (20-39) with controls who did not have cancer. They find that, when compared with controls, cancer survivors were less likely to be married (58% vs. 64%) and had an increased risk of divorce or separation (18% vs. 10%).

Literature in social work, psychology, and nursing often emphasize the impact of cancer on young adult psychological wellbeing. Studies identify isolation, uncertainty (Odo and Potter 2009), and fear of recurrence (Vandraas et al. 2021) as central barriers. A central theme across this literature is that cancer has the potential to foster personal development and post-traumatic growth (Bellizzi et al. 2012; Parsons et al. 2008). As such, studies often conclude with purposed remedies to diminish maladaptation after illness (Bellizzi et al. 2012; Bellizzi and Blank 2006).

Few studies examine young adult cancer using qualitative methods. Parsons et al. (2008) conceptualize three forms of intricately interwoven "work" for young adults (16-35) with bone cancer while in active treatment: illness work, identity work, and vocational work. In examining illness narratives, Parsons et al. (2008) found that illness was a transformative experience that changed how young adults approached vocational labor. This transformation repositioned young adults socially, psychologically, and physically; young adults did not "go back" but re-entered work activities from a different perspective (Parsons et al. 2008).

Medical sociologist, Grinyer (2009), examines life after cancer in adolescents and young adults (diagnosed between the ages of 14 and 26) in the United Kingdom, examining themes of loss of independence, disruption to life trajectories, and the effect of

illness on appearance, fertility and sexuality, and changes to personal philosophy. While this work serves as an important starting point of sociological inquiry into the experiences of cancer in young adults, Grinyer (2009) fails to address the role of the National Health Service in shaping illness experiences. Unlike the findings of this dissertation, the participants in Grinyer's (2009) study did not describe difficulty accessing treatment, fear of a loss of health insurance, or the high cost of care due to unor under-insurance. While participants in the UK did describe long-term financial consequences of cancer, they were attributed to side effects, comorbidities, and disabilities, rather than financial toxicity, which, because of the *cost* of access to healthcare, pattern future employment, relationships, and family-formations. By examining the experience of illness in the context of employer based-healthcare and lessrobust social safety nets, this study illuminates the ways in which structural conditions shape illness experience and how young adults without guaranteed access to healthcare mobilize resources to address gaps in institutional support.

Body and Embodiment

Embodiment is central to our sense of being, who we think we are, and what others attribute to us (Waskul and van der Riet 2002). In cases of chronic illness, the relationship between the self and the body is disrupted, as is the taken-for-granted assumption that our body will function as we would like (Kelly and Field 1996). While the examination of chronic illness often neglects the body, the experience of living with a chronic illness is "inescapably embodied" (Toombs 1992: 134), and the sociology of health and illness has paid increasing attention to embodiment (Williams 1996; Corbin 2003). Such perspectives hold that chronic illness challenges taken-for-granted

embodiment, resulting in dys-embodiment, and that re-embodiment takes considerable biographical work (Williams 1996). Cancer causes changes to bodies. For a diagnosis to occur, individuals and medical systems must symptomize bodily sensations (Brandner et al. 2014). Or, said differently, an individual must interpret an unexplained physical sensation as a potential symptom of illness (Anderson, Cacioppo, and Roberts 1995; Anderson et al. 2010; Hay 2008). Embodiment is central to the experience of bodily sensations. As asserted by Hays (2008:221), "a sensation is embodied; it is felt experience. By contrast, a symptom is a constructed and socially informed cognitive interpretation that indexes but is not itself an embodied sensation." Diagnosis includes numerous visits to physicians and diagnostic testing, where bodies are examined, scanned, and biopsied. Treatment often subjects the body to surgery, chemo-, and/or radiation therapy, with profound implications for how bodies feel, function, and appear. While some of the outward marks on bodies may diminish with time, as hair returns with the conclusion of chemotherapy, others endure, and bodies may carry forward scars from surgery, tattoos from radiation, and chronic fatigue and pain.

Prior literature illuminates the embodied experience of cancer. Horlick-Jones (2011) centers his experience of breast cancer to examine how fears of anxiety and recurrence disrupt "everyday health competence" in the interpretation of "normal" bodily sensations. Blaxter (2009) describes how medical technology results in patient alienation and disembodiment. Other literature has examined the impact of cancer treatment on bodies, typically focusing on issues of gender and sexuality (See: Jain 2013). Focusing on the influence of age and life course stage in interpretations of bodily sensations, Brandner et al. (2014) illuminate how physical sensations associated with ovarian cancer are

interpreted based on factors like aging and menopause. While these provide essential insight, studies have yet to examine how age and life course stage shape the embodied experience of cancer in young adulthood.

In contemporary society, youth and youthful bodies are associated with health. In young adulthood, societal expectations assume individuals and their bodies to be at their peak in terms of health, fitness, attractiveness, and productivity. Such narratives are disseminated through media and advertisements that associate youth with health and beauty (Dittmar 2011). This project contributes to conversations within the sociology of the body and embodiment by focusing on the lived meanings and experiences of young bodies with cancer, a population that challenges the societal assumptions associated with youth and health. Importantly, these assumptions not only impact an individual's perception of their body but also how bodies are coded by health care providers. As young adults experience high rates of delayed diagnosis, findings can provide insight into the experience of young bodies as they seek out medical intervention.

Intersectionality

In the 1960s, 70s, and 80s, the heuristic term 'intersectionality' was used to draw attention to the mutually constitutive forces of race, class, gender, sexuality, and disability (Crenshaw 1991; Collins 2000). Central to the origin of intersectionality where Black and Brown women whose experience was erased in the political and legal dialogues of Civil Rights and feminist movements organized around unitary issues and essential and universal experiences of 'sexism' or 'racism.' Social categories on the micro level correspond with interlocking systems of privilege and oppression on the macro level to produce health disparities (Bowleg 2012). These experiences of elitism and racism in

the mainstream feminist movement caused Black women to form Black feminist groups and community organizations like the National Black Feminist Organization (See: Combahee River Collective 1977). During the 1980s and 1990s, the themes of intersectionality were introduced into academia by scholarly activists situated in interdisciplinary programs (hooks 1981; Lorde 2012). Often, Kimberle Crenshaw is cited as the introducer of intersectionality in academic and legal conversations. In "Mapping the Margins," Crenshaw (1991) discusses the limitations of identity politics to transcend difference, arguing that it "ignores intergroup difference." Using violence against women of color as an example, Crenshaw demonstrates the inability of advocacy and social movements organizing around violence against women to capture the vulnerability of women of color. Instead, she argues that these movements construct identities as either/or, a woman either/or person of color, marginalizing the experiences of women of color "to a location that resists telling" (Crenshaw 1991:1241).

Intersectional analysis marks a significant movement away from additive approaches to social inequality that assume experiences are independent, separate, and summative and that identities and oppressions can be ranked (Bowleg 2008). Intersectionality conceptualizes the relationship between age, race, class, gender, and other axes of power as interlocking categories that are socially constructed, interdependent, mutually constituted, and relational (Collins 2000; Crenshaw 1991; Zinn and Dill 1996). The benefits of intersectional approaches in examinations of the experience of young adults with cancer are reinforced by Bowleg (2012:1270), who summarizes the three central tenants of intersectionality: (1) "social identities are not independent and unidimensional but multiple and intersecting, (2) individuals from

multiple historically oppressed and marginalized groups are the focal and starting point, and (3) multiple social identities at the micro level intersect with macro-level structural factors to produce health disparities." The main contribution of this work is emphasizing age as an axis that shapes social relations and individual experiences.

Race, ethnicity, and gender are central to the story of cancer, impacting the organization and evolution of cancer awareness and the "war on cancer" (Wailoo 2010:6). Early cancer awareness campaigns highlighted the vulnerability of white middle and upper-class women. These campaigns utilized "intensely individualized in personal experience," focusing on images of femininity, domesticity, and motherhood. Reinscribing the racial hierarchy, medical systems assumed that cancer was a disease of the civilized and that "primitive" African Americans were immune to the disease. Only when African Americans migrated from primitivism to the urban north would they be susceptible to cancer. Until the 1960s, white women remained at the epicenter of cancer awareness, anxiety, and visibility in the United States. The implication of the cultural narrative depicting cancer as a disease of white, class-privileged women continues to be apparent. In the 1960s, patients, scholars, and activists began focusing on the experience of Black women, fueled by the cancer establishment and public criticism. In the 1980s and 90s, cancer awareness moved from a private to a public experience, focusing on fundraising events, ribbons, and dedicated awareness months (Wailoo 2010). Presently, gender and racial politics continue to shape cancer experiences, awareness, and disparities, reinforcing the necessity of intersectional approaches in examining the illness experiences of young adults.

My relationship to Young Adult Cancer

I approach this project as the partner of a young adult with cancer. My partner, Zach, was diagnosed with advanced-stage Hodgkin's Lymphoma in 2016. I offer my positionality with the recognition that my perspective is biased. I do not think anyone who has held a loved one's hand through cancer treatment emerges unimpacted by the experience. This experience sparked curiosity around the ways in which illness experience varied by age and life course stage and inspired this project. Numerous sociologists have used their illness experiences to recover their voices and find meaning. In this dissertation, I undertake a similar project. To find myself in the enduring disruption caused by illness and to illuminate the structures that shape experiences based on age.

Methods

Research Design

This dissertation investigates cancer during the young adult life stage. I employ a qualitative research design suitable to gain depth and nuance regarding young adults' lived experiences of off-time illness. This study relies on semi-structured, in-depth interviews with young adults with cancer, participant observations of young adult-support and advocacy organizations, and content analysis of publicly available information. The research design began with observations and interviews at a national young adult cancer organization. In-depth interviews continued, including young adults with and without involvement in YA support and advocacy. This dissertation incorporates aspects of intensive interviewing and participant observation. This allows for an in-depth exploration of the experience of cancer in young adulthood (Lofland and Lofland 1984; Emerson 2001). This exploratory study does not aim for generalizability. Instead, the

small sample size, which is not nationally representative, allows for an in-depth examination of young adults' lived experiences.

Target Population and Recruitment

I sought to interview young adults diagnosed with cancer between 18-39. The range of 18-39 reflects how the population of young adults with cancer is defined by both the medical literature and cancer organizations. I located my research across the United States due to the specialized nature of the population. While more than 80,000 young adults are diagnosed with cancer every year, the population is geographically dispersed and isolated, making it difficult to contain the research on one specific region. Therefore, I did not restrict the sample based on a young adult's specific cancer diagnosis. To draw a sample of self-identified young adults with cancer, I used purposive sampling, recruiting interviewees through young adult-support groups, YA advocates and ambassadors. I first identified potential interviewees at young adult support and advocacy events. I found young adults eager to discuss my research, their experiences, and invite me to join them in subsequent convention events. I attribute this overwhelming interest in participation to the isolation experienced by the young adult with cancer and recognition of the lack of research, support, and resources for young adults with cancer. Employing theoretical sampling, I used these national conventions as the foundation for my snowball sampling. The individuals I met and interviewed at national conventions would pass my contact information to other members of the young adult community, either through in-person and online support groups or directly to contacts. My positionality as a young adult cancer caregiver likely facilitated access to interviews. As a result, young adults treated me as an insider, someone who could relate to the unique obstacles experienced as a

young adult with cancer. Participant observations of national young adult cancer support and advocacy groups continued throughout the period of data collection.

Data Collection

My formal participant observation occurred over two years at national and regional young adult cancer support and advocacy events. I wrote quick "jottings" in the field and recorded extensive written notes after leaving the field. Data also included content analysis of publicly available materials circulated by young adult cancer organizations, including webpages, blog posts, exhibition material, videos, and podcast transcriptions. Interviews were conducted between March 2018 and August 2022. Thirtyfive of the interviews occurred prior to February 2020. Five interviews were conducted summer of 2022 to gauge a preliminary understanding of the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on young adult experiences. Interviews lasted one hour to three hours. In some cases, young adults were interviewed on multiple occasions. Interviews that were conducted at young-adult support and advocacy events and were conducted in-person. Others were conducted in-person or by phone or videoconference, depending on the location and preference of the young adult. After each interview, I recorded notes about my initial impressions of the interview, including notable moments and rapport. I wrote memos throughout the data collection process to flesh out emergent themes. Interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim. Interviewees were assigned pseudonyms, and identifying information was removed. Interviews and field note transcriptions were then uploaded to Dedoose, a qualitative data analysis software program.

Data Analysis

This dissertation employs a modified grounded theory approach (Glaser and Strauss 1967; Strauss 1987). Grounded theory provides a flexible and inductive analysis method in which themes emerge from the data (Charmaz 2006). I incorporated several of the defining components of grounded theory in my data analysis, including sampling toward theory construction, intensive interviewing, simultaneous data collection and analysis, constructing codes from the data (open coding), analytic memo-writing, and theoretical sampling (Charmaz 2006:5-6).

The qualitative data analysis software Dedoose was used to code interviews based on themes, events, and experiences. In my initial coding practice, I utilized open coding to analyze the transcripts and identify emergent themes. This allowed me to construct codes that fit participants' experiences and develop an analytic framework to make visible relationships between implicit processes and structures (Charmez 2006: 54). As coding continued, the coding framework was refined and updated. I combed through the data for patterns between young adults' lived experiences, paying particular attention to similarities and differences across race, class, and gender. I engaged in analytic memowriting throughout the coding process to elaborate categories, define relationships, and identify gaps (Charmez 2006). I used both open coding and codes informed by the literature to identify core themes. Core themes included diagnosis, treatment, disruptions, and responses to cancer. These core themes inform my four empirical chapters.

Study Participants

Study participants included 40 young adults. Young adults had been diagnosed with a wide variety of cancers. The two most common cancer types were blood cancer

(14) and colorectal cancer (10), each making up about one-quarter of the young adult diagnoses. The next most common cancer type was breast (5). Diagnoses also included gynecological, soft tissue sarcoma, melanoma, thyroid, and brain cancer. Two young adults were diagnosed with a second primary cancer that likely resulted from treatment of the first primary cancer. Over half of young adults were diagnosed with advanced-stage cancer, with one eighth having metastatic disease⁴. Around one-third of young adults had experienced a cancer recurrence. Time since first primary cancer diagnosis spanned from seven months to 19 years.

A little over half of young adults were white, with 18 BIPOC (Black, Indigenous, People of Color) young adults included in the sample. The majority of the sample is female identified (27 women, 13 men). The majority of young adults were middle class by education and pre-diagnosis occupation, although not all young adults had returned to their pre-diagnosis employment. The precarious position of young adults challenged traditional metrics of social class as some young adults remained asset-poor to maintain Medicaid eligibility. Young adults' ages ranged from 18 – 43. The outlier by age (43) had been diagnosed with a first primary cancer at 28 and a second primary cancer at 42. Around one-half of young adults were partners, and a quarter were parents. Thirty-nine young adults lived in the United States, and one lived in southern Canada.

Young adults received various treatment regimes, including oral and intravenous chemotherapy, radiation, surgery, and immunotherapy. Two young adults were participants in clinical trials. All but three young adults had either private or public health

-

⁴ There is variation on how cancer is staged. Most solid-tumor cancers are staged based on size and spread of tumors. In the case leukemia which originates in the bone marrow, staging varies based on subtypes and is not captured in the language of "advanced stage" and "metastatic disease."

insurance when they sought care for unexplained bodily sensations. All three uninsured young adults lived in states that expanded Medicaid Presumptive Eligibility, allowing hospitals to enroll eligible young adults with temporary Medicaid coverage at first contact with the medical system.

Chapter Outlines

In chapter two, I examine how young adults experience cancer diagnosis. Young adults experience diagnosis as a multi-sited process encompassing self-diagnosis and professional diagnosis. A central theme in these accounts was the difficulty navigating the age-specific construction of young adulthood as a period of health and cancer as a disease of old age. Such constructions were especially salient with cancer symptoms that were less culturally recognized, a byproduct of cancer-specific and symptom-specific awareness campaigns. Young adult accounts of self-diagnosis began with a description of when and how unexplained bodily sensations (that would be retrospectively defined as symptoms of cancer) were first interpreted, explained, and acted upon. Self-diagnosis was impacted by how cancer symptoms presented in the body. Young adults that identified a lump/swelling as part of the self-diagnosis process were likely to identify this bodily sensation as abnormal and seek a professional medical consultation. Those young adults that experienced lesser-recognized cancer symptoms were likely to contain symptoms with explanations based on age-based assumptions of health, biography, and lifestyle choices. In some cases, cancer symptoms were not only contained by lifestyle choices but also explained by them. The case of colorectal cancer demonstrates the social construction of cancer awareness, the stigma of certain parts of the body and the lack of awareness of colorectal cancer symptoms, both exacerbated by life course stage, meant

that symptoms were contained until they were significantly disruptive to everyday activities.

This chapter also explored the experience of professional diagnosis or all engagement with the medical system that came before the diagnosis event. Most young adults experienced what they considered to be a delayed or under/misdiagnosis (hereafter misdiagnosis). Misdiagnosis was more likely to occur when young adults did not experience the most recognized cancer symptoms: a lump and/or swelling. The dominant perception, expressed almost universally by young adults that experienced a delay in professional diagnosis, was that seeking-help behaviors were met with a lack of concern by doctors and healthcare providers. Reasons for this perceived lack of concern included age-based assumptions of health, a lack of social power, and gendered and racial stereotypes. For young adults with health care capital, access to medical networks helped override age-based lack of concern by providing informal consultations, assisted navigation of healthcare institutions, and personal referrals.

Chapter three draws attention to the experience of the body for young adults with cancer, focusing on the experience of aberration or out of placeness. Aberration represents both the embodied experience of the young adult patient and the positionality of a young adult patient in medical knowledge. This chapter emphasizes the role of the institutional environment in shaping the young adult experience of aberration. I conceptualize "cancer treatment" as an institutionalized space in-which young adults experience aberration in the physical space and medical practice. I describe how the consequence of this aberration contributes to a loss of agency for young adult bodies. My findings also suggest variations exist in the experience and consequences of aberration

based on race, class, and gender. I conclude with an in-depth discussion of one particularly salient consequence of aberration: loss of reproductive autonomy.

Chapter four explores the impact of a cancer diagnosis on education, occupation, and family formations. Cancer in young adulthood resulted in the disruption of educational and occupational activities. To cope with the side effects and time commitment of treatment, young adults reduced hours, went on leave or disability, or withdrew entirely. The timing of this disruption during young adulthood meant that many respondents were at the onset or upswing of their professional lives, resulting in potentially long-term, cascading impacts. Key concerns included loss of income, workplace discrimination, loss of previously held positions, and the impact of long-term effects and late effects on work performance. Some young adults on the brink of their professional careers maintained the same long-term goals despite obstacles, while others reframed disrupted plans as opportunities to transition into something better. Health care policy exacerbated disruptions to work-related activities. Those young adults that had access to supplemental insurance and long-term disability benefits or received insurance through a parent's and or partner's health insurance were more able to navigate disruptions. The Affordable Care Act's Medicaid expansion and Presumptive Medicaid Eligibility were vital in improving access to healthcare for low-income, uninsured young adults. At the same time, Medicaid's income restrictions postponed a return to the workforce. The need for future treatment and long-term follow-up care meant that access to benefits like paid time off and health insurance was central to all future employment decisions.

Cancer in young adulthood disrupted family formation, friendships, and relationships with parents, partners, children, and sexual partners. In response to the disruption of work and education, young adults moved home or accepted parental financial support, challenging expectations of independence in adulthood. Young adults described a universal strain on romantic relationships due to caregiving, side effects of treatment, changes to sexual functioning, and financial strain, including relationships established before diagnosis, during and after treatment, and the disruption of future relationships. Young adults also described feeling "left behind" by friends as peers progressed through life without illness-related disruptions, long-established friendships were dissolved, and new friendships were fostered through the formation of social networks based on the shared experience of cancer in young adulthood. Minimal public support in the experience of catastrophic illness during young adulthood exacerbated disruptions. Lacking robust savings and assets, and often burdened with student loan debt, even those young adults with class privilege had difficulty navigating the economic uncertainty and financial strain associated with the disruption of work-related activities, high healthcare costs, and future economic uncertainty. Family "filled the gaps" in social welfare programs, providing instrumental and financial support and caregiving for young adults and child dependents. Upper and middle-class families were more likely to provide young adults with direct financial support. In contrast, working-class families provided care, provided meals, and organized community fundraisers to support young adults.

My final empirical chapter explores the strategies of action young adults employ in life post-cancer diagnosis. These strategies of action are crafted with common sense narratives and ideologies, or "chunks of culture" (Swidler 1986). Key strategies of action

identified include bodily labor, family work, and support work. Young adults respond to diminishing contact with the medical system and uncertainty in health status with bodily labor to limit, prevent, and/or identify any disease progression or recurrence. Bodily labor was encouraged by oncology clinicians and young adult cancer organizations, placing the burden of disease detection and prevention and long-term follow-up care on individual young adults. This reflects the privatization of risk management, where the individual young adult manages the risk of cancer progression or recurrence through individual (lifestyle) choices, alleviating the burden placed on medical institutions. Women with long-term partners and children respond to the pressure of intensive mothering by emphasizing the importance of family work, reflecting the disruption of the traditional roles of caregiver and nurturer. Finally, finding themselves outside of existing support systems, some young adults labor to facilitate their own resilience with support work. Support work included involvement in peer-to-peer support and advocacy work related to the needs of a specific cancer community. Support work involved vast emotional labor and often reflected the needs of those with race and class privilege. In centering the importance of age, support spaces often assumed a monolithic standpoint of whiteness, with BIPOC community members existing, rhetorically and physically, on the periphery of support spaces. In response, BIPOC young adults focused support work on issues of importance to their communities.

Finally, I conclude the dissertation by returning to the central research questions and discussing the theoretical and practical implications of this project for the field of sociology and medical institutions.

CHAPTER II

"NO ONE TOOK ME SERIOUSLY": AGE-RELATED BLINDSPOTS IN DIAGNOSIS

In the summer, I was feeling a little off. I wasn't feeling like myself. I couldn't really pinpoint why, it was never anything major. I just felt a little low on energy...I was at work [as a monitor] at my apartment complex's pool when I threw out my lower back. I almost fell to the floor, but luckily my mom was there ... and [she] helped me like get back on my feet and at least walk on both feet, because I was really in a lot of pain. I could barely stand up.

I woke up the next morning and obviously my back was still hurting, but there was another pain that was slowly developing...I was getting a sharp pain in my lower abdomen. It was kind of in my stomach region but it wasn't in my stomach. It was just in that lower left abdomen. And the pain started to grow over the next few weeks. My stomach, up my chest, and then it wrapped around my left shoulder and it was just sharp, continuously sharp stabbing pain.

Because of this sharp, stabbing pain, I started eating less. It got to the point where I was barely eating anything every day. Like, I would eat like a saltine cracker, and I would be really full.

I went to the hospital twice because of the pain, and the hospital didn't help me at all. They thought I was having stomach pains and wanted me to take over-the-counter medication for stomach issues, and I knew that it wasn't my stomach. They would have me do stretches to see where the pain was, the sharp stabbing pain. They would make me stretch my arm, my neck, and my back. They kept asking me if it hurt, and I would say no, every time. It felt something more internal. I saw two different physicians on two different occasions, and they didn't help me at all. Neither of them suggested for me to get blood work. That's a normal, routine thing that people get at hospitals; at least, that's what I thought. But all they had me do was do stretches and take over-the-counter pain medication. At the point when I'm on my complete death bed, that's when I was diagnosed, and that same day, within the hour, they requested an ambulance for me to be taken to a [larger hospital], about 30 minutes away and then they started treatment right away. Hector, 19, Latinx, blood. Diagnosed at 18.

In exploring diagnosis stories like Hector's, I struggled to reconcile young adults' perspectives and experiences with medical understandings of "diagnosis." From a medical perspective, diagnosis is a single-realization event where a clinician presents a patient with definitive news. Young adults, however, described diagnosis as a

longitudinal process (Schaepe 2011; Blaxter 1978). Diagnosis stories began when young adults retroactively perceived their first abnormal bodily sensations were identified, regardless of their first interpretation. They then focused on interactions with the medical system prior to the diagnosis event: help-seeking, patient-clinician interactions, and diagnostic testing. Ultimately, the diagnosis event was treated more as the conclusion to the often-complicated process. Central to these accounts was the difficulty navigating the age-specific construction of young adulthood as a period of health and cancer as a disease of old age. The expectation of ill-health in older adulthood shaped individual bodily sensation interpretation and as well as informal and formal interactions with the medical system. Such constructions were especially salient with cancer symptoms that were less culturally recognized, a byproduct of cancer-specific and symptom-specific awareness campaigns. The data provided by these stories grant a unique opportunity to examine how young adults view their age as central to their understanding of their bodies, interactions with the medical system, and experiences as patients, forecasting the creation of youngadult-specific cancer communities.

This chapter examines the diagnosis experiences of cancer in young adulthood. A central finding that emerged during in-depth interviews and participant observations was the centrality of age in navigating symptom interpretation and professional diagnosis.

Focusing on diagnosis, this chapter asks the questions: 1) what are the embodied experiences of self-diagnosis? and 2) what are the experiences of professional diagnosis? Young adulthood is socially constructed as a period of health, and cancer as a disease of old age. Such assumptions shape how individuals and medical systems interpret young adult bodies. I offer the term "age-related blind spot" as a conceptual tool to capture how

age-based expectations of health function to make young adults, clinicians, and medical systems slow to recognize ill health.

Contemporary society associates youth and youthful bodies with health and cancer as a disease of old age, creating "age-related blind spots" where young adults, clinicians, and medical systems are slow to recognize ill health in some young adult bodies. In young adulthood, societal expectations assume individuals and bodies are at peak health, fitness, attractiveness, and productivity. At the same time, dominant ideologies view later life course stages with inevitable biological decline and frailty (Salter and Salter 2018). Such ideologies buttress expectations of cancer as a disease of old age. While 60 percent of cancers occur in people over 65, cancer can and does occur at any age. Further, recent trends illustrate increasing incidences of cancer in younger bodies. This sociocultural construction of young adulthood as a life stage of health and assumptions of cancer as a disease of old-age shapes an individual's perception of their own body sensations – and if they are contained – and how an individual perceives their bodily sensations to be interpreted by health care providers. Sociocultural expectations attached to life course stage are reflected in, and codified by, institutional policies and practices that use age to informally and formally understand risk and administer diagnostic testing. My findings show that the simultaneous assumptions of health in young adulthood and cultural construction of cancer as a disease of old-age impact perception of cancer risk and symptom interpretation by individuals and health care providers and shape institutional policies and practices, leading to age-related blind spots for individuals, and bodies, that fall outside of societal expectations.

Prior sociological research on diagnosis suggests that diagnosis is both an official category and the process in which that label is applied (Blaxter1978; Jutel 2009; Jutel and Nettleton 2011). Healthcare practitioners utilize classifications of diseases (nosologies), taxonomies, and other authoritative classification systems for diagnostic guidance (Jutle and Nettleton 2011). Such classification systems emerge from biopower, population management, and the growth of statistics (see: biopower). As a process, diagnosis occurs when an individual presents symptoms to a healthcare clinician with diagnostic authority. The healthcare clinician will examine the patient, assess the evidence, and diagnose their symptoms (Jutel and Nettleton 2011).

Biomedicalization and the increasing use of clinical risk assessment have resulted in pre-disease identification via medical screenings (Salter et al. 2011). Armstrong and Eboralla (2012: 162) define medical screening as "the purposeful application of tests to an asymptomatic population in order to classify people into those who are unlikely to have or develop a disease and those who are likely to have or develop a disease." Agebased expectations are central to the application of risk assessment, as age is central to characterizing "risk" and medical screenings and age is used as a criterium for eligibility. For example, Salter et al. (2011:808) argue that "screening for osteoporosis and assessment of fracture risk can be understood as a process of biomedicalization of aging and bone health." In the case of cancer, one can assume that risk assessments and medical screenings that reinscribe age-based ideologies of ill-health in older adulthood frame not only who is at risk but also who is outside of risk of cancer.

Before the diagnosis process can begin, an individual must *symptomatize* bodily sensations (Brandner et al. 2014). Or, said differently, an individual must interpret an

unexplained bodily sensation as a potential symptom of illness (Anderson et al. 1995, Anderson 2010). Studies examining patient delay in help-seeking demonstrate the complexities of identifying bodily sensations as symptoms of illness (Andersen et al. 2010, Locock et al. 2016). Sensations may be "contained" or normalized based on social situations, life biographies and expectations, and cultural values and explanations (Anderson et al. 2010). In the case of cancer, which often has mild or moderate symptoms in the early stages, individuals experience uncertainty in defining "what counts" as a symptom of cancer is more present among unspecific, vague, or diffuse illness complaints (Anderson et al. 2015). The influence of age and life course stage in the interpretation of abnormal bodily sensations is shown by Brandner et al. (2014), who find that ovarian cancer is interpreted in reference to factors like aging and menopause.

Previous research on lay accounts of diagnosis finds that patients experience diagnosis as a "journey" (Beach 2009; Leydon, Bynoe□Sutherland, and Coleman 2003) or "longitudinal, multi-sited search process that culminates in a realization event" (Schaepe 2011:912). For example, analyzing 138 written cancer diagnosis narratives of recently diagnosed patients, Salander (2002) finds that patient narratives spanned from first contact with clinicians to the conclusion of treatment. Salander (2002:721) argues that, for the patient, the "bad news" of diagnosis "reflects the process of being diseased by cancer, and how medical services are available when one is in need of establishing a helpful relationship." The quality of contact with the medical system prior to the formal diagnosis event impacts patient opinions of doctors and expectations of future care (Schaepe 2011; Leydon et al. 2003). For example, in examining the experiences of diagnosis with blood cancer, Schaepe (2011) finds that patients' and caregivers'

experiences prior to diagnosis impact how the diagnosis is internalized as "good news" or "bad news." Organizational arrangements, delays, and issues with care coordination lead to positive and negative associations with providers and the medical system (Schaepe 2011).

Patient-provider interactions are not free from health inequity. To address this gap, Shim (2010) offers the term "cultural health capital" to account for how patient-provider interactions unfold in ways that may generate disparities in health care, including delays. Cultural health capital is defined as "the repertoire of cultural skills, verbal and nonverbal competencies, attitudes and behaviors, and interactional styles, cultivated by patients and clinicians alike, that, when deployed, may result in more optimal health care relationships (Shim 2010).

This chapter uses a narrative approach to examine the longitudinal process of diagnosis, or what I characterize as the "diagnosis stories" of young adults. This study fills a gap by interrogating lay-perspectives on the diagnostic experiences of cancer generally and the case of young adults specifically and intervenes with empirical evidence to disrupt cultural assumptions around age and illness. While existing literature examines the processes of symptom interpretation and patient-provider interactions as separate parts of the illness experience, the narratives provided by young adults challenges this divorce. In this chapter, I examine these experiences of diagnosis in the way young adults articulate them: as part of the same diagnostic process. In connecting these sites, we recognize that individuals, healthcare professionals, and medical systems do not exist in isolation. Instead, they are embedded within the same sociocultural contexts as the individual body. As such, sociocultural context also impacts how

healthcare providers and medical systems explain, interpret, and act upon the bodily sensations of young adults.

First, I examine the embodied experience of self-diagnosis and symptom interpretation. I then examine experiences of professional diagnosis, focusing on patient-provider interactions. Next, I pay particular attention to how the institutional environment contributes to age-related obstacles to a successful cancer diagnosis in young adult bodies. Finally, I discuss core findings, relationship to prior research, and broader implications.

Young Adult Diagnosis Stories

The diagnosis stories of young adults were recounted as a narrative. They did not focus on only the event of diagnosis or the moment a diagnosis was given; rather, diagnosis stories spanned the events before and after diagnosis was received. Diagnosis stories followed a similar pattern and were recounted as two sub-topics: First, the embodied experience of self-diagnosis, or when abnormal bodily sensations were discovered, how they were interpreted, and acted upon. Second, the embodied experience of professional diagnosis, or patient-provider interactions leading up to the moment the diagnosis was given. For young adults, diagnosis was articulated as a longitudinal process with emphasis placed on the experience of symptom interpretation up to the diagnosis event rather than the event itself. A common theme throughout most chapters of diagnosis stories was the perceived centrality of age in shaping a young-adult-specific diagnosis stories. To capture this centrality of age, I offer the term "age-related blindspots," where young adults, clinicians, and medical systems are slow to recognize ill health in some young adult bodies, as a conceptual tool to frame their diagnosis stories.

Embodied Experience of Symptom-Interpretation

When asked about their diagnosis experience, young adults' narratives began with a retrospective discussion of the first perceived abnormal bodily sensation. These descriptions highlighted the social construction of widespread awareness around certain types of cancers and certain symptoms of cancers. The elevation and circulation of cancer and symptom-specific knowledge make individuals readily see and address such symptoms. Such awareness makes young adults more likely to disrupt biographical containment (based on age and expectation of health) to interpret well-known cancer symptoms as abnormal and requiring medical attention. In the following section, I examine this process of self-diagnosis, highlighting how the physical presentation of some cancers, resulting from commonly recognized cancer symptoms, is protective against age-related assumptions of health that permeate cultural understandings. Finally, I continue with the experience of young adults with lesser-known cancer symptoms who emphasized the role of age and assumptions of health in the interpretation, and containment, of their unexplained bodily sensations. Before beginning this discussion, I briefly address the variation in the bodily presentations of cancer symptoms.

The bodily sensations associated with cancer are varied, reflecting the diversity within the group of diseases understood as "cancer" and variations in the presentation of "cancer symptoms." In this dissertation, the term "cancer" is used to describe various illnesses, including colorectal cancer, testicular cancer, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, Hodgkin's lymphoma, anaplastic large cell lymphoma, breast cancer, gynecological cancers, and sarcoma. While all these diseases are "cancers," their symptoms manifest in diverse ways and are experienced differently by different people. The same cancer,

diagnosed at the same stage, can have a different embodied presentation. The most commonly recognized cancer symptom is an unexplained lump (a hard tissue mass) or swelling. Not all cancers present as such. In the early stages, cancer symptoms are usually mild or nonexistent and have little or no impact on daily functioning, and may not be recognized as signs of cancer and thus become a barrier to care (Al-Azri et al. 2016). When they occur, lumps/swelling are often associated with a later stage of disease and may not be 'obvious' to a patient.

Commonly Recognized Cancer Symptoms

Widespread awareness of certain types of cancer and certain types of cancer symptoms meant that young adults who found an unexplained lump were much more likely to identify the symptom as concerning and necessitating medical consultation. This bodily sensation occurred in young adults diagnosed with breast cancer, testicular cancer, and certain lymphomas. In addition, young adults that discovered an unexplained lump/swelling were more likely to interpret this lump/swelling as abnormal and seek medical consultation.

Michael (33, white, testicular) interpreted his non-tender lump as a serious symptom right away. Michael was riding his bicycle when he noticed his abnormal bodily sensation, "my left testicle was as hard as a rock. It was like a golf ball." Despite not having health insurance, Michael went to the hospital the following day for an examination. He credits his immediate action to a social media post emphasizing the potential severity of such an unexplained lump: "I remembered reading an article on Redditt, 'if anything is unusual with your junk, get it checked out immediately because you're either going to be sterile or you're going to have cancer." Michael "took [the

article] to heart" and credits this awareness with his positive outcome, asserting that the post "kind of saved my life." In an interesting reversal, age remains important in this case as young people tend to be more active on social media than older adults and spend more time with media and technology than any other activity (Coyne, Padilla-Walker, and Howard 2013). As such, Michael's age-related activity of social media use stimulated symptom awareness, counteracting what might otherwise have been a "blind spot."

The social awareness of lumps/swelling as concerning symptoms also impacted how Donella (41, white, blood) perceived their first unexplained bodily sensation: a lump in the throat. "I had a cold and was feeling around my neck and found what felt like a really swollen lymph node. I thought it was probably related to the cold but decided to wait 'till I wasn't sick and if it was still there, I'd go see someone." After two weeks, Donella had fully recovered from the cold, but the lump remained. Donella recalls being "pretty confident that I had cancer" when scheduling an appointment with their primary care physician to have the lump examined.

Finally, Chloe (34, white, breast) describes "going to the doctor right away" after finding a lump in her breast. Like Michael, Chloe recalls how she "didn't waste a second" after finding her lump due largely to the cultural awareness associated with breast cancer and the emphasis on self-examination. The cultural dominance of breast cancer awareness was reflected in other young adults whose symptoms included a lump in the breast, reflecting the cultural prominence of breast cancer awareness in North America. Termed "breast cancerization," this prominence impacts experiences with diagnosis, treatment, and survivorship (Bell 2014). This dominance was reflected in the diagnosis narratives of some non-breast cancer patients, like Heather (31, white, colorectal), who

distinguished cancer symptoms with high cultural visibility, a lump in the breast, and other commonly experienced cancer symptoms, bloody stool. She asserts:

There is a lump in your boob. You go to the doctor, and you go immediately because we're all terrified of what happens is you get breast cancer. I have checked myself in the shower every day of my 31 years of living. I never ever knew that blood in my stool could be cancer.

Heather's experience reflects the pattern among young adults: those with the most-recognized cancer symptoms expressed the need to seek medical care more quickly than young adults with lesser recognized symptoms.

Lesser Known Cancer Symptoms

Young adults with lesser-known cancer symptoms emphasized the role of age-based expectations of health in interpreting abnormal bodily sensations. About three-quarters of young adults experienced lesser recognized cancer symptoms, including changes to bowel movements, bloody stool, fever, fatigue and weakness, loss of weight, dizziness, abnormal vaginal bleeding, and unexplained pain. These symptoms often started as vague or moderate and intensified slowly and occurred in young adults diagnosed with colorectal cancer, gynecological cancers, sarcoma, lymphoma, and leukemia. When experiencing these unexplained bodily sensations, young adults "contained" these symptoms based on individual biography and perceptions of risk (Anderson et al. 2010). In recalling diagnosis stories, these young adults emphasize the role of their age in the interpretation of their unexplained bodily sensations as "normal," particularly in relation to their status as young, healthy individuals.

At age 26, Eric (34, Black, blood) began experiencing "vague" cancer symptoms:

dizziness, bruising on his arms and legs, and fatigue. In recalling his diagnosis story, he emphasizes the role of his age and health in the interpretation of these bodily sensations: "there were all these little warning signs in place and I wrote him off just because I was so young and couldn't really fathom like this was what was going on." These symptoms were contained based on social situations, biography, and perception of risk. As someone "young and healthy" with an "investment in physical fitness," Eric did not understand himself as at-risk for a serious illness. As such, his dizziness was attributed to a recent relocation "it's the middle of summer, and I am getting used to the heat and humidity; it's no big deal."

Cultural perceptions of health in young adulthood led some respondents with vague symptoms to interpret bodily sensations as markers of health rather than symptoms of an illness. For example, Alexis (38, white, colorectal) had recently undergone a career change and was "refocusing on her health" when she began to experience symptoms of colorectal cancer: "I was never like super unhealthy...I've always been active, but like I'd really amped it up the year [before I was diagnosed]." When Alexis began experiencing symptoms of colon cancer, mainly changes in her bowel movements, she attributed them to her recent changes to a healthier lifestyle:

I'd had diet modifications, and I had changes in my stool that I chalked up to eating more fiber, you know, that kind of thing. Sometimes I had constipation, and sometimes I had loose stools, and I was just like, okay, it must be because I'm eating so many more vegetables, you know? I never thought anything else of it. Here, potential symptoms are contained within Alexis' biography and her expectation

that she is a young and healthy person. While running a 5k, Alexis experienced an

additional symptom, anal leakage: "I kind of shit myself a little bit." Alexis also interpreted this symptoms as a marker of health: running, "Everyone talks about [how] you get like the runner shits, so I was like, well, it's that." After diagnosis, she expressed disbelief that she could have cancer during a period of peak health, "how could this happen?... I was the healthiest I ever was in my life. It was like, wow, you know? I had to go from that to cancer. It was like mind-blowing." Alexis' emphasis on her engagement in health activities demonstrates how cultural explanations related to one's lifestyle choices, like eating healthily and exercising, can also contain potential symptoms (See Anderson et al. 2010). This focus on lifestyle choices as a way to avoid the risk of illness reflects modern society's understanding of health and disease avoidance as a matter of personal responsibility for health, a central component of neoliberal governmentality (Lupton 1994; Ayo 2012; Guthman 2011). Here, age-related blind spots are exacerbated by lifestyle choices that caused Alexis to contain unexplained bodily sensations in the context of health-related activities.

Young adults with colorectal cancer were particularly vulnerable to the containment of symptoms based on an underlying assumption of health in young adulthood, a lack of awareness of the symptoms of colorectal cancer, and the stigma of symptoms deemed "gross." Age is particularly salient here as colorectal cancer rates are increasing in young adults. This supports previous findings that show the median time from symptom onset to treatment as 217 days for young adults compared to 29.5 days for those over 50 (Yarden et al. 2019). This discrepancy was primarily attributed to patient delay in help-seeking and misdiagnosis (the latter of which will be discussed later). As a result, young adults are also more likely to be diagnosed with advanced-stage disease,

with over 70% of young-onset patients diagnosed with either stage III or IV (Yarden et al. 2019). Young adults with colorectal cancer were likely to experience weight loss, abdominal pain, bloody stool, and changes in bowel movements.

Christopher (21, white, colorectal) experienced bloating, pain, and bloody mucus in his stool, symptoms he attributed to diet: "I was young. I just assumed that I was eating the wrong things." He continued to live with these symptoms for five months until they could no longer be contained: "it came to a point where I couldn't leave the house without knowing where the closest bathroom was." Kimberly (26, white, colorectal), experienced similar symptoms that she "didn't know what to do with." As a young professional in a large metropolitan area, she was working to establish herself and "didn't have time to take a breath, let alone deal with these symptoms." Kimberly's experience highlights an additional barrier to timely diagnosis for young adults: how occupational and familial demands can supersede attention to personal health.

Around half of young adults with colorectal cancer described a hesitancy to discuss symptoms deemed "gross" or "disgusting" with healthcare providers. When reflecting on why she delayed help-seeking behavior for so long, Kimberly (26, white, colorectal) highlights the "less glamorous" symptoms of colorectal cancer – blood in the stool, changes in bowel habits, and diarrhea and constipation – particularly when compared to breast or ovarian cancers: "None of it is pretty, and no one wants to talk about it." Heather (31, white, colorectal) recalls a similar hesitancy to discuss her symptoms (bloody stool, bloating, and intestinal pain): "I was super nervous before I got diagnosed to talk to anybody about poop. Nobody likes to do it. Even my doctors, I didn't want to talk to my doctors about [my poop]. So, I sat on my symptoms for about six

months."

This stigma has two results, it diminishes public awareness of the symptoms of colorectal cancer, making individuals more likely to "contain" symptoms like bloody stool as normal. While it is likely that individuals of all ages experience bodily stigma, stigma is especially salient in young adulthood (Saunders 2014). Further, the social construction of cancer awareness in older adulthood and increases in the health care capital of older adults (resulting from increased engagement in the medical system) may result in action, despite the embarrassment. For young adults, life-disrupting symptoms are contained in relation to their age and assumed health status, and increases the likelihood that young adults will not seek help for symptoms deemed "embarrassing" and "disgusting."

Experience of Professional Diagnosis

The following section examines the second sub-topic in the diagnosis stories of young adults: interactions with the medical system. In seeking a professional diagnosis, young adults encountered multiple medical professionals in various settings before a diagnosis event occurred. In these accounts, attention was given to the help-seeking process and engagement with the medical system. A central theme in the process of professional diagnosis was the perception that *age* was central to interactions with healthcare providers, clinicians, and medical systems. While the previous section described how, for some young adults, age (and the cultural associations with health) impacted the interpretation of their own bodily sensations, this section explores how young adults' perceived age to negatively impact how clinicians interpreted symptoms in young adult bodies and structured access to diagnostic testing. These findings illustrate

that some young adults attribute delay in diagnosis to the age-related biases healthcare practitioners hold. These perceptions may impact young adults' confidence in healthcare providers as they progress through diagnosis, treatment, and long-term, follow-up care.

A note on Individualizing Containment

While my findings demonstrate that young adults often contain symptoms of cancer that were vague or mild before seeking a professional diagnosis, this containment should not be understood as the primary reason for delays. It is important to note that the tendency to focus on the actions of individual young adults obscures the role of institutional practices and patient-doctor interactions that are often central to the story of delayed diagnosis. It is also true that some young adults who contained their symptoms and delayed help-seeking behaviors experienced a delay in professional diagnosis when they eventually sought care. In such instances, young adults perceived the same lack-of concerns from health care providers and often struggled to attain a concrete diagnosis, despite persistent symptoms. Before continuing with a discussion of the experience of professional diagnosis, I highlight the following excerpt from Jasmine (38, Black, colorectal), who describes her frustration at this tendency to blame the young adult for failing to acknowledge their own symptoms or not seeking medical care:

It is a perplexing thing; people are just so stumped by it. I got sick when I was under 40 with an advanced stage, and people cannot get their head around it. People are just dumbfounded at the fact. They're like, "were you not going to the doctor? Were you not taking care of yourself? Do you have insurance?" That was one of the questions that came up multiple times. "Well, do you have insurance?" And I'm like, yeah, of course, I have insurance. And they're like, "well, were you

not going to the doctor?" Of course, I was going to a doctor, but I was being misdiagnosed or underdiagnosed, or whatever you want to call it. I wasn't diagnosed.

Jasmine sought the care of numerous primary care and alternative care doctors over two years of symptoms. Her condition could have been easily diagnosed if her doctors had sought the fundamental cause of her symptoms. Unfortunately, things "weren't followed up on" and Jasmine was not diagnosed until she sought emergency care for an acute health event.

Physician Related Delay

A common narrative in the diagnosis stories of young adults was the difficulty securing a professional diagnosis, with over half of young adults perceiving a physician-related delay in diagnosis. Perceived delays were most likely to occur when young adults experienced symptoms understood by professionals to be "vague," such as fatigue, fever, changes in bowel movements, and unexplained pain⁵. These symptoms most commonly occurred with blood and colorectal cancers. The process of professional diagnosis was described as a struggle, with an overarching obstacle being patient age and assumption of health. During this phase of the process of diagnosis, respondents had consultations with general practitioners, specialists, and alternative care providers over several months and, in some cases, years.

The dominant perception, expressed almost universally by young adults that experienced a "delay" in professional diagnosis, was that when seeking-help, their

46

⁵ While these conditions may have been considered "sub-acute" (a relatively recent onset) at some point in the diagnostic process, the term is also used to describe symptoms that persist longer than one month but less than three months. Given that symptoms persisted, without a diagnosis, for as long as two years, this classification is inappropriate.

symptoms were met with a lack of concern by doctors and healthcare providers. This perceived lack of concern included age-based assumptions of health (in young adulthood), cancer risk (in older adults), a lack of social power, and gendered and racial stereotypes. Importantly, these themes are not mutually exclusive and were often co-occurring, overlapping, and intersecting. In the following section, I detail how a "lack of concern" based on patient age is perceived to be the driving cause of delays in professional diagnosis for young adults. I also describe the role of social capital and access to medical networks in mitigating the age-based perceived lack of concern.

Mark (28, white, blood), who experienced a 6-month delay in diagnosis after experiencing weight loss, persistent fevers, and drenching night sweats, characterizes his age as central to his doctor's interpretation of his "textbook" symptoms as a "run of the mill viral infection." Mark recalls that his doctor's response to his symptoms -- months of low-grade fevers and drenching night sweats – was "you know, you're young, you're healthy, we don't have a lot of concern really." For Mark, this lack of concern was solidified when his doctor failed to call him back with the results of his blood test. After learning more about the illness, Mark expresses frustration with his doctor's failure to recognize the symptoms that he characterizes as "textbook" and perceives his age, and its associations of health, as a *blind spot* in his successful diagnosis: "And the frustrating thing, looking back on it, is how textbook [my symptoms were]. And yes, [my doctor] was not an oncologist, but as someone in the medical profession, you should be able to recognize these textbook illnesses."

For Hector (19, Latinx, blood), the lack of social power in young adulthood was articulated as the reason for a perceived lack of concern in patient-physician interactions.

In explaining why clinicians "did not take [my] concerns seriously," Hector describes how the expectations of health placed on young bodies were exacerbated by his agebased deficit of social power when engaging with doctors. Hector's mother, an immigrant who spoke very little English, lacked the flexibility to take him to the doctor, communicate the severity of his symptoms, or advocate for further diagnostic testing. Instead, Hector scheduled and attended medical appointments alone, where he was assessed by unfamiliar pediatricians that he perceived to be unaccustomed to examining patients without a parent. He asserts: They did not take my concerns seriously, "I don't think they were used to interacting with a young adult without parents." In reflecting on the reason for his delay, he states: "I think it would be a lack of accountability I was perceived to have on my end maybe and a lack of concern on their end." Often, studies of barriers to care emphasize the actions of the individual patient rather than the medical system.

Almost young adults with colorectal cancer perceived that their symptoms were met with a lack of concern by doctors and healthcare providers. Christopher (21, white, colorectal) recalls a medical specialist explicitly referencing his age when seeking a diagnosis for pain, bloody stool, and bloating: "He told me you're too young to have colon cancer and said [my symptoms] were probably a hemorrhoid or an anal fissure." Like other young adults, Christopher perceived a lack of concern from his doctor, "He didn't take me seriously," a perception reinforced by the difficulty attaining, scheduling, and getting results from diagnostic tests. When he finally received a colonoscopy, he was rushed to the ER after the procedure and began treatment the following day.

When reflecting on her diagnosis story, Shannon (36, white, colorectal) describes age, presumed health status, and lack of concern as central to the interpretation of her chronic stomach pain: "The response from the nurses was 'oh, you're so healthy.' Even [the primary care physician] did not seem concerned at all about my symptoms... If she had said, I think you should go see a gastroenterologist or that I should have a colonoscopy, we definitely would have caught it sooner." Six months later, Shannon was diagnosed with metastatic disease. While she is careful not to make assumptions about what an earlier diagnosis would have meant for her prognosis, she does perceive her age to be central to her experience of delay:

I can't really say in retrospect whether those six months would have made a difference in my diagnosis. I could have been diagnosed with the same stage at that point. It could have already spread far enough to metastasize. It's hard to say for sure, but I definitely think that that delay in the diagnosis had a lot to do with my age.

While Shannon is unsure how an earlier diagnosis would impact her illness trajectory and cancer staging, it is important to note that colorectal cancer is considered curable if caught in the early stages.

Heather (31, white, colorectal) recalls how the intersection of gender, age, and illness impacted how she perceived her doctor to interpret her cancer symptoms when seeking help for bloody stool, abdominal pain and bloating.

He was just sure that I was too stressed. I mean, he even went so far as to tell me that I need to learn to calm down and meditate...He also gave me a really high-

powered Zantac, and I didn't know at the time that it was Zantac. He said I've got something to help with the bleeding. You need to take this every day.

Heather's doctor's assumption that she was "too stressed" and that she "need[ed] to calm down" echo the minimization of women's health concerns by medical professionals and female hysteria (Tasca et al. 2012). Female hysteria was understood as a white women's disease, reflecting the differing relationships of Black Indigenous People of Color (BIPOC) women to pain and the body (Brigs 2000). Significantly, in the case of some young adults, this devaluation of women's voices interacts with assumptions of young adulthood, contributing to increased misdiagnosis by health care professionals. Because of this devaluation and disrespect, Heather "went about her business" and failed to follow up with her doctor, despite her symptoms becoming more persistent. When reflecting on how age impacted her delay in diagnosis, Heather recalls her doctor's disbelief in her cancer diagnosis: "when we took the results back to [my doctor], he was like, 'you're too young for this cancer, and you're a woman so you shouldn't have this cancer." Here, age and gender construct colorectal cancer as a disease of old men, shaping conceptions of risk access to diagnostic testing.

Jasmine (38, Black, colorectal) describes being misdiagnosed for two years, during which she experienced stomach pain, digestive problems, chronic anemia, and rapid weight loss; symptoms that she describes as a "tell for anybody that something's wrong." During this period, she saw multiple doctors, including those focusing on primary care, gastroenterology, and holistic medicine: "My doctors assumed I was healthy as a horse. So they were like iron supplements, iron supplements, iron supplements, eat more meat, eat more spinach, you know, a protein-based diet. They

thought that I just wasn't getting enough nutrients." Emphasizing lifestyle choices,

Jasmine's doctors failed to identify the fundamental cause of her anemia and applauded
her weight loss when she lost 60 pounds in two and a half months. Based on her
presentation of symptoms and the current screening guides, Jasmine should have received
a colonoscopy.

The only young adult with colorectal cancer that did not perceive a lack of concern among clinicians was Alexis (38, white, colorectal), whose undiagnosed disease progressed to an acute stage. She was living abroad in a country with universal healthcare when she experienced a ten-minute seizure. She was taken to the hospital, where they performed an MRI, which found swelling in the brain, "they didn't know if it was an infection or a tumor that was causing the swelling." Learning of her family history of colorectal cancer, they performed a colonoscopy. After returning to the U.S., it was confirmed that the primary source of cancer was the colon and the secondary source was the brain.

Access to Colorectal Screenings

Almost all young adults with colorectal cancer articulated an additional agerelated blind spot in their experience with the medical system: the difficulty of attaining a colonoscopy. This difficulty was attributed to age and the construction of colorectal cancer as a disease impacting "old men." This cultural construction of colorectal cancer as a disease of old age has been institutionalized into existing colorectal cancer screening guidelines, which suggest that screening begins at the age of 45. At the same time, current guidelines state that screening should start at the age of 45 unless there is either a family history or a patient has experienced "persistent" gastrointestinal issues. Despite

these guidelines, young adults with a family history and persistent symptoms could not attain diagnostic testing. The difficulty accessing a colonoscopy is particularly alarming as rates of colon and rectal cancer in young adults, specifically, those under 35, are projected to increase by 90% and 125% by 2030 (Underferth 2020).

In reflecting on her struggle for diagnostic screening, Amira (30, white, colorectal) describes having to "beg" her doctor to prescribe the colonoscopy that would provide her with a diagnosis despite experiencing almost three years of symptoms: "I knew something was wrong. I knew that something was being missed." Highlighting the age-based blindspot in cancer screenings, she labels her experience as "age-discrimination," stating, "because I was under this magic age of 45 and there was no family history, they did not think to do a colonoscopy." Amira's experience demonstrates how age becomes formalized by medical institutions, shaping access to medical screenings and diagnostic technology. Even when young adults present with symptoms that should trigger diagnostic screenings, age, as a "magic number," shapes access.

While current protocol states that those under 45 with a family history of colorectal cancer should undergo screening, family history did not guarantee access to a colonoscopy. Carlos (32, Latinx, colorectal), who experienced severe abdominal pain, bloody stool, and constipation, describes his difficulty attaining any diagnostic testing, despite a family history of early-onset colorectal cancer. Carlos' experience illustrates how age-specific constructions of risk are used as justifications as to why further diagnostic testing was unnecessary:

No one took me seriously. Even when I brought up my family history of colon cancer, that my grandmother had it in her thirties, and I was nearing my thirties at

the time. I kept hearing, "you're too young. I'm too young for that. That's an old man's disease."

Despite not having health insurance, Carlos returned to the emergency room on multiple occasions as his symptoms increased in severity. Hospital personnel coded this helpseeking as drug-seeking despite his family history and explicit requests for diagnostic testing: "I told them again I had a family history of colorectal cancer, and that I just wanted a CT scan, and that I was not looking for pain management. They basically treated me like a junkie and escorted me out." A few weeks later, this happened again: "I was asked about opioids, and asked why I wanted the drug, and, if I needed rehab assistance or whatever." Carlos characterizes his various points of contact with the medical system as "absolutely no help" and asserts, "no one was going to help me diagnose what was going on." Carlos, who repeatedly sought care despite being uninsured, was familiar with the often-unrecognized symptoms of colorectal cancer and was aware of his increased risk of early-onset disease, which contradicts previous research that emphasizes insurance status and patient knowledge as a central barrier to care. Occurring within the height of the opioid epidemic, Carlos perceives that his age and the expectation that old bodies have cancer and young bodies abuse drugs as the reason for his doctors' lack of concern, the failure to recognize the severity of his symptoms, and his delayed diagnosis. Amira's and Carlos' experiences demonstrate how the formal use of age in patient risk assessments can overshadow factors like symptom presentation and family history. While such screenings may improve early and predisease detection, they also shape conceptions of risk.

Perceptions of Racism

While many young adults referenced age as central to their misdiagnosis experiences, BIPOC respondents perceived racial identity and experiences of racism, in addition to age, as central to patient-professional interactions. These experiences were more likely when BIPOC respondents sought a diagnosis in hospitals in majority-white communities and engaged with majority-white healthcare professionals, or what Anderson (2015) refers to as "white spaces." While white spaces vary, their most distinct and visible feature is their "overwhelming presence of white people" (Anderson 2015:13). In such spaces, stereotypes or assumptions about members of a racial group "rule perceptions" (Anderson 2015). The medical field remains a white-dominated profession with high rates of occupational segregation by race.

Around half of BIPOC young adults perceived that racial stereotypes negatively influenced their diagnosis experiences. For example, when recalling her delay in professional diagnosis, Nicole (28, blood, Asian Indian) describes how the stereotype of the perpetual foreigner made her doctor think she was suffering from "exotic illnesses" uncommon to the United States:

My parents are from India, but I was born in the U.S. When talking to my [white] doctor, he was sure I had tuberculosis because I was Indian and had therefore been exposed to Tuberculous. He kept talking about a recent paper he had read. I told him I had not left the country recently and had a TB vaccine when I [recently] started a new job, but he didn't listen.

While rare in the United States, tuberculous remains one of the top causes of death worldwide. India has the highest disease incidence, accounting for more than a quarter of

all cases (WHO). Nicole perceives that racialized stereotype of the perpetual foreignness of Asian Americans contributed to her doctor's (incorrect) interpretation of her symptoms and thus her delay in diagnosis. The Asian American as a "forever foreigner" or "racialized foreigner" implies that cultural and physical differences render Asians inassimilable to the white normality, making Asians always seen as an immigrant or "foreigner-within" regardless of citizenship status (Tuan 1998; Fujiwara 2008). As a racialized foreigner, Nicole perceived that her doctor assumed that her cancer symptoms resulted from travel to a part of the world with high rates of Tuberculosis transmission, India, even though her case expressly contradicted this assumption. Here, the stereotype of the forever foreigner intersects with cultural assumptions of health to shape interactions with health care professionals.

Eric (34, Black, blood) also perceives that racialized stereotypes influenced interactions with healthcare professionals resulting in the misdiagnosis of cancer relapse or when cancer returns after not being detected. After Eric's initial treatment was successful, he was prescribed maintenance chemotherapy, taken orally multiple times a day, to prevent a recurrence. During this period, his oncologist closely monitored him with regular blood tests to detect evidence of cancer's return. Over several months, Eric's lab work began to show irregularities. Rather than follow up with more testing, Eric's doctor assumed he was not taking his medicine as prescribed. When recalling this misdiagnosis of a recurrence, Eric emphasizes the role of his race in impacting his doctor's interpretation of his symptoms:

It happened on more than one occasion. He'd start yelling at me and say, "you're not taking your medicine. If you were, your labs wouldn't say this and that," and I

was like, "I am taking them like I should have." Just constant accusations all the time. And, looking back at it now, when he was accusing me of these things and the labs that were showing up, that was the start of my relapse... Those labs changing and him throwing those accusations at me, it was a start of the whole actual relapse. It seemed like he thought I was dumb or uneducated. I guess he just assumed I was just another Black face in his office, lying to him about who knows what or why. It was never anything overt, but I mean, I've been doing this whole thing of being a Black man in America for a while now, and I can sort of pick up on the underlying tones of what's being said, and I definitely felt in that situation that's what was going on with him.

Prior research identifies a variety of racialized and gendered stereotypes that Black men encounter, including that they are irresponsible, lazy, untruthful, and uneducated, which in turn influences the treatment of Black men (Taylor et al. 2019). In this context, Eric felt racial stereotypes negatively impacted his doctor's perception of him and how his lab results were interpreted – assuming the irregularities resulted from noncompliance rather than signs of a recurrence. Physicians believe Black people are less likely to comply with treatment making them less likely to put effort into diagnosing a patient's problem (van Ryn and Burkę 2000). Eric's example highlights the material embodied consequences of racism in interactions with doctors and medical practitioners. As Eric had previously been diagnosed with blood cancer and taking maintenance chemotherapy, his doctor should have been on high alert to any potential abnormalities in his labs. As such, the assumption that he was healthy because of his age was already disrupted. Rather than

follow up accordingly when his labs demonstrated abnormalities, he was met with accusations of noncompliance that postponed the diagnosis of his recurrence.

The location of care received was an important contributing factor in the perception that racism negatively impacted diagnosis experience. Those young adults that received care at rural clinics or those in majority-white areas were more likely to express experiences of racism in interpersonal interactions. On the other hand, BIPOC respondents who received care in more racially-diverse areas directly cited this diversity as protective against experiences of overt racism. For example, for Martin (28, multiracial, blood), "living in" an area that is "really racially diverse" meant that he was spared experiences of over-racism when seeking a professional diagnosis. For him, age, rather than race, was more salient and the reason for his misdiagnosis. Likewise, Carlos (32, Latinx, colorectal) described living in a metropolitan area and "not looking" Latino as protective against experiences of racism. This highlights the importance of phenotype as Latino men with light skin are less strongly racialized than those with dark skin (Vasquez 2010). In a final example, Jade (29, Black, blood) describes how, after experiencing macroaggressions in a majority-white rural hospital in the South East, she relocated to a large metropolitan area to receive care in an area with more racial diversity: "When taking my medical history, they would ask me questions like, 'do you know your parents?'." In reflection, she emphasized the importance of "having doctors and nurses who look like me."

Health Care Social Capital

For young adults with class privilege, social networks played an important role in mitigating the age-related blind spots in professional diagnosis. This does not mean that

those young adults with access to healthcare professionals in their social networks did not experience any delays in symptom interpretation. Rather, young adults with access to social networks that contained healthcare professionals had access to informal consultations that impacted when they sought help, could more quickly navigate diagnostic testing, and were provided informal referrals to high-quality doctors. These young adults have "health care cultural capital" or "the repertoire of cultural skills, verbal and nonverbal competencies, attitudes and behaviors, and interactional styles, cultivated by patients and clinicians alike, that, when deployed, may result in more optimal health care relationships" (Shim 2010:1). I extend this concept to focus not only on cultural capital but rather emphasize the social capital and thus social networks of young adults. While health care capital did not always override the negative value associated with age, it did provide access to medical and healthcare professionals who were perceived to have concern for the young adult patient. As such, the extra concern and time provided to the professional symptom interpretation were often satisfactory to result in a diagnosis. Such capital paired with social awareness of certain cancer campaigns to shape diagnosis experiences.

Amanda's (33, white, breast) social network contained healthcare professionals and access to specialized medical knowledge that disrupted her initial interpretation of herself as "healthy" and her bodily changes as "normal." When Amanda first experienced changes in breast tissue, she attributed them to normal physiological changes during pregnancy. Working at a birth center, she sought the input of a friend and coworker, an experienced midwife, to verify this interpretation. After an informal examination, this midwife felt her symptoms were inconsistent with normal breast changes during

pregnancy and quickly referred Amanda to an "overly educated" local physician.

Exercising the midwife's social network, Amanda was seen quickly: "I got in the next day, and she took some measurements and ended up calling a surgical oncologist that same day." In this instance, Amanda's social network provided access to a healthcare professional that impacted the interpretation of her bodily sensation as a symptom and a personal referral to a trusted doctor.

In another example, Lindsay (37 white, gynecological) employed her health care capital to gain access to a highly qualified medical specialist after she perceived a lack of concern from her "regular" doctor during her initial help-seeking:

I went to a gynecologist, like a regular [gynecologist] at a regular facility. I didn't like how he was treating me and all that...so luckily, I have a really close family friend, and her father is head of another department at [a large cancer treatment and research institution]. We legitimately went to [the cancer center] because this oncologist took me on as just like a favor to a friend.

After the "regular gynecologist" minimized and misdiagnosed Lindsay's symptoms, she mobilized her social network to quickly receive a second opinion and, ultimately, a cancer diagnosis. Unlike other young adults, Lindsay received care from a prestigious oncologist at a world-renowned cancer center *prior* to her cancer diagnosis. This means that she did not have to navigate the complicated referral process and benefited from continuity of care.

Like Lindsay, Monica (28, white, thyroid), who was also dissatisfied with her initial care, describes how her social network provided access to a specialized endocrinologist who had experience in treating cancer patients:

My mother actually is friends with one of the top endocrinologists in America. So [my mother has] been backing up everything that my doctors have said with him. I can't go to [this doctor] because he's [in a different state]. Whenever I was having all this stress [with my doctor]...she asked her friend for a recommendation, and he taught this young lady that I started going to. And so it's the second best thing to going to him.

Access to a more prestigious endocrinologist had significant implications for Monica's treatment protocol and outcome. She later learned that she was undertreated by her first doctor, who considered her small nodule low-risk, despite it "going through a blood vessel." Thyroid cancer mainly metastasizes through the blood, and invasion to a blood vessel necessitates more aggressive treatment, including radioactive iodine treatment and further diagnostic testing, "my second doctor [said] that the blood vessel definitely is a high risk... and I definitely should have had the radioactive iodine [treatment] because if there was anything left anywhere else in my body, then my first doctor didn't catch it." Monica's experience highlights a critical extension of the concept of health care capital as it was mobilized through a parent, this again emphasizes the role of the family in addressing the institutional limitations of young adults with cancer.

Discussion

In the following section, I discuss all three research questions addressed in this chapter. First, what is the diagnosis experience for an off-time cancer diagnosis? Then, what is the embodied experience of self-diagnosis for young adults? Finally, what is the experience of a professional diagnosis for young adults?

Young adults experience diagnosis as a longitudinal, multi-sited process rather than a single realization event. The accounts of diagnosis were organized into two stages: self-diagnosis and professional diagnosis. Young adult accounts of diagnosis began when they *retrospectively* identified the start of cancer symptoms. They described when and how unexplained bodily sensations (that would be retrospectively defined as symptoms of cancer) were interpreted, explained, and acted upon. They then described the stage of professional diagnosis, emphasizing patient-provider interactions and all engagement with the medical system that came before the diagnosis event. The specific realization event was given little attention, serving as the conclusion to the diagnosis story rather than the central focus of the diagnosis experience.

These findings are consistent with prior research that shows patients have broader interpretations of diagnosis beyond a single day or event. A review of patients' written accounts of diagnosis shows that stories typically began with first symptoms and included multiple clinic interactions (Salander 2002). It also supports findings by Leydon et al. (2003) that show interactions up to the point of diagnosis influenced patient expectations about future care. Difficulty attaining a diagnosis undermined faith in the medical system in general and the ability of non-specialists (non-oncologists) to provide competent care. These findings are also consistent with previous research that finds that patient experience with the medical system prior to diagnosis-event impacts how the diagnosis is internalized (Schaepe 2011).

The chapter then interrogates the embodied experience of self-diagnosis. The experience of self-diagnosis is impacted by the physical manifestation of cancer in a young adult's body. Young adults that identified a lump/swelling as part of the self-

diagnosis process were likely to identify this bodily sensation as abnormal and seek a professional medical consultation. Those young adults that experienced lesser-recognized cancer symptoms were likely to contain symptoms with explanations based on biography and lifestyle choices, specifically age-based assumptions of health and engagement in health-related activities. In some cases, cancer symptoms were not only contained by lifestyle choices but also explained by them. In the case of colorectal cancer, the social stigma of some regions of the body made young adults feel embarrassed or uncomfortable discussing their symptoms with their doctor until they were so severe and could no longer be contained.

Young adults' experience with self-diagnosis aligns with previous research in symptom interpretation (Anderson 2010; Anderson et al. 2015). Prior research stresses that the successful interpretation of an unexplained bodily sensation as a symptom of illness is embedded in social and cultural context (Hays 2008). The quick interpretation of lumps/swelling as abnormal reflects the cultural recognition of an unexplained lump/swelling as the most recognized cancer symptom. Previous research also describes how potential symptoms may be contained based on personal biography, perceptions of risk, and lifestyle choice (Anderson et al. 2010). Assumptions about the life course shape understandings of the self (Kohli and Meyer 1986; Gubrium et al. 1994). My findings demonstrating how assumptions of health in young adulthood function to shape the interpretation of bodily sensations. Prior scholarship also details the emotional labor and negation associated with contested illnesses (Brown, Morello-Frosch, and Zavestoski 2012). My findings differ as the illnesses in question are not contested. For example, in

the case of colorectal cancer, the most commonly "missed" diagnosis in the experiences of my respondents, is easily diagnosed with a colonoscopy.

My findings complicate previous research that asserts concern about wasting a clinician's time, denial, and fear as reasons for patient-based delays (Smith and Anderson 1985). My findings suggest that for young adults, patient delays are most often attributed to socially constructed awareness of certain types of cancer and certain types of cancer symptoms. I also find that the circulation of information about commonly experienced cancer symptoms works against age-related blind spots. Widely- recognized potential cancer symptoms are recognized to require immediate consultation, regardless of age-related assumptions of health. As such, blind spots matter most with cancer symptoms considered "vague" either because they are mild or because they do not have social awareness campaigns and information circulating about them. In this way, the circulation of information works against the age-related assumptions of health that permeate cultural understandings. For young adults with lesser-known cancer symptoms, age and assumptions of health are central to the interpretation and containment of their unexplained bodily sensations.

These findings have important implications. First, they demonstrate that the cultural association of cancer with unexplained lumps has extended beyond breast cancer to include incidents of cancer that may include unexplained lumps/swelling, like testicular cancer and some cases of lymphomas. They also show how drives to increase awareness of other lesser-recognized cancer symptoms must recognize the importance of challenging other age-specific constrictions of young adulthood as a period of heath. This means that increased awareness of certain common cancer symptoms, like blood in the

stool, may contribute to more expedited symptom recognition among young adults.

This chapter also explored a second research question, what is the embodied experience of professional diagnosis? For many young adults, attaining a professional diagnosis was difficult, with the majority of young adults experiencing a delayed or misdiagnosis. Misdiagnosis was more likely to occur when young adults did not experience the most commonly recognized cancer symptoms: a lump or swelling. The dominant perception, expressed almost universally by young adults that experienced a delay in professional diagnosis, was that when seeking-help, their symptoms were met with a lack of concern by doctors and healthcare providers. This perceived lack of concern included age-based assumptions of health (in young adulthood), cancer risk (in older adults), a lack of social power, and gendered and racial stereotypes. Around half of BIPOC respondents perceived racial identity and experiences of racism, in addition to age, as central to patient-professional interactions. For those that did not perceive racism to impact experiences, receiving treatment in diverse areas with racially diverse clinicians was articulated as protective against experiences of racism.

For young adults with race and class privilege, social networks played an important role in mitigating the age-related blind spots in professional diagnosis, providing access to informal consultations, expediting medical delays, and providing informal referrals to high-quality doctors. This builds on literature documenting the importance of social networks in facilitating help-seeking (Burgess et al. 2006; Burgess et al. 1998; Macleod et al. 2009; Smith, Pope, and Botha 2005). I extend this line of inquiry, showing how social networks mediate age-related blind spots. I show how networks not only encourage young adults to seek care for abnormal bodily sensations,

but also to continue seeking care after concerns have been diminished. Further, networks allowed some access to second opinions that would be more sympathetic to concerns. In this dissertation, I am extending the insight provided by the cultural health capital framework by underscoring age as a crucial component to who is more or less likely to have "cultural health capital" (Shim 2010). I also extend the concept by emphasizing social networks and access to informal medical consultation.

My findings offer insight into persistent racialized health outcomes for young adults with cancer. Black and Latinx young adults experience increased mortality across all cancers (Williams et al. 2012). While biomedicine often reduces racial disparities to differences in financial resources (Lee 2008), this racial disparity remains when controlling for insurance status and stage of presentation (Chao et al. 2015). One potential explanation for racialized health outcomes is racialized differences in diagnosis and treatment (see: Colton 2016). Others have demonstrated the perceived role of racism in encounters with medical professionals. These studies have demonstrated how BIPOC patients' concerns are taken less seriously than the concerns of white patients and that physicians believe Black people are less likely to comply with treatment (van Ryn and Burke 2000), making them less likely to put effort into diagnosing a patient's problem. My findings support these explanations, documenting perceptions of racism in patientprovider interactions for BIPOC young adults. These findings also extend this body of research, demonstrating how the racial demographics of the community and hospital impact patent-provider interactions. According to the Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Understanding and Eliminating Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care (2003:172-3):

Negative stereotypes about minorities' health explicitly or implicitly by physicians, can contribute to health disparities in a number of ways...conditions of time pressure, high cognitive demand, and stress are common to many healthcare settings, making these settings "ripe" for the activation of stereotypes.

Literature on racial health disparities often frames experiences of racism as "personal and situational," focusing on "unintentional" racism on the parts of health care providers.

Rather than understanding healthcare providers as "individuals" and encounters of racism as "situational," I understand healthcare providers as the embodiment of the medical system. Young adults' relationships with the medical system occur through various interactions. The choices the medical system makes in terms of training, support, and risk assessment for doctors, clinicians, and administrative staff communicate important messages about the medical system's relationship to bodies seeking care (See: Ernst, Nguyen, and Taylor 2013)⁶.

These findings have important implications. First, these perceptions may impact young adults' confidence in healthcare providers as they progress through diagnosis, treatment, and long-term follow-up care (see: Leydon et al. 2003; Schaepe 2011). They speak to the need for more racial and ethnic diversity within medicine overall and within medical specialties.

Overall, my findings demonstrate how the sociocultural construction of young adulthood as a life stage of health and assumptions of cancer as a disease of old-age are central to the diagnosis process for young adults with cancer. As such, sociocultural

66

⁶ In their audit study of "welfare offices" in Washington state, Ernst, Nguyen, and Taylor (2013: 1284), examine institutional racism by examining citizen-state interactions, asking, "Does the state send different messages about citizenship to individuals according to race?." While methodological differences persist, the view of individuals as larger state actors supports the idea that engagements with the medical system occur not only on an individual level.

expectations of health dictate an individual's perception of their own bodily sensations — and if they are contained — and how an individual perceives their bodily sensations to be interpreted by health care providers. This yields insight into how life course stage shapes young adult understanding of their bodies and how their bodies are perceived by health care professionals. I offer the term 'age-related blind spots," where young adults, clinicians, and medical systems are slow to recognize ill health in some young adult bodies, as a conceptual tool to capture how life course stage impacts diagnosis. My findings show that the simultaneous assumptions of health in young adulthood and cultural construction of cancer as a disease of old-age impact perception of cancer risk and symptom interpretation by individuals and health care providers and shape institutional policies and practices, leading to age-related blind spots for individuals, and bodies, that fall outside of societal expectations.

CHAPTER III

"THE YOUNGEST IN THE ROOM" EMBODIED ABERRATION IN TREATMENT

It is a rainy Tuesday morning. We pull into the already crowded parking lot at our local cancer center. The walls of the elevator are plastered with "Hope" and "Cure" in hues of light yellow, blue, and green. As we move through the cancer center, eyes follow us; we are met with looks of concern and pity.

We take a seat in the waiting room. The chairs are wooden with blue cushions. We opt for a double chair. The light wooden side tables have orchids on them. The orchids are always in bloom, a picture of health and beauty. During my time in this waiting room, I will witness a flower service rotating the plants, ensuring that patients are met with blossoms at the height of health.

His name is called. We follow an infusion nurse to the chemotherapy room. The flooring changes from carpet to tile. The chemo room is large and sterile, with small stations separated by a curtain for privacy. Each patient has their own small TV, a reclining chair, and a ready IV bag. We can pick the chair of our choice. My partner, who opted against a pic, or central line to the heart, spends his first few moments getting an IV. Early on, he was told he had "good veins," but over time, the blood work and subsequent doses of chemotherapy have taken their toll, and their quality has diminished. It takes a few times to get it right. A few weeks before, a bad seal caused some of the drugs to spill into his skin, leaving a still-visible discoloration..... He needs to pee. I get up with him, helping him roll his IV bag into the centrally located bathroom. I know that his urine will be bright red from doxorubicin, a chemo drug known as the "Red Devil." I feel all the eyes in the room on us. As I close the bathroom door and walk back to our seat, an older white woman whispers to me, "what kind of cancer does he have? He's so young...".

I wrote the preceding passage while my partner received treatment for Hodgkin's Lymphoma in late May 2016. Throughout my partner's cancer treatment, I took, for lack of a better word, field notes, documenting my experience as a caregiver. These field notes do not serve as data for this project. I have no plans for them to become more than they are; they are his story, not mine. However, I offer a portion of them here as a vignette to

illuminate how mundane experiences in a cancer center – moving through space – communicate who is expected and unexpected in an environment.

A body's experience of illness is unique and personal while also inextricable from the social realm in which it is embedded. While the body's experiences of cancer treatment and side effects may feel deeply individual, the significance attached to such experiences cannot be detached from the cultural expectations placed on that body; what it *should* and *should not* experience (Corbin 2003). As asserted by Douglas (2003:65), "the social body constrains the way the physical body is perceived," and the body's physical experience is "modified by the social categories through which it is known." This means that societal expectations and assumptions of young adult bodies shape the physical experience of a young adult body.

The cultural expectations placed on bodies become reflected in and codified by institutional arrangements. Spaces are designed for certain bodies. Bodies that occupy spaces not designed to accommodate them become othered, and bodies that challenge social expectations can be objectified, feel uncomfortable, and "out of place" (Ahmed 2007; Chandler 2019). For example, BIPOC (Black Indigenous, People of Color) bodies in white spaces (Fanon 2008; Anderson 2015; Woody 2021) and women in maledominated occupations (Cassell 1997). Ahmed (2007) demonstrates how whiteness orients bodies, impacting what they "do" and how they "take up space." In white spaces, inhabiting a body that is not white renders whiteness visible (Ahmed 2007; Woody 2021).

The role of the institutional environment in shaping the young adult experience of aberration can be further explained with the concept of misfit. Disability scholar

Rosemary Garland Thompson conceptualizes the relationship between the material environment and the body as misfit (2011). From this perspective, out-of-placeness can be understood as *misfit* that arises from an environment that does not sustain the shape and function of the body that enters it. With this, emphasis is placed on the material context of a space; environments are built for and sustain the "majority bodies," producing *fit*. The case of young adults with cancer provides a unique extension of this theorizing as fit and misfit is based not on the body of the individual but rather on the relational engagement of a body within the context of an institutional environment. Treatment centers are designed for the "majority bodies" of older patients. In this chapter, I conceptualize "cancer treatment" as an institutionalized space in-which young adults experience aberration in the physical space and medical practice. I describe how the consequence of this aberration, or misfit, contributes to a loss of agency for young adult bodies. I conclude with an in-depth discussion of one particularly salient consequence of aberration: loss of reproductive autonomy. My findings also suggest variations exist in the experience and consequences of aberration based on race, class, and gender.

Young adult Bodies as Aberration

The first theme expressed by the vast majority of young adult cancer patients was *bodily* aberration. I define bodily aberration as the experience that young adult bodies are outside the norm and feel "out of place." Fit occurs when one is "suited to the circumstances and conditions of the environment, of satisfying its requirements in a way so as not to stand out, make a scene, or disrupt through countering expectations" (Garland-Thompson 2011). Aberration represents both the embodied experience of the

young adult patient and the positionality of a young adult patient in medical knowledge.

This aberration results in a loss of agency for young adults.

Aberration in the Physical Space

Engaging with the cancer center was associated with embodied aberration. Here, aberration refers to the sense that young adult bodies with cancer were abnormal or out-of-place in those spaces dedicated to the treatment of cancer. Young adult bodies stood out in these spaces, challenging expectations of who is a cancer patient and what a cancer patient looks like. Out-of-placeness was communicated by the medical staff, other patients, and the design of the spaces themselves.

The surprised reactions from healthcare personnel communicated aberration. In one case, Paul (33, white, blood) recalls how nurses and administrative staff would assume one of his parents was the patient when they accompanied him to treatment: "I would have to tell them, 'nope, It's me.'" Lindsay (37, white, gynecological) describes the shock exhibited by a research fellow as she sought consent for the donation of Lindsay's organs, "She comes in, and my mom and I are sitting there, we're all giddy and happy and all of this because you know, why wouldn't I be happy I'm just giving away organs...She literally first walks in, and she just like stops in her tracks because she is not expecting somebody of age."

Aberration was also communicated by medical personnel who would question young adults about their symptom presentation, the experience of diagnosis, and family history in ways that communicated the novelty of young adult bodies at treatment centers. For example, Shannon (36, white, colorectal) recalls how her nurses, who were often similar in age, would ask about her symptoms and the diagnosis process in ways that

situated themselves in her experience. In doing so, they communicated the aberration of her body as if they had never before been faced with a young adult patient or considered that young adult bodies could have cancer. She explains, "[the nurses] are in this profession, but they're looking at me like *I need you to tell me how you knew you had cancer*. They're seeing me and thinking, 'Oh my gosh, this is something that could happen to me.'" Shannon also describes similar experiences with other medical doctors (excluding her oncologist) who questioned her about her symptoms. "When you get that from a doctor, it seems weird because, you know, they're a doctor, even if they're not the doctor for colon cancer, it just seems weird that they're asking for that information from the patient."

Young adults describe experiencing "hypervisibility" while receiving treatment and being the subject of stares. Sydney (28, white, blood) recalls receiving "pity stares" while receiving chemotherapy, referring to them as "the worst part of treatment." Jeremy (36, white, blood) recalls experiencing hypervisibility in the cancer center when marked as a cancer patient rather than a visitor accompanying someone else, "I saw few, if anyone, my age. On the occasions that I did [see people my age], they weren't patients... I felt stares and would be asked, you know, 'what kind of cancer do you have.' I remember during chemo, older folks would look at me like, *oh*, *that's so sad*." Jeremy's experience illuminates how aberration is tied directly to being a young adult cancer patient rather than a young body in a cancer center. He describes being "marked" as a patient in specific locations: while waiting for labs and while receiving chemotherapy, and by the side effects of chemotherapy, "chemo changes your body so much that it triggers... you as a patient." Garland-Thomson describes staring as "social choreography

that marks bodies by enacting a dynamic visual exchange between a spectator and a spectacle" (Sandahl and Auslander 2005:31). Staring communicates that a body is unanticipated and inexplicable. It communicates who is different and who is most unexpected.

Going to the cancer center and being the only young person...I felt like I stood out like a sore thumb in the waiting room and the infusion center [when] compared to everybody else who was there. When you're the only one, it's just like a constant visual reminder that *you're not supposed to be going through this*.

In a different example, Hector (19, Latinx, blood), treated at a pediatric cancer center, also experienced bodily aberration as a young adult. Pediatric cancer centers as "childish" with infantile-themed rooms and too-small furniture. Hector recalls having Marvel and Disney murals painted on the room's walls. Despite aberration in the physical space, pediatric cancer centers did offer patients a level of support unavailable in adult-cancer centers. For example, Hector's mother could stay in an on-site apartment, free of charge, for a few months during his hospitalization, and he and his family received gifts for the Christmas holiday. While welcome, these same services also posed a challenge to the autonomy of young adults, contributing to the "out-of-placeness" of young adult bodies.

Aberration in Medical Practices

The second articulation of young adult aberration was in medical practices.

Medical practices refer to policies and procedures, including treatment protocols, long-term follow-up care, and data on long-term side effects and survival rates.

Young adults were met with a dearth of medical research on young adult bodies. As such, aberrance was articulated in relation to the uncertainty of long-term side effects, late effects, and survival rates for young adults. The invisibility of young adults in cancer research is due in part to demographic patterns and incident rates and treatment advancements. Modern medicine is based on what Foucault (2012 [1977]) refers to as "normalizing judgments," where the attributes of one are compared to those of others. As young adults are less likely to be diagnosed with cancer, there is less medical information available about the population. Therapies used to treat cancer are associated with the risk of a second cancer later in life, with subsequent malignancies constituting 15 to 20% of all cancer diagnoses (Demoor-Goldschmidt and de Vathaire 2018). This uncertainty yields an age-specific concern for young adults based on their longer life expectancy and higher sensitivity to treatments (Demoor-Goldschmidt and de Vathaire 2018). For example, those receiving radiation therapy to the chest have a greater risk of breast and lung cancer, and some chemotherapy drugs are linked with developing secondary blood cancer. When treated, the patient's age impacts the risk of a second cancer; those treated at a younger age are more likely to develop a secondary cancer.

Young adult participants expressed frustration about the uncertainty of survival rates after the 20 year mark and the risk of a secondary cancer. Wendy (24, white, blood) asserts, "all the research on long-term survival and recurrence rates for young adults with blood cancer are 20-year studies. I was diagnosed at 21. So you know, in 20 years, I'll only be 41. It's like, 'okay, what happens *after* that?" She continues by clarifying that she is aware of changes in cancer treatments, but still expresses the desire for more information about young adult patients. "Treatments have changed, I get it, but I still

want to know more about [patients] diagnosed under 40." For Wendy, aberration results from current survival rates assume a patient is diagnosed in later adulthood. Wendy characterizes herself as a medical "guinea pig," a status that violates the expectations of health in young adulthood grounded in culture and the life course, exacerbating unease in her health status.

The out-of-placeness of young bodies in research meant that young adults experienced high levels of uncertainty associated with their current and future health status. Kimberly (26, white, colorectal), whose treatment included the removal of portions of the colon, bladder, and reproductive organs, and the lymphnodes in the pelvis, describes herself as a member of an "invisible cohort." "My doctors don't know what to expect from my body because young people don't usually get this treatment." This sentiment was also expressed by those with "good" cancers, those that were operable and could be removed completely with surgery. For example, when reflecting on the long-term side effects of her radical hysterectomy, Lindsay (37, white, gynecological) states:

I'm missing organs that produce hormones. So my body does not function. They were removed from my body when I was 34 years old. Instead of being 60, I'll have 30 years without [hormones] in my body. Like what's going to happen... It's so new. It's so recent for women, my age or younger to have, we don't have research on what happened at this age. We're like basically some form of fucked up guinea pigs of like what's going to happen to us.

Numerous young adults echoed this sentiment during a presentation on the importance of long-term follow-up care for young adults with hematological cancers. In one instance, a white man in his late thirties who experienced a secondary blood cancer following

chemotherapy, stood up and asked a prominent hematologist, "why do all the side effects of cancer treatments have to be other cancers? Lung, Colon, Blood. I'm serious, why can't they just make me taller or something?" In our interview, Sydney (28, white, blood) expressed a similar frustration, "I am only 28, and I'd like to live for another 40 or 50 years. I want to know what my long-term risks are." Mark (28, white, blood) describes the frustration of being treated in a space plastered with the language of "hope" but having medical professionals "that are supposed to have the answers" that can only offer unknowns about late effects and are unprepared for long-term follow-up care.

Cancer treatments are standardized into treatment protocols that provide a check the box approach to treatment. Steps must be completed in sequence before advancing to the next step. These guidelines are disseminated by entities like the National Cancer Institute (2022) to "standardize guidelines...in a uniform, clear, and consistent manner." Treatment protocols reflect and reinforce the supremacy of evidence-based medicine and the rhetoric of patient-centered care (Balxter 2009). Evidence based medicine has been critiqued by social science for its erasure of the patient and the discretionary power of the individual clinician (Mykhalovskiy and Weir 2004). Above all, evidence based medicine, "does not take sufficient account of patient values, nor has it a concept of alternative patient choices that might influence treatment decisions" (Mykhalovskiy and Weir 2004: 1062).

The erasure of the patient by evidence-based treatment protocols is particularly evident in the experience of young adults with cancer. Young adults are subject to the same treatment protocols as older adults. This means that concerns of central importance to young adults, including reproductive and sexual health, are often diminished or

neglected prior to the start of active treatment. This creates a contradiction: youth and age are hypervisible in the physical space but absent in the treatment of cancer. This is emphasized by Heather (31, white, colorectal), who states, "There are things that I felt robbed of it. My experience was not having a fertility discussion and not even having a discussion about sexual health. But then age being brought up *all the time*, but then it not being considered in the treatment."

Lindsay (37, white, gyno) locates aberration in the lack of age-specific treatment protocols:

I know we have so many other questions and there are so many things happening that I can't fault [my oncologist] for what happened. It's just the aspect that they don't have protocols for how to treat young adults. They don't have that. It's a gap in service. That's all it is. And that's the shitty ass part of it.

Lindsay articulates a similar frustration between the experience of young adult bodies in medical practice by distinguishing the experiences of pediatric and young adult cancer. She describes how pediatric cancer patients have age-specific treatment protocols and long-term follow-up care plans that "everyone sees" and describes the team approach to treatment absent in the experience of young adults, with "everyone seeing the patient at the same time." She draws a sharp distinction between this experience and that of young adults, "When you go to the adult section, it is just like, "hey, we're just gonna let you fly and throw you out of the nest and see what happens." Lindsay goes on to describe how she does not have a long-term follow-up care plan, despite her doctors publishing articles on their importance:

My doctor [wrote] in one of the psychology journals a load about the need for a long-term follow-up care plan. Not even long-term, just a *general* care plan. When one of her patients brought in the article and was like, 'Oh my God, I want this.' And she was like, "Sorry, we don't have that."

Long-term follow-up care plans organize information about an individual's cancer treatment and provide patient-specific information about recommended follow-up care, including frequency of check-ups, testing, and potential long-term and late treatment effects. Long-term follow-up care plans are particularly important for young adults at an increased risk of long-term and late treatment effects (compared with older adults). It is especially important to provide care plans to young adults as many do not continue with follow-up care, and adherence to follow-up care is not predicted by insurance status or disease type (Beaupin, Boldt, and Amato 2018)⁷.

For Eric (34, Black, blood), the lack of research on young bodies was especially salient in relation to guidelines and recommendations for physical activity for cancer patients. Eric describes that while his doctors always encouraged him to "stay active," they defined activity as "going for walks" and "just getting up and moving" rather than "laying in bed all day." When Eric, who performed high-intensity workouts before diagnosis, expressed interest in returning to the gym, his doctors instructed him to practice "exercises for old people." For Eric, the lack of research on young adult bodies and exercise constrained his agency by inhibiting a return to regular day-to-day activities while undergoing treatment. Eric went against medical advice and decided instead to

-

⁷ Beaupin, Boldt, and Amato (2018) find that almost 40% of young adults do not adhere to long-term follow-up care. My data does not demonstrate the same lack of adherence. This is likely because my sample was pulled from young adults actively involved in young adult cancer-related activities.

"listen to his body," stating that "after working out for so long, I knew when too much was too much." In recalling his experience reentering the world of physical activity, he describes a "disconnect" between medical practice and the limit of what his young body *actually* could do.

In a slightly different case, Donella (41, white, blood) describes their oncologist working to quell the experience of aberration by citing the rapid pace of cancer research and emphasizing that their cancer-type was common and thus thoroughly researched:

My doctor said one of the side effects of my chemo is leukemia in 10 years...He said, "that's ten more years of research, and cancer research is moving really fast now because so many people are affected by chemo. And this [research] specifically because so many people are affected by chemo, right? So a lot of funds go to trying to cure the cancers that people get from the chemo side effects because it's so popular. So he was really clear about the reason why it was good that my cancer wasn't a rare cancer.

In describing the research to cure cancers that occur as a late effect of chemotherapy as "popular," and emphasizing that Donella's cancer "wasn't rare," Donella's doctor is engaging in care work to minimize any experience of aberration by citing the prevalence of both research and incidents of cancer-type in medical practice.

Complicating Aberration

For BIPOC young adults, age and race intersect to shape experiences of aberration in majority-white spaces. Jade (29, black, blood) describes how the store at the cancer center did not carry wigs to match her natural hair texture. "I went to the boutique store before treatment...[where] they have all the different wigs you can look at. None of

them were the right color or texture, they were all straight. It was so frustrating because I didn't get the option to look like myself." Jade's experience is not isolated, as few wigs match Black women's natural hair texture. This is particularly problematic as the wigs purchased at cancer center boutiques are covered by health insurance. This example demonstrates the interplay of cultural and institutional racism (Carter 1995) as straight hair, deemed more desirable and acceptable than natural hair textures, becomes institutionalized into medical practices, creating a differential outcome for Black women navigating hair loss after chemotherapy.

Eric (34, Black, blood) describes how his experience of aberration differed based on whether he was or was not perceived as a patient. He describes feeling increasingly out of place because of his race and age as a young Black man when wearing personal protective equipment. "I am a huge Black dude like covered head to toe wearing masks and gloves... You can imagine the reactions I got, right?". Eric, who has had to take more precautions to protect himself from infection during periods of his treatment, describes how the intersection of his age and race exacerbates his experience of aberration, especially in those spaces where he is marked as a patient. As Eric "never really looked sick," when not marked as a patient, he describes hospital staff assuming he was a "football player coming to the hospital to visit the kids" rather than a patient attending appointments. This assumption by hospital staff reflects the controlling image of Black men as athletes that is central to maintaining White supremacy (Ferber 2007; Collins 2005).

Hector (19, Latinx, blood) experienced out-of-placeness based on language. He describes struggling to comprehend medical information himself and having to piece together instructions with his mother, who is a nonnative English speaker:

My mother has trouble communicating with people... she speaks [some] English, but at the same time, it's difficult for her at times. So, you know, trying to figure out insurance and medical forms, medications, treatment, anything really was just even more difficult for me... Every time they would talk to my mom or me, it would be hard to understand fully.

While Hector was sometimes able to act as an interpreter, his poor health left him "out of it" and, therefore, unable to understand all the information he was given. The Spanish-speaking social worker assigned to the case was not present at the majority of doctor-patient interactions. Medical environments built for English speakers did not sustain or support the full participation of Hector by failing to ensure that medical information was fully understood by himself and his family and preventing him from expressing concerns. Hector's example also demonstrates how the experience of aberration, whether based on medical knowledge or access to an interpreter, squashes young adult agency in the context of cancer treatment.

Some women found that gender intersected with age to create further gaps in medical knowledge, research, and skill about women's bodies. This was often experienced in relation to a lack of medical knowledge and experience surrounding pregnancy, lactation, and reproductive systems. Shannon (36, white, colorectal), who was "warned multiple times that her period would stop or be less frequent" as a side-effect of a particular chemotherapy regimen, experienced the "complete opposite" reaction: "I

started getting my period every three weeks...and it lasted for 14 days". She reflects that her doctors "don't have the data" to understand the impact of chemotherapy on young women's reproductive health: "they just aren't aware that, like not all young women react the same way or [that not all] menstrual cycles react the same way."

There was an overarching failure to consider the impact of treatment on women's bodies. Oncologists failed to acknowledge or minimized side effects like menopause and treatment-induced vaginal stenosis. Alexis (38, white, colorectal) recalls her doctor describing treatment-induced menopause as "not that big of a deal." "I was just getting through surgery and then being told, okay, now you need radiation. And by the way, you're going to be going through menopause." In the following excerpt, she continues by describing the impact of treatment on her sexual health:

Radiation really dries out your vagina. Like I had one period after radiation... I tried to use a tampon, and it was so painful to put a Tampon in because you just lose all of your natural lubricants. It was so painful...after that, it was almost a year before my husband, and I had sex. I don't think I've had vaginal intercourse since I got diagnosed. It just makes sex really hard.

Radiation is a pillar of treatment for colorectal cancer. Unfortunately, a common side effect of radiation is vaginal stenosis, the closing and drying out of the vagina, making vaginal sex painful or, in some cases, impossible. Through his work as a patient navigator Carlos (Latinx, colorectal) has learned that there is an "easy fix" to prevent vaginal stenosis:

Most of these women aren't being told [about these side effects]. They're just being told, 'you need radiation.' Well, there's an easy fix to [prevent vaginal

stenosis], using a dilator during radiation. These women have no idea. And now they're living the rest of their lives, whether they are cured or not, unable to have sex.

Treatment-induced vaginal stenosis is a common side effect in uterine, cervical, vaginal, and colorectal cancers treated with radiation. Despite this prevalence, young adults in my sample, like Alexis, were not offered this "easy fix." Carlos continues, "you know, we're all humans. Sex is just something that you get to do. Well, not if you are a woman who was denied that information."

The intersection of age and gender in aberration was experienced by young adults who were pregnant or lactating. Chloe (34, white, breast), diagnosed at 17 weeks pregnant, describes switching treatment centers after her oncologist and surgeon expressed a lack of familiarity with pregnant bodies: "I didn't feel comfortable with them, having never treated a pregnant woman with cancer before." Similarly, Amanda (33, white, breast) describes her experiencing out-of-placeness as both a pregnant and lactating body. Amanda recalls that her medical team was unfamiliar with pregnancy-induced breast tissue changes and could not correctly interpret medical images. Amanda also describes that a lack of knowledge associated with experience treating lactating bodies served as an obstacle in locating a surgical oncologist to perform her mastectomy:

I remember hearing the risks ten times over... "There are so many risks that could happen with a lactating mother. I could leave milk behind, which could cause an infection, or I could leave a little bit of [tissue] behind, which could still continue to produce milk." I mean, I've heard it all. The only thing that I wanted...was the opportunity, like I wanted somebody to take it on and say, "I respect the fact that

you want to breastfeed your child, and we'll do this as long as you understand the risks" and then just move on with it and not be like, I'm not doing this because of the risks.

A lack of medical experience performing a mastectomy on a lactating body made it difficult for Amanda to find a surgical oncologist willing to respect her decision to breastfeed her child before a mastectomy, despite the risk and potential complications. This experience demonstrates the lack of familiarity with lactating bodies in oncology and the lack of knowledge about changes in the body associated with breastfeeding. Such control of women's bodies by male-dominated medical professionals has been documented by feminist scholarship (See: Our Bodies, Ourselves 2011). Women's reproductive systems and lactation are seen as aberration in the consideration, demonstrating variation by gender.

Consequences of Aberration: Treatment Induced Infertility

One of the most salient ways that aberration results in a loss of agency is in the loss of reproductive autonomy. This is a particularly important concern for young adults as reproductive behaviors occur in only a portion of the life course, young adulthood. Over half of respondents expressed the lack of bodily control over reproductive choices due to treatment-induced infertility or *the potential* of treatment-induced infertility. Healthcare professionals serve as a key source of information and counsel about the implications of cancer for fertility (Ussher et al. 2016). Previous studies demonstrate that young adults do not receive adequate information regarding treatment-related risk for infertility and available fertility preservation methods (Armuand et al. 2015; Penrpse et al. 2012; Peddie et al. 2012; Ussher et al. 2016). Women are less likely to receive this

information, with 48% receiving information about the impact of treatment on fertility, 14% receiving information about fertility preservation methods, and only 2% undergoing some form of fertility preservation (Armuand et al. 2015). Cancer survivors often worry about infertility and regret not being offered options for fertility preservation (Barbour et al. 2012). Oncologists do not discuss fertility with patients due to a lack of knowledge, the perception that discussions about fertility preservation will distress patients (Quinn et al. 2009), poor patient prognosis, and time constraints (Ussher et al. 2016). Oncologists also report that treating cancer is more important than fertility preservation (Adams et al. 2013).

When engaging with fertility-related issues, young women across race and class groups experienced similar interactions with healthcare professionals. The majority of young women reported that oncologists did not discuss the impact of treatment on a young adults' fertility, discussed fertility only when asked directly by the patient (often "too late" for preservation to be considered), or failed to provide adequate information about various fertility preservation methods. When the side effects of treatment included a certain or potential loss of fertility were disclosed, options for fertility preservation were presented as nonessential and an unnecessary postponement of treatment. Overall, the overarching narrative offered by young women was that fertility-related discussions were "less than adequate." This is consistent with prior research that demonstrates the problems associated with fertility-related conversations for cancer patients (Armuand et al. 2015; Penrpse et al. 2012; Peddie et al. 2012) with medical research calling fertility preservation in cancer patients, infertility treatment among survivors, and the

consequences of reproductive dysfunction a "current challenge" in oncology⁸ (Bolaji, Saha, and Sze 2014). The prevalence of fertility-related concerns for young adults was echoed in participant observations.

Underlying the potential loss of fertility is the expectation of *presumed fertility*: that young adult bodies were (in)fertile and that traditional methods of conception would be available to them. Infertility bodies become (dis)abled for failure to reproduce.

(In)fertility is often framed as a "choice," such as delaying childrearing while pursuing education or a career. Young adults further reflect this as a loss of control over the "choice" to have children, to control their reproductive future. The expectation that young adults control their reproductive abilities is deeply racialized, classed, and gendered. This loss was expressed by respondents who prioritized having children before diagnosis, those who did not, and those who were already parents. For many, the potential loss of fertility served as a metaphor for a larger loss of agency over one's body.

Heather (31, white, colorectal) and her husband planned to begin trying to conceive shortly before her late-stage colorectal cancer diagnosis. Before commencing treatment, she was given "zero options" for preserving her fertility:

I didn't know that I could do anything. I didn't know I could freeze eggs. I didn't know there was a surgical procedure where they [could move] my ovaries from the radiation range. I had no clue. [My oncologist] basically told me, "you're going to go through menopause, but you're going to be dead in five years if you

(Bolaji et al. 2014).

⁸It is important to note that many patient-specific concerns dictate if and what kind of fertility preservation methods are appropriate. These include: "patient's age, cancer stage, proposed treatment regime and time before it is initiated, availability of partner sperm, and issues of individual patients. The latter include surgical complications, ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome, delay in cancer treatment and reintroduction of cancer cells, cost, low success rates and experimental nature of these treatments, and the disposition of gametes if the patient does not survive [their] cancer"

don't do this." And I was sitting with my mom in that room, and I remember looking over at her, and she said, "I want grandbabies, but to do that, you have to be alive." So I signed the paper. I mean, I was scared for my life, and I came out of it in full menopause, and I can't have any kids. It's one of those things like if you have the choice to choose not to be a parent, you still have the choice. And I feel like I didn't have any choices. I felt like someone reached inside and pulled something out of me without me asking for it. And I felt very, not betrayed, but I felt very violated. Like they took something from me, like something tangible, physical. They took it from me.

Perhaps more illuminating about the loss of fertility is the reaction from young adults who did not plan on having children. Despite the stated decision to be childless by choice prior to cancer, the lack of transparency associated with fertility options was experienced as a challenge to their wider reproductive choices. In this way, failure to adequately address (in)fertility and potential for preservation should be understood in terms of a reproductive justice framework. It is also important to note that access to reproduction has been a central concern of BIPOC women, who have been subject to coercive sterilization and birth control (Roberts 2014).

Despite being diagnosed with reproductive-based cancer, Lindsay's (37, white, gynecological) healthcare team did not explicitly disclose the impact of treatment on her fertility. In recalling her experience with fertility-related communication, she describes her experience as *not knowing anything*. "It was us not knowing anything about [fertility preservation methods] and not knowing what [treatment] meant [for my fertility], not knowing anything." After two years of remission, Lindsay had a reoccurrence that

"cancer journey" at her pre-surgery consultation while signing medical consent forms.

The topic was initiated by her mother, who asked about fertility preservation and egg retrieval. In response, her doctor asked about Lindsay's relationship status, stating that their protocol necessitated retrieved eggs to "already be fertilized." When Lindsay disclosed that she was not in a relationship, her doctor closed the issue, "it was like 'ixnay' for that, within 10 seconds. It's done without even being discussed." Lindsay, who was unsure if she wanted to have children, emphasizes that she is more distressed about losing control over reproductive choices: "that's the part that bothers me more [than the loss of fertility], that it's not my choice. It was taken away from me. It's that aspect of it."

Despite not planning to have children, Jasmin (38, black, colorectal) describes a similar loss of control in response to her oncologist's failure to discuss the impact of her treatment on her fertility: "No I wasn't planning on having any children. But when that is taken away from you, it's like, 'Holy Shit, I can't have children.'" Young adults with children also expressed the loss of control over fertility. For example, Amanda, a mother with two young children, expresses, "I do get a little bit sad every time I think about it. I mean, we're still pretty young and I feel like a lot of our friends are having their third [child] or you know, having a fourth [child] or whatever the case may be. And you know, that choice was taken away from us."

Compared to the experience of women, men were more likely to be offered fertility preservation methods prior to the start of treatment or have fertility preservation built into treatment protocols. This supports prior research findings and is attributed to the relative ease of sperm collection and preservation compared to egg retrieval. Mark

(27, white, blood) recalls how his oncologist integrated the discussion of treatment-related infertility and options for sperm preservation into his first appointment before diagnostic testing had determined the cancer stage or location.: "[My oncologist] said they couldn't guarantee vitality after treatment and that if we were planning on having children in the future, that was a life planning thing they recommended we explore ."For Michael (33, white, testicular), sperm cell retrieval was built into his radical inguinal orchiectomy, co-occurring with the removal of one testicle. He acknowledges that "traditional methods" of fatherhood are "absolutely impossible," stating, "I must be sterile as a bottle of ethyl alcohol from blasting radiation directly in my testicle," but has frozen sperm available if he ever wants to try and have children.

While social and cultural discourses construct infertility as a women's disease and young women were less likely to receive information on the impact of treatment on fertility or engage in fertility preservation methods, not all men could bank sperm before starting treatment. This occurred when fertility preservation could not fit into an "immediate urgency" timeline or because fertility preservation methods were unsuccessful. For example, while Joshua's (33, Black, blood) doctor did encourage sperm banking before treatment, the samples he provided were not viable. This is likely because cancer can decrease the quality of sperm even before treatment commences (Ku et al. 2015). Low sperm counts are especially common in cases of Hodgkin's Lymphoma, the cancer type with which Joshua was diagnosed. Joshua was scheduled to begin treatment within a few days, so he did not have to pursue alternative fertility treatments or sperm collection methods before beginning chemotherapy. While it is challenging to predict

spermatogenesis recovery, and there is a chance Joshua will be able to biologically father children, he describes "accepting" the reality that "fatherhood likely isn't an option."

Eric (34, Black, blood) recalls being told that sperm preservation was unnecessary as his treatment was not associated with loss of fertility, "my doctors said, 'plenty of guys have fathered children on this medicine'." So when his first relapse was detected, he immediately began intravenous chemotherapy, leaving no time to bank sperm:

Knowing the implications [of treatment without prior banking], that I would never be able to father children, that one sort of hit home pretty hard. It was rough. Up until then, my whole dream, the picture of my life, was to have a son and daughter. I'd teach my son how to play catch with a football and have tea parties with my daughter. That was my ideal situation. Having that ripped away from me took away a piece of what I'd hoped for. It took away my manhood.

Normative (heterosexual) masculinity is characterized by able-bodiedness, virility, and the fathering of children (Gurevich et al. 2004; Rome 2021). Reproductive ability is vital to stabilizing gender identity within the cultural context of idealized and compulsory heterosexuality (Butler 1990). For Eric, reproductive failure is framed as an inability to achieve a normative (heterosexual) masculine identity. For young adults, loss of fertility is not just the ability to produce biological children and challenge normative, heterosexual gender identities but also a fundamental shift in how they understand their future --- and even further, their ability to control, to have a choice, on their future. To have that choice taken away—often without informed consent – transforms merely an emotional response, but turns into a visceral, embodied violation.

Discussion

Young adults with cancer felt as if their bodies were outside the norm and "outof-place" in cancer centers and medical practice. This aberration was communicated by
the medical staff, other patients, and the design of the spaces themselves. It was rare for
respondents to encounter other young adults in their cancer center. Out-of-placeness was
reinforced by the reactions of clinicians, staff, and other patients, to the presence of a
young adult body. Young adult bodies were also outside the norm in medical research
and treatment protocols, which were based on the experience of older adults. Lack of
available knowledge meant that doctors often expressed uncertainty about long-term
survival rates (after 20 years), long-term side effects, and failed to offer young adults
long-term follow-up care plans to medicate this uncertainty. I show how aberration
results in a loss of young adult agency in the treatment of cancer. I illustrate the
consequence of aberration in one particularly salient site: reproductive autonomy.

This chapter explores the implications of aberration in one particular salient site: reproductive autonomy. I find that in decisions about fertility preservation, the locus of agency lies outside young adults. The oncologist decided to preserve or not to preserve fertility. For young men, sperm donation is built into diagnosis protocols. The majority of young women describe having "no choice" to preserve fertility, being "not offered any options" for fertility preservation, and having fertility "pushed to the side."

Nonparticipation was evident in the language employed by young women as they assert, "no one told me" and "I didn't know." For both young men and women, oncologists determined if fertility preservation was an option; young adults had no real choice except to yield to treatment protocols and their clinicians.

Privilege and oppression shaped the embodied experience of aberration. While most respondents expressed aberration or out-of-placeness, white male respondents commonly articulated distress in their age-based aberration in physical space. This likely occurs because of histories of white supremacy and settler colonialism which have crafted medical systems and institutions for white male bodies. As white bodies are accustomed to the entitlement and privilege of being comfortable in space, this out of placeness due to age was articulated as more distressing. For BIPOC young adults in majority white spaces, race and age intersected in experiences of aberration in physical spaces. Young women struggled with the lack of medical knowledge related to women's bodies, particularly in reference to pregnancy, lactation, and reproductive and sexual health. This aberration challenged women's agency and decision-making regarding parenting and family formation and created long-term consequences for sexual health.

Oncologists were singularly focused on treating cancer and failed to consider the young adult patient in decision-making. This sentiment is expressed by Carlos (32, Latinx, colorectal):

I think that when you are diagnosed, especially when you're younger, most people do want to see you live longer. I use the term 'doctors want to cure you to death.' As long as you live, anything beyond [cancer treatment] isn't all that important. And that includes psychosocial, mental health, that includes fertility. That includes a lot of different things that aren't discussed when you're diagnosed.

This was exacerbated by the use of protocols that did not consider concerns of central importance to young adults, including reproductive and sexual health, which are often diminished or neglected before the start of active treatment. This supports prior research

suggesting that protocols take away the agency of cancer patients, offering an illusion of "choice" that does not exist (Blaxter 2004). I extend this thinking, demonstrating how the construction of treatment protocols based on older adult bodies fails to acknowledge the age-specific concerns of young adults.

It is easy to assume that the misfit associated with young adult bodies results from the numerical minority of young adults with cancer, which accounts for only five percent of the total cancer incidents. This logic is challenged when comparing incidents of childhood and adolescent cancer and young adult cancer. According to National Cancer Institute (2022), around 15,000 children and adolescents are diagnosed with cancer each year compared with 89,000 young adults. More than 90% of children and adolescents diagnosed with cancer are treated at children's cancer centers. These treatment centers are affiliated with the Children's Oncology Group (COG), which maintains strict standards in the treatment of childhood and adolescent-specific cancer care, including treatment protocols and long-term follow-up care. As such, the misfit of young adults with cancer is not reducible to their numeric minority.

The previous theorizing on the body in the era of biomedicine highlights how to experience illness is to occupy a deviant space. It is important to note that, in the space of biomedicine, it is deviant to be sick. Illness and death have been institutionalized and moved outside the space of the home. As such, in many ways, to be sick at all is to be an aberration. I extend this thinking to demonstrate how biomedicine has not only created the context for illness to be an aberration but how this deviance of illness is age specific. For young adults, the deviance of illness as it moves through the world of biomedicine is

more acute and more salient as the spaces construct and reinforce age-specific expectations of ill health in older adulthood.

Research in social work and nursing has identified key experiences of young adults with cancer with particular emphasis placed on experiences of isolation, access to fertility preservation, and financial impacts of treatment. Notably, such studies are often descriptive and designed to provide insight into patient navigators and medical professionals as to the specific concerns of the population. Such approaches are useful, particularly as they demonstrate the concrete needs of young adults with cancer and intend to shape in-house practices. This project moves beyond descriptive discussions of young adult needs to emphasize how bodily expectations are culturally and institutionally informed – and age-specific. I also complicate existing research to demonstrate how the emphasis on the experience of age-based aberration varies based on gender and race.

My findings extend this research, highlighting the underlying bodily experience of aberration as the source of such isolation. While it is true that cancer in young adulthood is less common than cancer in older adults, the visibility of childhood cancers in the cultural imagination demonstrates how this isolation is not purely based on numbers but rather supported (or rather not supported) by medical systems and institutions. While others have identified young adults as needing more 'support spaces,' this chapter draws attention to how institutions reinscribe age-specific expectations onto bodies.

Existing literature in medical sociology has given special attention to medicine's approach to women's health, reproduction, and childbirth. This work extends this literature by examining experiences of fertility-related communication and intervention

on young women's bodies. The loss of control over fertility supports previous medical research that labels fertility preservation in cancer patients, infertility treatment among survivors, and consequences of reproductive dysfunction as a "current challenge" (Bolaji et al. 2014). When faced with an off-time illness, healthcare professionals serve as a key source of information and counsel about the implications of cancer for fertility (Ussher et al. 2016).

This research extends this literature by placing emphasis not on fertility per se but rather on control over one's reproductive future and sexual health. In the context of embodied health movements and reproductive justice, physician-related communication is central. This demonstrates the need for informed consent, even when fertility preservation may not be deemed practical. Young adults must be given complete information regarding fertility-based decisions by practical medical personnel.

CHAPTER IV

BIOGRAPHICAL AND CULTURAL DISRUPTIONS

"In your sixties or fifties getting diagnosed [with cancer] maybe you're right before retirement or whatever. But [as a young adult] you're in the middle of your career, right before a big promotion...right when your life is starting, you know? Right when you're planning to have kids or right when you got pregnant, all these other things and all of that, it just cuts you out at the knees in a totally different way. You don't have a savings account, you don't have a retirement plan, you don't have a 401k, you don't have anything. And then you have to go back to your parents' [house] and you literally have to become like the kid again." – Lindsay, 37, white, middle class, diagnosed with gynecological cancer at 31.

As Lindsay's excerpt highlights, the experience of cancer in young adulthood disrupts the life course trajectory in a manner fundamentally different from the disruption experienced by an older adult. Here, I explore how a cancer diagnosis during the young adult life stage impacts young adults' plans, expectations, and everyday life: How does cancer impact future plans and expectations? What are the potentially long-term and cascading effects? How do social institutions work to mitigate or exacerbate the impact of off-time illness? To answer these questions, I focus on two emergent arenas: 1) education and occupation and 2) relationships, intimacy, and family formations. In essence, I seek to understand how the experience of cancer at the critical juncture of young adulthood challenges young adults' expected trajectories and the potentially long-term consequences of such disruptions.

Biographical disruption is a central concept in the sociological work examining the experience of chronic illness. In this framework, illness is a "major kind of disruptive experience or...critical situation" that disrupts daily life, expectations, and plans for the

future, necessitating a fundamental rethinking of biography and self-concept (Bury 1991; 1982:169). Initially theorized in relation to chronic illness, the biographical disruption framework has been applied to cancer experiences, reflecting the transition of cancer from an acute to chronic illness as survival rates increase. Prior scholarship in this area finds cancer is "disruptive" (Cayless et al. 2010) and "identity-altering" (Mathieson and Stam 1995) with "ongoing physical and psychosocial impacts" (Hubbard, Kidd, and Kearney 2010; Hubbard and Forbat 2012).

Despite this vast application, central critiques of the biographical disruption framework point to its failure to acknowledge how social structure, timing, and context shape experiences of illness. For example, prior scholarship cautions against the universal application of the biographical disruption framework (Faircloth et al. 2004; Pound et al. 1998; Williams 2000). Such perspectives argue that the extent of disruption caused by an illness depends on an individual's *life stage* and the *timing* of the illness in the life course (Wilson 2007). For example, Faircloth et al. (2004) find that older adults do not experience illness as disruptive but as a natural component of the aging process, consistent with "biographical flow." Similarly, examining the experience of older cancer patients, Sinding and Wiernikowski (2008) find that older women who endured social hardships were less likely to experience cancer as biographical disruption. Despite the stated importance of timing and life stage, the vast majority of studies utilizing the biographical disruption framework either rely on samples of older adults or heterogeneous samples that include individuals from various life stages. As young adulthood is a transition period, we can assume that the biographical disruption caused by illness during the young adult life stage will be qualitatively different. In this chapter, I

address both these critiques of the biographical disruption framework by focusing on the experience of individuals at one life course stage, young adulthood, and by being attentive to the role of institutions in mitigating or exacerbating the disruption of cancer during young adulthood.⁹.

Young adulthood is a period of transition and change (Mortimer and Aronson 2000, Shanahan 2000). As dependence on family declines, individuals begin to establish careers and intimate relationships and assert autonomy from natal family (Seiffe-Krenke 2006). Traditionally, markers of adulthood included completing education, entering the labor force, becoming financially independent, getting married, and becoming a parent (Mortimer and Aronson 2000; Shanahan 2000). However, in recent decades the transition to adulthood is increasingly complex and non-linear (Furlong 2017; Arnett 2011). Young adults are buying homes, getting married, and parenting later than previous generations (Manning 2020).

Cultural and political shifts of recent decades have made young adulthood a life course stage of increasing instability, making it increasingly challenging to achieve the traditional markers of adulthood (Arnett 2011; Furlong 2017). Globalization, technology, outsourcing, the weakening of labor unions, and the spread of neoliberal economic doctrines have resulted in a rise in contingent, precarious, and dependent self-employment. In this hostile labor market employment is insecure and unstable, with limited social benefits (Beck 2000). The emergence of precarious labor markets is central

_

⁹I believe that, too often, the emphasis on the individual's experience of illness can serve to *individualize* the critique. Perhaps, given economic changes and the uniqueness of young adulthood, the disruption cannot be understood without examining larger structural forces. In keeping the analysis within Bury's framework, this could be understood as how an individual young adult mobilizes resources to "normalize" the disruption caused by illness. I, however, emphasize institutions not to normalize the reliance on private familial resources. Rather, I draw attention to gaps in societal programs that could otherwise foster resilience in the context of disruption.

to the experience of young adulthood as finding – and maintaining – *secure* employment is necessary to achieve the subsequent markers of adulthood (Furlong 2017). The growth of precarious work has disproportionally impacted young adults who face hurdles in launching careers and experience the highest unemployment and underemployment rates. These patterns persist despite young adults having the highest levels of post-secondary education. Even highly educated young adults struggle to find secure full-time employment that meets their educational attainment (Furlong 2017) and are subject to credential inflation, where jobs require a higher level of education (van de Werfhorst 2009). Recognizing the economic and cultural context of the young adult life stage, I argue that biographical disruptions, at the critical juncture of the young adult life stage, must be understood in terms of their potential long-term and cascading effects.

In this analysis, I focus less on the impact of biographical disruption on young adults' identity (although I acknowledge this often enormous impact) and more on young adults' reports of *how* their biographical trajectories were disrupted by illness and *how* disruptions were mitigated or exacerbated by institutions. Importantly, this perspective emphasizes the role of the institutional environment in shaping the experience of disruption and young adult resilience to illness. I offer the term *institutionally supported resilience* as a conceptual tool to underscore the role of institutions – rather than individuals – in sustained and supportive resilience.

Disrupted Biographies and Interrupted Lives

The biographical disruption framework focuses on how chronic illness disrupts life events and trajectories. A central finding of this dissertation is that an off-time cancer diagnosis disrupts the everyday lives, plans, and expectations of young adults. The age

range of participants (18-39) means that the articulation of transitions and disruptions varied; however, participants believed that illness-related disruptions had long-term implications. Disruptions to the life trajectories were multidimensional, overlapping, and not mutually exclusive, with a disruption related to education and employment cooccurring with disruptions to relationships, intimacy, and family formations. In the following sections, I outline the two most commonly experienced disruptions by young adults with cancer: 1) education and employment, 2) relationships, intimacy, and family formations. For each subsection, I emphasize the role of institutions in alleviating or exacerbating this disruption.

Education and Employment Related-disruptions

Similar to other people with cancer, all young adults experienced disruptions to expectations and plans associated with education and employment with potentially long-lasting implications. While disruptions to education and employment were universal, they manifested differently as respondents were pursuing different goals, at different stages of their professional lives, and received vastly diverse treatment regimens. In the following section, I show how a cancer diagnosis in young adulthood forced respondents to dramatically change how they engaged in educational and work-related activities, reducing work and education hours, leaving university or the workforce, and, in some cases, forcing entirely new educational and career directions. Young adults who continued working had difficulty incorporating treatment schedules with work hours. These findings highlight the importance of flexibility in work schedules, access to short and long-term disability, and the Americans with Disability Act (ADA) protections, including reasonable accommodations. Continued involvement in work and educational

activities maintained a sense of purpose while also maintaining eligibility for health insurance.

The timing of this disruption during young adulthood meant that many respondents were at the onset or upswing of their professional lives, leading some to either pursue the same long-term career goals despite obstacles or reimagine new futures. While a cancer diagnosis in older adulthood likely causes individuals to adjust work and education-related activities, older adults are more likely to have completed their education, have established employment, and may be either retired or nearing retirement age. This timing, at a plateau of professional life, means that activities can likely be resumed more easily than at the critical juncture of young adulthood.

Education

The vast majority of young adult respondents who were enrolled in higher education at the time of diagnosis experienced some form of disruption to their educational trajectories, forcing them to postpone program completion, reduce course load, or withdraw entirely. Hector (19, Latinx, blood) withdrew from community college weeks after the beginning of his first semester. While Hector was eager for the new semester to begin, symptoms of his undiagnosed cancer left him unable to attend the first day of classes. "I wanted to make sure everything was right. Taking the right classes and starting off my first semester right." He continues, "I didn't even get to go to my first day of college cause the symptoms were initially so bad. I was crying in the morning when I woke up and my mom told me not to go to school and so I didn't." Over the next two weeks, prior to his diagnosis, he attended classes despite "felt shitty and lost every day" due to pain. Hector was hospitalized immediately following his diagnosis, forcing him to

withdraw from community college a month into the semester. In reflecting on the timing of this disruption, he characterizes the transition into college as the "time to find yourself" and "explore life." He reflects: "[my friends and I] were entering the real world, you know, finding ourselves...we were figuring ourselves out, what we really wanted. My friends were doing things that I couldn't do." Although he was eventually able to reenroll in college, he feels that the disruption of his transition into higher education had long-term implications on his transition to adulthood.

For Eric (34, Black, blood), the physical limitations imposed by cancer treatment upended long-established educational and occupational goals. Eric was preparing for medical school and had an internship at a hospital when he was diagnosed with blood cancer: "Everything changed. Work and school were put on hold because I couldn't work in that setting with a shot immune system." His treatment included a hematopoietic stem cell transplant where healthy stem cells are transplanted into the bone marrow of blood. Unfortunately, stem cell transplants result in the loss of vaccinations, including those needed to work in a clinical setting. While Eric was revaccinated after 18 months, not all vaccinations were successful. "They all took except for the one you should have if you're working in a hospital setting. I talked to my doctors about it, and they said I'd be able to sign a waiver and get back to working in the hospital if I wanted, but they wouldn't advise it just because my immune system is so shot." Eric decided against returning to his internship and declined the offer of admission for medical school. In reflecting on this disruption, Eric states, "life was just beginning...and my entire life and everything that I'd worked for until that point was put on hold."

For Isabelle (26, Latinx, blood), the flexibility of higher education allowed her to

remain enrolled for the duration of treatment by reducing her course load each semester and selectively scheduling her classes. "I was able to schedule my chemotherapy for Fridays [in order to be] feeling better for a Tuesday class." Similarly, Ph.D. student Shannon (36, White, colorectal), who had completed her coursework, found that graduate school provided a level of flexibility that would be impossible in her prior work experience. "While going through this while doing my Ph.D. is not ideal, it has also fit in better to this lifestyle than it would have if I were working at my old job where you are supposed to be at work every single day. Where here, I can stay home Wednesday through Friday when I'm on chemo, and it's not that big of a deal." While the flexibility of higher education allowed Isabelle and Shannon to remain involved in educational activities, it was not protective against the disruption of their educational trajectories. For Isabelle and Shannon, a reduced course load extended their timeline to degree completion. The postponing of program completion was particularly troubling for Shannon, who had only five years of guaranteed departmental funding.

Employment

Carlos (32, Latinx, colorectal), diagnosed three months after starting a new job as a stylist, found himself unable to work "immediately" after diagnosis. He describes how his trajectory was "completely interrupted" by diagnosis and subsequent treatment: "I wasn't able to work pretty much immediately. The first surgery happened so quick, and it was very intricate and involved, and then chemo was so hard on me that I wasn't able to work" Carlos remained on disability for two years, during which he describes himself as "sitting at home, trying to get through chemo and trying to heal from all these surgeries."

Sydney (28, white, blood), who "loved her job," was forced to take a leave of

absence from work and relocate from her rural town to a metropolitan area to receive care at a large cancer center. In her absence, her company filled her position. While she was promised a job upon completion of treatment, she describes uncertainty over what the position will be:

I'm so grateful that I work for a place that's allowed me to take time off...But on the other side, it's really scary too. I got to pick that job. I applied for it. They selected me. It was something I knew I wanted. I'm going back in and I don't know if I'm going to want it. Obviously, I'm going to take whatever they give me, but it's just kind of weird not knowing what my life's going to look like when I go back to work.

For those fortunate to maintain their pre-cancer positions, some feared their diagnosis would limit their potential for promotion and career advancement. As recounted by Martin (multiracial, 28, blood), "my first thought [after diagnosis] was, I'm never going to get out of this job. I'm going to be the sick kid so they're not going to want to promote me." Martin demonstrates the interrelatedness of an illness-related occupational disruption with a reformation of self-concept and how the perception of self is dependent on others (see: Cooley 1902). Martin develops a self-concept based on how he imagines that he appears to others as "the sick kid."

The decision to leave or reduce work hours negatively impacted the financial well-being and self-concept of many respondents, who, adhering to the cultural expectation of young adulthood, emphasized the importance of both their work and financial independence for their identity. Heather (31, white, colorectal), a self-described "workaholic," asserted, "I've thought about [the impact] on my job more than my family.

I'm hardwired to think about my job." Jennifer (39, white, sarcoma) describes the decision to leave her "dream job" as "devastating on all fronts", "I had my dream job and had to leave it because of this disease."

As young adults returned to work, cancer-related employment discrimination was a key concern. This concern was particularly salient for young adults who were beginning their occupational trajectories and lacked secure (pre-diagnosis) employment, a robust work history, and access to formal (short-term and long-term disability) and informal (offering to "hold" positions) job benefits. Stigma and workplace discrimination are central barriers to employment for cancer survivors (Stergiou-Kita, Pritlove, and Kirsh 2016). Frears of discrimination made some reluctant to disclose their diagnosis and found themselves having difficulty explaining long gaps in their resume or requesting reasonable accommodations at work. Fear of employment discrimination was particularly salient for young adults with metastatic disease who wished to reestablish employment after a period of unemployment.

The rise of social media and the prevalence of sharing one's "cancer story" also created obstacles to overcoming disrupted occupational trajectories, making young adults more susceptible to employment discrimination. Social media usage is common for young adults (Perrin 2015), and many young adults with cancer rely on online communities to connect with other young adults (Perales et al. 2016). In the current internet era, almost 80% of employers often "google" an applicant as part of the hiring process (MacMillan 2013). For those with public social media accounts, cancer blogs, or other cancer-related internet footprints, online cancer stories opened the door for perceived employment discrimination. For example, Danielle (27, white, colorectal),

appeared as a source for a local news story on the rise of colorectal cancer in young adults. This news story remains one of the top "hits" when googling her name. In another example, a Go-Fund-Me was started by the family of Paul (33, white, blood), to help pay for the cost of treatment. The use of medical crowdfunding, where individuals raise money from donors using websites to cover costs associated with healthcare, is rapidly growing to cope with governmental cuts on public health financing (Bassani, Marinelli, and Vismara 2019). While Paul characterizes this money as "essential," it also "left an online trail" as one of the top results when his name was searched, creating anxiety associated with future job searches. The use of medical crowdfunding (and its potential impact on employment trajectories) disproportionately impacted young adults from working-class backgrounds, like Paul, whose families lacked the financial resources to provide direct monetary support.

Current economic shifts and the rise of a precarious labor market are associated with increased precarity in the young adult life stage (Furlong 2017; Manning 2020). For young adults with cancer, precarious employment exacerbated the disruption of off-time illness. Before diagnosis, Michael (33, white, testicular) describes himself as "just barely" an attorney. After graduating from a prestigious law school during the Great Recession, he struggled to find work and never "had a decent job." When he was diagnosed with testicular cancer, he worked as a contract lawyer for a large corporation for several years. While this was "good at the time," it was not a permanent position: "they would keep extending my contract and extending my contract." As a contract employee, Michael did not have access to benefits like sick time, paid time off, or health insurance. After his diagnosis, he told his employer with very little notice, "I have this

major surgery coming up and I have to do it." While he was taking unpaid time off work, his contract ended and not extended. Michael's experience highlights how an individual's life course is embedded in, and shaped by, time and place (Elder 1994). Graduating law school during an economic recession shaped Michael's employment potential, with him struggling to find stable employment despite his prestigious law degree. As a contract attorney, Michael did not have paid time off or health insurance, benefits associated with traditional employment. Through hospital presumptive eligibility (PE), a key provision in the Affordable Care Act, Michael was able to enroll in Medicaid while seeking emergency care. While Medicaid provides access to healthcare, income restriction limit Michael's return to work:

I made \$28,000, and the Medicaid cap is like \$22,000 or something. So I'm in a weird place, I need to either get a job right now and make a lot of money and start paying for my own health care or I need to stay unemployed and just ride out the Medicaid because I don't have any money in savings, I have barely enough for rent. I have like one more month's rent saved up. I'm really just not working for Medicaid because I'm worried about medical bills.

The disruption of work-related activities did not end with the conclusion of active treatment, and about a quarter of respondents described how the effects of treatment extended beyond the illness period, impacting their ability to perform everyday work-related tasks. The most often side effect cited was "chemo brain," or difficulty with memory, attention, and other cognitive functions following chemotherapy. The impact of chemo brain on the daily lives of participants varied. For example, Shannon (36, white, colorectal) describes difficulty recalling words, "when writing [there] would just be a

word I couldn't think of. For the life of me, I just could not come up with the simplest word." For others, the cognitive disruption was more robust and enduring. For example, Samuel (35, Latinx, blood) describes the impact of chemo brain on his professional life: "It's not just chemo brain. It is more than that. In my daily life, I know how I am. I know what to expect [from myself]. But what do I do at work when I forget something in the middle of a presentation? I can't just tell my boss that I have chemo brain from treatment a decade ago." For some young adults, like Samuel, work productivity can be negatively impacted by the long-term physical or cognitive side effects of treatment which reduces earnings and causes distress (Stone et al. 2017).

Obstacles vs. Opportunities

The timing of their diagnosis in young adulthood meant that many respondents were at the onset or upswing of their professional lives, creating long-term and cascading implications for occupational plans and expectations. Those who maintained the same long-term career goals articulated health-status-specific 'bumps', or obstacles in achieving an intended trajectory. These bumps were related to health status uncertainty and the necessity of continued access to medical treatment and long-term follow-up care. Those respondents who maintained consistent long-term goals were highly educated, often in the process of completing graduate or professional education. Graduate and professional students see education as a long-term investment (DeAngelis 1998), and these young adults remained consistent in their long-term goals, despite obstacles, disruption, and delay. In one case, Ph.D. student Shannon (36, white, colorectal) maintains the same long-term goal of becoming a full professor but describes how, because of her diagnosis,

"the path to get there is longer and filled with more anticipated bumps in the road." In the following excerpt, Shannon describes these bumps:

It's not like, oh, I didn't get that grant bump-in-the-road, it's the oh, I can't start my fieldwork until three to six months after I planned on starting it or I'm going to be out for a month because I'm having liver surgery. And when I'm looking at where I want to work, I also have to keep in mind where I want to get treated for cancer and worry about what will happen if I cannot work for some time [because] my husband's [job does not provide] health insurance and my only source of insurance is through my work. So it definitely puts the things that you might normally think about as being a bump in the road in perspective. But, at the same time, on some level, on a day-to-day basis, it's not that different from dealing with those like smaller typical bumps. It's just that they keep coming for a greater amount of time and you just have to adjust to them. Which has been the hardest part for me because I'm not great at letting go of a plan.

As Shannon's quote highlights, the path to – and timing of – her long-term plans is thrown into question. She distinguishes the setbacks typical of academia, failure to secure funding, and the bumps that she anticipates experiencing: the postponement of teaching and research activities, an increasingly selective job search, access to treatment, and the importance of maintaining health insurance. For Shannon, the disruption to her long-term plans means she has to make contingencies, not the removal of the goal itself: "I definitely think about the how-do-I-get-there and the contingency plans a lot differently, but I still think the desire is the same. Like the this-is-what-I-want-life-to-be-like is the same."

In another example, Lindsay (37, white, gynecological) points to health care policy as an obstacle to becoming a licensed therapist. As she explains, it is common to accrue the practicum experience necessary for her professional licensure by working several part-time jobs simultaneously. These part-time jobs do not include benefits like health insurance. Lindsay must meet strict restrictions on her yearly income to continue qualifying for Medicaid, the means-tested and needs-based program where she receives health insurance. Working multiple jobs will result in an income that exceeds the maximum Medicaid limit. In the following excerpt, she reflects on this obstacle:

I didn't make this choice; this choice was made for me. I would 100% love to have 15 part-time jobs so I can accrue a lot more hours but I cannot because then I don't have health insurance and I cannot then be treated at my hospital. Right now, being treated at my hospital is a little bit more important. Continuity in care is more important to me than this diploma.

While she can receive health insurance through the Affordable Care Act exchange, none of the ACA plans are accepted at the cancer center where she receives treatment.

Unfortunately, this is not uncommon, as National Cancer Institute (NCI) cancer centers only accept 59% of networks on the ACA exchange (Kehl et al. 2017). Access to NCI cancer centers is especially relevant for young adult patients like Lindsay, who often benefit from specialized cancer care (Barr et al. 2016; Wolfson et al. 2014, 2015).

For a minority of respondents, disrupted plans were reframed as new opportunities, providing the time, space, and social networks to transition into "something better." In these cases, young adults were at the beginning of their educational trajectory, just entering the workforce, or unable to meet the requirements of their previous plans. For

example, after Eric's (34, Black, blood) cancer diagnosis left him unable to attend medical school or work in a clinical setting, he "[accidentally] fell into the world" of web development and graphic design. While receiving treatment in the hospital, Eric stayed mentally active by helping design a friend's website. As he describes, these learned skills, paired with contacts made through cancer support groups, would serve as the launching point for the creation of his own company:

I knew the basics of [website design], but I didn't fully know how to get [a website] up and running from scratch. Every morning [while in the hospital], I'd have my laptop working in my bed...[The website] took a couple of months to complete. A few months after that, I ended up going on a retreat for men with cancer. We'd always have conversations after dinner, and the topic one night was, 'what's something you've had a chance to do that you wouldn't have if it weren't for cancer.' And so I started telling them about the website I built for my buddy. And after that conversation, the head guide comes up, and it's like, 'hey, we could use some help with our website. Can you help us out?' I was like, sure, no problem. A few months later, I was on a trip with a [current] client, and a similar conversation came up and afterward they asked me to rebuild [their website].

While Eric's educational trajectory was disrupted, he used the time to immerse himself in a new field. His involvement with cancer survivor organizations gave him a social network of potential clients that helped him "gain traction" and turn this freelance work into a successful company. In reflection, Eric describes this transition in a positive light, satisfying his desire to help people. "My career path has definitely shifted, but I think it is a good thing...A lot of the companies I work for are nonprofits that have something to do

with cancer." He continues, "I want to help them grow and reach survivors like me, who are lost and in the hospital, wondering what's next with life. So I'm still helping people, but there's a different means relative to how I help them." Eric's experience demonstrates how the disruption of educational and occupational trajectory can be reframed as an opportunity to help others with cancer. This desire to help others, termed "altruistic adaptation" (Little et al. 2000) is common to the experience of survivorship. Highlighting the desire to help others via altruistic adaptation provides meaning to Eric's illness experience and is a way of coping with his biographical disruption (Bury 1982).

Notably, some young adults described a desire to change paths following cancer diagnosis but were constrained by the unique features of young adulthood and a dearth of social support, particularly for young adults. For example, Jeremy (36, white, blood) describes how his desire to change occupational trajectories post-treatment is constrained by the fear of recurrence and the necessity to maintain access to employer-based benefits like health insurance:

I feel trapped in the path I chose before diagnosis and beholden to the relationships and commitments I had made. So sometimes I ask myself, 'why can't I just jump into something new?... But reality hits me, and I think about insurance, short and long-term disability, [supporting my] family, and what it really takes day in and day out to keep going if I ever had a recurrence. It's crushing anxiety...[so] I avoid thinking about a career change most of the time.

Relationship, Intimacy, and Family Formation

All young adult respondents experienced some form of disruption to the relationships that preexisted their cancer diagnosis; preexisting relationships were

renegotiated and dissolved, and new relationships were cultivated based on shared experiences. In the following section, I demonstrate the impact of a cancer diagnosis in young adulthood on 1) family formation (partners, marriage, and parenting), 2) natal family relationships, and 3) friendships. These disruptions are not mutually exclusive. While all respondents experienced at least one disruption, many were experienced simultaneously. In examining these disruptions, I demonstrate how a cancer diagnosis during young adulthood can have long-term implications on relationships, intimacy, and family formation that extend after the initial disease period has ended. While the experience of relationship strain is not unique to young adult cancer patients and survivors, older adults are likely to have more established relationships that may be better able to withstand disruption.

Natal Family

Most young adult respondents reported disruption to the natal family due to a cancer-induced renewed dependence on parents and, thus, the loss of previously achieved markers of adulthood. While a life-threatening illness often results in loss of independence, cultural expectations of independence in young adulthood may make this loss more distressing for young adults with cancer. It is becoming increasingly difficult for young adults to achieve the traditional markers of independence. For many young adult participants, the level of independence, albeit varying, achieved prior to diagnosis was fragile and unsustainable through a life-threatening illness. In this context, the natal family served as an invaluable source of support for young adults who are otherwise outside of most age-based supports (based on the transitional phase of young adulthood) and lack resources of their own. In the following analysis, I discuss the two most

common sources of disruption to the natal family: financial independence and living outside of the parental home.

As most young adults, irrespective of social class and insurance status, lacked robust savings to finance the financial burden of cancer, many families "filled the gaps" by providing financial and material support. In these cases, young adults continued to live independently but received support from family to cover medical bills and living expenses. The timing of cancer in young adulthood matters as children are not expected to be financially independent, and older adults would likely have more financial security and resources to draw upon or qualify for age-specific social support like social security or Medicare. At the same time, young adults describe financial independence as a central feature of adulthood (Arnett 1994, 1998). Thus, accepting financial assistance often served as a source of distress. While there was vast variation in the kind of support provided by the families of young adults, patterns emerged based on social class. Upper and middle-class families were more likely to provide young adults with direct financial support. In contrast, working-class families bought groceries, provided meals, and organized community fundraisers to support young adults.

Monica's (28, white, thyroid) middle-class parents filled the gaps caused by her underinsurance, paying all her medical expenses, including the cost of her out-of-network doctor. "My parents had a lot of money to the side [in case] something like this happened." Self-employed, Monica describes having limited access to quality health insurance. "I'm not a part of a huge insurance company because I'm self-employed [and I] cannot get great insurance like [I could] through an employer." In order to access the care she needed, Monica had to go out-of-network to a provider not covered by her insurance

policy. Monica's parents "foot the bill" for her care and two surgeries by drawing on personal savings. "My parents are more than happy to foot the bill for that. They don't want me to be like, 'oh, I'm sorry, this is a lot of money.' They want me to feel comfortable and safe and like I have control of everything more than stressing about the cost of a surgery."

Heather's (31, white, colorectal) middle-class family provides support by helping to pay her mortgage and putting money directly into her checking account. Unlike Monica, whose parents had savings to draw upon, Heather's parents lacked the financial resources to help outright and opted instead to delay retirement: "My mother, she got a second job so that they could take care of us. So they are putting off their retirement to help their daughter." Heather's experience is unique, as it demonstrates how the disruption to Heather's work trajectory also impacted her mother's work trajectory (the delay of retirement). While Heather is thankful for this help and recognizes the privilege associated with avoiding what she refers to as the "collateral damage" of cancer, she describes the negative impact of financial independence on her self-concept:

Especially as a young person, you're making all these big plans. And then I have to go from there to being in a situation where you're dependent upon [parental] financial support again. That's really tough. I feel like we just got our freedom. We bought a house. We bought two cars. We were kind of doing that start-out thing, we're really nervous cause we might not be able to afford everything, but we're going to work really hard. Then I get sick and I'm like, okay, yeah. Oh my gosh, I've to go back to my mom.

For Heather, the disruption caused by cancer occurred at a critical juncture when she and her partner were just "starting out" and gaining their "freedom." As such, she articulates not only a disruption to her expectations and future plans but also the disruption of her culturally assumed pathways to adulthood: financial independence.

Finally, Alexis' (38, white, colorectal) working-class family provided support by putting on a community fundraiser. "When we got that diagnosis, we were scared about [losing the house]. You know, my husband was like, we'll sell the house." Financial necessity forced Alexis, who had not disclosed her diagnosis to many people, to go "public" with her cancer. "I was apprehensive about putting the fundraiser on social media, but I did it because we really did need the money." She describes the outpour as "incredible,' providing an invaluable level of security in an uncertain time. Reflecting on this support, she states: "Some people are like, always one step from disaster. I don't feel that way. I don't feel like we're gonna lose our house or anything, but, you know, it is possible." Alexis' example illustrates the precarious position of young adults, who, based on the transition phase of young adulthood, lack financial resources and how the family is central to the engineering that facilitates young adults' resilience to this financial disruption.

Cancer forced some young adults who did not cohabitate with a partner to move back into the family home because they could not afford the cost associated with living independently due to reduced employment or the high cost of medical care (as those with partners often lived in a dual-income household). While it is important to note that access to a spare bedroom is a marker of class privilege, this pattern occurred across all class levels.

After leaving work, Danielle (27, white, colorectal) moved back home to her family home. While she qualifies for disability benefits, the payments were insufficient to cover her out-of-pocket medical and living expenses. Acknowledging her need and gratitude for the "help" provided by her parents, Danielle expresses disappointment and discomfort in her loss of independence and "being treated as a kid." Similarly, for Rebecca (34, white, breast), moving home challenged self-concept: "it's weird to be an adult and feel like a sick kid." Like Danielle, Rebecca is thankful for the care provided by her mother, who brings her Gatorade and saltine crackers, but struggles to acclimate to her loss of independence. In a dissenting experience, Jennifer (39, white, sarcoma), who has moved back to her parent's house numerous times in the 19 years since her diagnosis, describes her parent's home as a "magical place," drawing a contrast between her experience and the experience of newly-diagnosed peers. "I have friends who are like newly diagnosed and facing the fact that they may have to move back in with their parents, and they're just like, it's so embarrassing. I'm like, I love it. Parents make coffee every morning at six, and they have breakfast. It's like a magical place!"

Young adults asserted agency in the context of natal relationship disruption by engaging in emotional management to "protect" parental emotions, reasserting independence, and rejecting financial aid. In one instance, Martin (28, multiracial, blood) describes how he filtered the information given to his mother before disclosing his cancer diagnosis, "I wanted to know the full situation and be able to break it down into terms that would not make it seem as bad as it was because she's really emotional and I knew if I broke the news over the phone, she would freak out." Mariana (38, Native, colorectal) describes "shielding" her large family by selectively sharing information. For Mariana,

whose case is likely terminal, selectively sharing information is a way to reassert agency and protect herself from emotional labor. "The women all tell the men, and my grandma, I call her the mouth of the south. You tell her something and she'll tell anybody...I get so emotionally drained, you know, it sounds stupid, but even having to text, I feel so drained."

Hector (19, Latinx, blood) describes his resistance to what he sees as overlyattentive mothering and limitations on his freedom:

Ever since I was diagnosed, my mom and I have been spending so much time together. We slept in the same room together. She would constantly worry about me, check up on me, and tell me what to do... I wasn't allowed to go out with my friends or anything when I was at home, and that just pissed me off, and I would just go out anyway.

Michael (33, white, testicular) resisted the financial assistance from his parents and felt "conflicted" knowing that his parents could be used as a "backup" if necessary: "I don't have any money in savings, I have barely enough for rent. I have one more month rent saved up... but I don't want to [get money from my parents]. I'm a grown ass man." For Michael, accepting financial help as a "grown-ass man" disrupted the cultural expectations of independence and self-reliance during young adulthood.

Family Formation

For about three-quarters of respondents, the timing of cancer in young adulthood disrupted family formation, including romantic and sexual relationships, parenting activities, family planning, and fertility trajectories.

Young adults complained that their cancer diagnosis negatively impacted romantic and sexual relationships. This encompasses the disruption of relationships established before diagnosis, during and after treatment, and the perceived disruption of future relationships. Relationship disruption was exacerbated by financial strain and caregiving responsibilities. Many who were single when interviewed expressed anxiety about entering new relationships and feared long-term side effects, like scarring, changes to sexual functioning, or treatment-induced infertility, would make them less desirable to potential partners.

Unmarried partners were more susceptible to separation following a cancer diagnosis. Eric (34, Black, blood) characterizes his diagnosis as "the straw that broke the camel's back" with his long-term girlfriend, and Brittany (35, white, sarcoma) describes the dissolution of an 8-year relationship because her partner failed to provide the necessary support: "I was extremely ill, and I needed help and I didn't get it."

Respondents who were married at the time of diagnosis described similar cancer-induced strain but were more likely to be "working" on the relationship. At the time of the interviews, no marriages had ended in divorce. This may be because cohabitation is less stable than marriage (Van der Vliet 2020).

The financial strain of cancer exacerbated relationship strain. Chloe (34, white, breast) describes how her husband had to "take control" of their finances, working 60 to 70 hours a week, to cover high medical bills and compensate for her lost wages.

He worked so many hours to provide for us and provide security because I had to have a ton of time off work and all of these medical bills and all of this stuff. So he wasn't around to help because he worked 60 and 70 hours a week and, you

know, at least 12-hour days. So he was not home. He was just not there. And so I think there's definitely a lot of effects from that, a lot of issues that have stemmed from that, from communication breakdowns to intimacy breakdowns, which is nonexistent at this point. And just, you know, we kind of feel like we're glorified roommates if that is even a term.

Through marriage counseling, Chloe has learned that her husband felt "cast to the side" throughout her diagnosis and treatment and the impact of the added financial burden of cancer. Narratives of infidelity, divorce, and relationship troubles were so prevalent in the young adult cancer community that one respondent, Amanda (33, white, breast), describes limiting her involvement in social media groups that were "making [her] paranoid" in her marriage.

Disruption to intimate relationships also occurred when the side effects of treatment negatively impacted sexual relationships with both long-term and casual partners. As a life stage, young adulthood is associated with peak sexual functioning and reproductive health. Respondents that experienced treatment-induced changes to sexual functioning and reproduction challenged this societal expectation.

In one instance, Heather (31, white, colorectal) describes how her treatment impacted her sexual relationship with her new husband:

There's no way to be intimate...and I mean, we're newly married, so this was a big part of our relationship, and it just quit overnight...all of the [side effects] of radiation caused painful intercourse. And we're sort of at this point where I think he's afraid to touch me because he doesn't want to hurt me.

While it was common for cancer treatment to disrupt sexual relationships, it was not universally experienced by young adults. For example, Donella (41, white, blood) characterizes their sexual appetite as "insatiable" during chemotherapy, and Carlos (32, Latinx, colorectal) describes how he and his partner "got creative" to maintain their sexual relationship.

For young adults who had not all achieved their parenting goals, a cancer diagnosis challenged plans for childrearing and parenting. Mitch (42, white, blood/sarcoma) demonstrates how a cancer diagnosis results in an expedited fertility trajectory and a disruption from personal parenting ideals. After he was diagnosed at 28, Mitch received oral chemotherapy for a year while a bone marrow donor was identified. While oral chemotherapy did not impact his sperm quality, bone marrow transplants often cause infertility.

While waiting for a donor definitely did speed up our plans to have children. My wife and I talked about it between that crisis point and the bone marrow transplant. We're like, do I save my sperm? Do we just go ahead and have kids? And so we made the decision to start trying to have children ended up my wife ended up getting pregnant with twins. My wife gave birth one week before I went into the hospital for my bone marrow transplant.

Young adults expressed concern that treatment-induced infertility would make them less attractive to potential partners. For example, Jasmine (38, Black, colorectal) describes:

So I'm a young adult...at some point, I'd like to get married. You have to think about having a conversation with a spouse or somebody who could potentially be

a spouse and saying, "I won't be able to give you kids." I mean that's a whole new level of emotion that I had never thought I'd ever have to express.

These concerns are valid. In one instance, Eric (34, Black, blood) described when a potential girlfriend ended the relationship because of his treatment-induced infertility. "[She told] me, 'no, this just isn't going to work out' about the kids and cancer. She was very nice about it...[but] I cannot give her what she wants and there's no way around it." Eric demonstrates how the inability to father children strains his self-concept, making him feel like "less of a man." This is consistent with previous research that connects fathering children and hegemonic masculinity.

Such experiences of relationship disruption made some young adults reluctant to enter new romantic relationships. After struggling with losing both a long-term partner and friendship group, Jennifer (39, white, sarcoma) states, "I don't even try, you know, people don't volunteer for this. Healthy people aren't beating down your door." Jennifer expresses something important: it is not just the disruption of existing relationships but the disruption of relationships that may occur in the future. She states that "[healthy people] do not volunteer" to establish relationships with someone who experiences the instability of an off-time illness. Others expressed a similar hesitancy to enter into romantic relationships: "Everything is fragile for me. I don't have any time or any energy for [a romantic relationship]" (Rebecca, 34, white, breast). Returning to the experience of Jennifer, who was diagnosed with a slow-growing sarcoma at 19 and has "never been in remission" and undergone various treatments over nineteen years, describes difficulty maintaining romantic relationships when her "primary relationship" is to her illness:

My primary relationship is to my illness. It's not always, but it is for whole years [at a time]. It can be really hard to be dating someone when that's the case. It's also hard to believe that anyone would take your faults and all when your faults include \$80,000 in medical debt and a lifetime of chemotherapy.

While the experience of cancer likely incites relationship disruption in older adults, older adults are more likely to have established friendships and romantic partnerships that may be less vulnerable to such strain.

Disruptions to romantic relationships were not universal, with a minority of respondents describing strong partnerships throughout diagnosis and treatment. For example, Mariana (38, Native, colorectal) describes her partner's invaluable role: "She's always like, 'you gotta take your medicine, you gotta do this'... Anything I need, she's there, you know, she takes me to all my appointments. She drives me anywhere I need to go. If I'm not feeling good, she'll drive me. I'm so grateful that she's able to do that and that she's even stuck around for that."

Friendships

The most common form of relationship disruption, expressed by the majority of young adult respondents, was a dramatic disruption to friendships. In young adulthood, friends are essential, replacing parents as confidants and attachment figures that provide validation, support, and emotional support (Wrzus et al. 2017). Young adults felt "left behind" by friends as peers progressed through life without illness-related disruptions. As Hector (19, Latinx, blood) expressed, "I felt like my friends were getting ahead in life while I was being set back." In other instances, the disruption of friendships was characterized by interviewees as friends "not understanding," "not knowing how to talk,"

or failing to "provide support" for young adults experiencing a cancer diagnosis. As young adults found themselves moving backward, or stagnant, in education, occupation, and family formations, they watched "friends progressing so much farther": "Everybody is just at different places. I'm at a totally different place... and you cannot explain that" (Danielle, 27, white, colorectal). This retardation, perceived and actual, resulted in some young adults pulling back from existing relationships. In one example, Maria (26, Latinx, blood) expressed frustration that, as her friends continued to "move forward" and achieve traditional markers of adulthood, she was reminded of the disruption to her own trajectory and imagined future: "I saw all my friends getting jobs, getting married, having babies...And me, I'm not doing anything."

Respondents were surprised that long-established friends "dropped off" at various points along their illness trajectory. For example, when Heather (31, white, colorectal), called her best friend to tell her she had cancer, her best friend hung up on her. "She told me that she felt really bad, but she just couldn't process what was going on with me because her life was too busy. She couldn't deal with her own life much less mine."

Despite being close friends for so long, their friendship never recovered. "It's really sad that that friendship is no more... She is someone that I thought I could trust to help me through this, and to not have her has been hard." In other instances, networks of friends that were initially very supportive became exhausted over time, leaving the young adults feeling increasingly isolated. These feelings were particularly salient after the conclusion of treatment when young adults moved out of active treatment. Some participants felt they could not express concerns and fears associated with their illness: "I don't always feel comfortable expressing my emotions to some of my friends. It seems as if they'd like

me to get over it." Monica (28, white, thyroid) describes wishing her friends offered more support.

It makes me a little bit angry and a little bit, honestly embarrassed, because I was getting support from my friends and the way that I put it to them was, "Oh, it's the good kind. They just do the surgery and that cures everything." So they kind of digested it as, "Oh, she's gonna be fine and live a normal life". Not that I wanna live with people's pity, but I kind of wish I could redo it to introduce it to them as something that is going to be a big stressor in my life.

As she was diagnosed with a "good" cancer, her friends fail to recognize the ways that her illness continues to be a "big stressed" in her life.

While the disruption of friendships was a common theme throughout the interviews, some young adults experienced strong support from existing friendships, and others forged new friendships based on the shared experience of cancer. For example, Isabelle (26, Latinx, blood) characterizes her friend group as "really close" and describes her friends as "constantly" with her throughout treatment: "[my friends] were always there for me. They visited me as much as possible even when I was just sleeping." Others described cancer as helping them "get rid of the dead weight" and establish more meaningful relationships with a few long-term friends.

In response to the relationship disruption due to an off-time cancer diagnosis, many young adults sought friendships within the young adult cancer community. For example, Rebecca (34, white, breast) describes that, while her "healthy friends have not done a thing" following her double mastectomy, the "community of cancer [has] stepped up." Likewise, Jennifer (39, white, sarcoma) describes how finding a community of other

young adults with cancer provided a level of (emotional and instrumental) support and understanding absent from friendships with non-cancer patients and survivors:

I have many friends here, but they will not fucking [take me to medical appointments] because they do not believe that I'm sick or they don't understand the gravity of it, and [young adults with cancer] all do. I had never walked into a room full of people to whom I didn't have to explain anything. I didn't have to explain why I didn't own a house and then have to explain why I wasn't married and didn't have kids. I didn't have to explain why I didn't have a fucking 401K. They all knew; they all knew why. And that was a unique experience for me. I've never felt that and I am so glad I have it now.

Discussion

This chapter explores young adults' experiences of biographical disruption in the context of an off-time illness. A biographical disruption occurs when a cancer diagnosis disrupts a young adult's daily life, expectations, and future plans. Key sites of young adults' biographical disruption were education and work, and relationships, intimacy, and family formations. Young adults shared disruption in these sites despite variations in diagnosis, treatment, and diverse positionality in the trajectory to adulthood. In this study, both the disruption and a young adult's resilience to disruption were impacted by social institutions, or what I term *institutionally supported resilience*. Notable institutions included social welfare programs, healthcare systems, educational systems, and the family. As the successful transition into adulthood is predicated on completing education and entering the labor force (Mortimer and Aronson 2000), my findings demonstrate that cancer in young adulthood disrupted these culturally assumed pathways to adulthood.

It takes a great deal of time to be diagnosed and treated for cancer; young adults find the time commitment of cancer challenging to incorporate into most full-time work and school schedules. To cope with the side effects and time commitment of treatment, young adults reduced work hours, went on leave, or withdrew entirely. For young adults who were employed, a cancer diagnosis resulted in a total or partial loss of income and wages. Young adults who were pursuing undergraduate or graduate education often had more flexibility built into their schedules, but this flexibility resulted in longer timelines and delayed transition into formal employment.

The experiences of young adults demonstrate the potentially long-term, cascading impacts of the disruption to educational and occupational plans and expectations. The timing of this disruption during young adulthood meant that many respondents were at the onset or upswing of their professional lives. Young adults with no established work history faced difficulty navigating the stigma of labor-market disruptions and the stigma associated with their health status. Those with established employment feared that their illness might result in a lack of advancement. Some young adults continued to experience cognitive side effects that negatively impacted job performance long after the conclusion of active treatment. In response to the biographical disruption, some young adults on the brink of their professional careers maintained the same long-term goals despite obstacles. In contrast, others reframed disrupted plans as opportunities to transition into something better.

Cancer treatment and diagnosis disrupt relationships, intimacy, and family formation. Every respondent experienced some disruption; preexisting friendships and romantic relationships were ended, renavigated, and in some cases, strengthened. The

experiences of young adults demonstrate the potentially long-term, cascading impacts of disruption on plans and expectations. Young adults who were single when interviewed expressed anxiety about entering new relationships and feared long-term side effects, like scarring, changes to sexual functioning, or treatment-induced infertility, would make them less desirable to potential partners. As many young adults had not yet attained their parenting goals before diagnosis, the potential of treatment-induced infertility negatively impacted reproductive trajectories. Notably, the decision to preserve or not to preserve fertility was made by the oncologist rather than the young adult. Young men were more likely to have sperm donation built into existing medical protocols, while most young women described having "no choice" to preserve fertility.

The disruption to paid employment was central to the disruptions of the natal family. The partial or complete loss of income and wages cooccurred with out-of-pocket medical expenses. Without full wages, young adults lacked robust savings and assets to cover the costs associated with medical care and living expenses. The natal family was central to the engineering that facilitated young adult resilience to an off-time illness for those otherwise outside of most age-based supports and lacking resources of their own. Upper and middle-class families provided young adults with direct financial support, while working-class families relied on community fundraisers to support young adults. While essential, this renewed dependence on parents negatively impacted the self-concept of young adults as it challenged cultural expectations of independence.

In many ways, these findings align with prior literature examining parental support of adult children. Prior research demonstrates that parents often provide financial, housing, and emotional support (Newman 2012; Fingerman et al. 2009; Sandberg-

Thoma, Snyder, Jang 2015; Swartz, McLaughlin, Mortimer 2017; Swartz et al. 2011). While not always distressing for young adults, parental financial help is associated with depressive symptoms for young adults who have already moved into adult roles (Kirkpatrick Johnson 2013). Newman (2012) documents how present economic uncertainty results in "accordion families," where adult children live with their parents. Newman (2012) also finds that countries with more robust social welfare systems have fewer accordion families, as unemployment, healthcare, and affordable housing, allow young adults to be more financially independent. I build on this work, finding that the "boomerang," where young adult children move back into the natal home (Newman 2012) and the necessity of financial support, is exacerbated by gaps in the social safety net for young adults in times of illness. Importantly, in my sample, young adults had established independent living and employment pre-diagnosis, making the disruption even more challenging to self-concept.

Prior research demonstrates the rise of medical crowdfunding to cover the cost of medical care, emergency treatment, exploratory therapies, and medical research and development (Snyder et al. 2016; Bassain et al. 2019). This rise has been attributed to governmental cuts on public health financing (Bassain et al. 2019). While not generalizable, my findings demonstrate that working-class young adults *with insurance* use medical crowdfunding to cover the costs associated with treatment and lost wages. The reliance on crowdfunding created a perceived obstacle to employment activity due to online visibility. According to Microsoft, almost 80% of employers view online information about potential employees (MacMillan 2013). Further studies show that medical crowdfunding replicates patterns of racial inequality, with Black and Latinx

beneficiaries receiving less money than their white and Asian counterparts (Igra 2022; (Igra et al. 2021) and redirecting public attention away from growing gaps in the social safety net (Berliner and Kenworthy 2017).

Young adult resilience to employment disruptions was mitigated by robust workplace benefits, including health insurance, access to short and long-term disability, and workplace flexibility. The rise of contingent and contract labor meant that access to these benefits was uneven across young adults. Key policy changes included in the ACA supported healthcare access, particularly the Medicaid expansion, Hospital presumptive eligibility (PE), and coverage for preexisting conditions. Jennifer (39, white, sarcoma), diagnosed prior to the passing of the ACA states: "The Affordable Care Act was the only thing that was going to save my life, not my finances. There is no way that a human could salvage my finances but save my life. And the reason that I was going to die was because I couldn't afford healthcare." While these programs improved access to healthcare for young adults without health insurance, income restrictions made it difficult for them to return to work. Young adults made future work-related decisions based on the need to maintain health insurance, impacting future employment decisions.

Previous research demonstrates that stigma and workplace discrimination are central barriers to employment for cancer survivors (Stergiou-Kita et al. 2016), and it can be challenging to attain the necessary accommodations to return to work (Stergiou-Kita et al. 2016b). Even when a young adult had completed treatment and had "no evidence of disease," the mark of an off-time illness on their biography impacted how young adults perceived their employment potential. As such, it is not just disruption of educational and occupational activities that creates potentially long-term impacts but also the stigma

associated with severe illnesses, even when long-term side effects do not occur. Stigma is a cultural concept that reflects cultural norms and values that (re)produces inequality (Parker and Aggleton 2003). The stigma of off-time illness is not an attribute of an individual young adult but instead reflects the dominant cultural expectations of health and productivity for young adults in the labor force.

CHAPTER V

STRATEGIES OF ACTION IN UNSETTLED LIVES

"If you say, 'oh, I've had cancer twice.' There you go. You're automatically labeled with, 'oh, you survived cancer twice. You must be this larger than life person'... And in actuality, I just feel weak, and I feel tired, and I feel like the world has this expectation for me to be this amazing person to go out and do amazing things. And I can't yet. So that's probably a part of why I'm sitting here taking stupid antidepressants. Cause I can't figure out how to get off my ass and go off and save the world. – Robert, 42, white, diagnosed with blood cancer at 28 and a secondary treatment-related sarcoma at 42.

"Arrested development, if you will. Just stuck in that moment of being a 26-year-old trying to figure out life. And here we are eight years later, and I'm just trying to figure it out, making the most of every situation, trying to make it a better one. And I realize that [cancer] is always going to be a part of my story. This is me for the rest of my life... I'm just in a constant state of trying to figure things out and I'm just making it up as I go along. But it's all within this filter of 'you have cancer,' right? I have cancer... So how do we move beyond it and do something meaningful? It's, I don't want to use the word paralyzing because it's been empowering. The situation has been empowering for me, but, um, yeah, it's just trying to figure it out. – *Eric*, 34, Black, diagnosed with blood cancer at 26.

I begin this chapter with the admission that it was the most difficult to write. As my last empirical chapter, this should, in a sense, "conclude" the experiences of my respondents. Through these pages, you have come to know my interviewees through their own stories, moments of their lives as they pass from the world of the healthy to the world of the sick. Unfortunately, I offer no conclusion to these stories. For my respondents, cancer and its impact do not conclude. In many ways, it is this enduring characteristic of cancer in young adulthood that inspired this dissertation. A young adult may be "cancer free" or have "no evidence of disease," but cancer is not something that they "get over." Frank (2013) conceptualizes this as "remission society," where those

with cancer linger between the world of health and sickness. Little et al. (1998) term this a space of "liminality." It is in this space that young adults "figure out" life after a cancer diagnosis.

Thus far, this dissertation has examined the experience of a cancer diagnosis in young adulthood. An underlying theme throughout these chapters is that an off-time illness *unsettles*. Off-time illness unsettles sociocultural expectations of health in young adulthood, unsettles work, education, and family formation, and unsettles how young adults experience their bodies. This chapter examines the strategies young adults employ to "figure out" life after a cancer diagnosis, asking the following questions: What strategies of actions do young adults employ in life after a cancer diagnosis? How are these strategies culturally informed? Finally, how do these strategies reinforce or resist unequal institutional arrangements?

Just as life after a cancer diagnosis is not conclusive and tidy, the strategies young adults employ are not conclusive and tidy. They are left to "figure out" life in the absence of institutions and protocols that meet their needs and the needs of their bodies. At the same time, they receive cultural messages that label them "survivors" and "thrivers" – labels that, regardless of whether young adults choose to take them up, shape the expectations young adults have for themselves. Prior literature details how individuals adapt to illness in – and as – a way of maintaining self-worth. Individuals are active in creating lives and themselves (Charmez 1995) as they mobilize resources to normalize the biographical disruption caused by illness based on "cultural circumstances and connotations" (i.e., the symbolic meaning of illness) (Bury 1991: 462). At the same time, adaptation is not an act of the individual. While agency is important, adaptation is

contingent on social and cultural context (Atkin, Stapley, and Easton 2010). This adaptation to illness is mediated by race, class, and gender, involves choice and constraint, and necessitates considerable material, physical, and emotional resources.

As young adults "figure out" life after a cancer diagnosis, they are bombarded by cultural messages defining "survivorship" and detailing what life should look like after cancer's "conclusion." The dominant messages of this cancer culture frame cancer as a source of development and post-traumatic growth (Steinberg 2015; Ehrenreich 2001, 2009; Bell 2012). Such messages emphasize the importance of "positivity," going so far as to make connections between this emotional resilience and positive physical health outcomes (Youll and Meekosha 2011; McGrath 2004). As the terminology of "cancer survivor" has been critiqued for its failure to capture the enduring uncertainty associated with cancer, other terms have emerged, including the recent "cancer thriver¹¹." As a verb, "thrive" means to grow vigorously or to progress towards a goal despite conflict. In many ways, this semantic change reinforces the dominant ideals of cancer culture via the centrality of *development* and *growth*. Thrivership reinforces *ideas* of cancer as a "teachable moment" and an opportunity for "post-traumatic growth" (Bell 2012).

Critical interpretations of survivorship and mainstream discourses illuminate how cancer culture is embedded in, and shaped by, neoliberal logics¹² (Bell 2012; Youll and

¹⁰ I do not provide a genealogy of "cancer survivorship" in this chapter, as others have pursued that.

¹¹ I do not discuss the movement from "survivor" to "thriver" in this dissertation. However, this term was prevalent in YA cancer organizations and referenced by interviewees embedded in those communities.

¹² As asserted by Bell (2012), "Prevailing frameworks and interventions rely on a set of assumptions about the nature of selfhood (and statehood) that have become thoroughly naturalized today. These assumptions presuppose the desirability of the autonomous, responsible subject/citizen obliged to make his or her life meaningful through acts of choice that maximize emotional, physical, and economic health."

Meekosha 2011). Bell (2012:596) argues that this movement extends neoliberalism from merely a political and economic rationale into "naturalized assumptions of selfhood¹³." With this, cancer discourses emphasize autonomy and personal responsibility rather than dependency and maladjustment (Rose 1990:214). Discourses of cancer culture are not only descriptions of experiences of cancer but prescriptions of how individuals should conduct themselves (Bell 2012:596).

Regardless of the acceptance or rejection of the survivor or thriver identity, cancer culture serves as a powerful backdrop that informs strategies of action for young adults post-cancer diagnosis. Swidler (1986) argues that culture does not define the goals of action but provides "chunks of culture" used to construct "strategies of action." This toolkit contains habits, skills, symbols, stories, and worldviews (273). Publicly available meanings facilitate certain patterns of action, making them readily available while discouraging others (283). This emphasis on culture-work instead of identity-work is particularly appropriate as the role of culture in shaping action is more easily detected when lives are unsettled (Swidler 1986, 2001) and cancer serves as a significant change or transformation and, even in times of 'health,' young adulthood is a life-course stage associated with transition. Further, as I have shown in the preceding chapters, an off-time illness disrupts -- or unsettles -- the lives of young adults. When young adults are disrupted from personal and societal expectations by illness, culture is more visible as new strategies of action are "in tension with the previous medley of action and experience" (Swidler 2001:94). I aim to illustrate how responses to illness are embedded

-

¹³Bell's assertation is similar to Foucault's theory of governmentality, where political rationales shape action through technologies of the self.

within inequitable systems that shape the response – and critiques – to existing social arrangements.

Overall, my goal in this chapter is to conceptualize life with cancer as work. Young adults work to reestablish identity and meaning in the context of the disruption caused by cancer. I characterize this labor as resilience work, constructed based on cultural expectations of growth, development, and elasticity in the face of hardship. Resilience work asks young adults to be positive and manage emotions to facilitate and reflect their own positive development. Importantly, resilience work is constructed with "pieces" of contemporary commonsense ideology that become salient in particular moments or for particular people as they attempt to re-settle their lives. I focus on three co-occurring forms of resilience work: bodily labor, family work, and support work. As this labor takes material, emotional, and physical resources, it is unevenly taken up across young adult respondents. Bodily labor is most prevalent in those who have completed active treatment, reflecting the cultural expectation that young adults take personal responsibility for their health to prevent recurrence. Women with children are more likely to engage in family work, reinforcing gendered cultural expectations that emphasize the performance of emotional carework and intensive mothering. While the desire to engage in support work is nearly universal, perhaps due to sampling techniques, the manifestation of support work varies by race and class. The commonality across these categories is that resilience work is arduous. This work requires emotional, physical, and material resources that are not free or infinite. This work is invisible; it does not pay wages or offer benefits like health insurance.

A note on language: I choose not to use the term "cancer survivor" in this chapter. While the terminology is commonplace in much of the cancer literature, it has been the subject of critique by researchers, cancer communities, and the narratives of my participants who do not experience cancer as an acute event that one "gets beyond." In response, the official definition of cancer survivorship has transformed from the tertiary phase of illness, or the third-period phase following diagnosis and treatment, to a stage *beginning* at diagnosis. While the genealogy of the term "cancer survivor" is a project of future inquiry, I favor the term "post cancer diagnosis" to capture both my participants' lived experience and the term's transitioning meaning.

Unsettled Lives

This findings section begins with a discussion of age-specific uncertainty, a central theme in young adult lives post-cancer diagnosis, that yields support for the unsettledness of an off-time illness. I continue by illustrating the strategies of actions young adults employ post-cancer diagnosis and describe the institutional and cultural context from which they emerge. I find that the strategies of young adults are shaped by pieces of common sense narratives and ideologies.

Uncertainty

In crafting this chapter, I struggled with how – and to what extent – to engage with the concept of uncertainty. On the one hand, the lives of my respondents were rife with uncertainty: Uncertainty if the cancer was present in their body, uncertainty as to what the next scan would show, uncertainty if they would watch their children graduate high school, make it to retirement or live long enough to see the sequel of their favorite movie. In many ways, *uncertainty* is central to the experience of cancer generally and the

experience of cancer in young adulthood. Prior scholarship shows that cancer is not experienced as an acute disease (Fosket 2000; Frank 2005; 2013; Kaiser 2008). Instead, individuals who have completed treatment find themselves *between* sickness and health, undergoing continued medical surveillance and medications, fearing recurrence, and remaining preoccupied with the possibility of disease and untimely death (McKenzie and Couch 2004; Little et al. 2002; Frank 2005, 2013). My findings confirm these patterns, with the vast majority of young adults experiencing health-related anxiety. This remained true for those diagnosed with "good cancer" with high survival rates and "easy" treatments, reflecting the good/bad cancer binary (Bell 2014).

What is unique about the theme of uncertainty for young adults is how uncertainty violates cultural expectations of young adulthood. Young adulthood is framed as a period of possibility with different choices for the future. As such, uncertainty is associated with a previously unrecognized awareness of vulnerability, fragility, and mortality that conflicts with the cultural expectations of young adulthood. For the vast majority of young adults, a cancer diagnosis challenged this normative, explanatory system by which they understood their biography, creating uncertainty about their remaining biological time (or how much time they had to live) and challenging the control they had over their lives.

As young adulthood is a transition period, young adults have not achieved long-term goals and expectations for their lives. This evokes a temporal awareness evident in the respective statements from Amira (30, white, colorectal) and Jasmine (38, Black, colorectal): "If I find myself upset, I get over it quickly because I don't want to waste any time being unhappy," and "I've been strapped with something this young...now I don't

have a ton of time. So, I gotta, you know, make the best of every opportunity and every situation." This overarching uncertainty in time was framed as an age-specific experience, as seen in the excerpts by Monica (28, white, thyroid), "older people who have gone through cancer have done a lot of things that they wanted to do in life," and Carlos (32, Latinx, colorectal), "you know, [older survivors], they have lived a full life, they had a great career or had a great house, you know, whatever it may be. Young survivors don't really have that opportunity."

Since I'm so young, my whole life has gone by slowly, and I've been impatient to get to the next step. I don't remember any time in my life before my diagnosis thinking about getting old...But now I kind of feel like things are going by very fast. I'm looking back on things that I did, my past experiences and saying, *oh*, *I'm glad that I did that*, and I'm way more in tune with things that I wanna do in the future because I feel like time is going by fast and or my time won't be as much as others.

The awareness of biographical time, the feeling that young adults had yet to "live a full life," and the desire to not "waste" time was not dependent on prognosis, stage of disease, or those out of active treatment. For young adults, the disruption and discontinuity caused by cancer endured after the conclusion of active treatment and regardless of illness status, further reinforces the utility of understanding cancer in young adulthood as a unique experience with cascading impacts.

Uncertainty over biographical time does not just operate metaphorically based on abstract uncertainty or fear of eventual mortality but as a reaction to actual health status. Shannon (36, white, colorectal) describes planning her life in "three-month intervals" as

she navigates the uncertainty of her metastatic disease, which has a 5-year survival rate of less than twenty percent. "Until you've actually looked at the statistics for something you have, I don't think it's easy to explain to anyone what it feels like and what it means for not just parts of your life but all of your life." She describes the difficulty of planning her personal and professional life around uncertainty.

My oncologist said to me, 'every three months, we're going to do a scan, and we're going to hold our breath,' and what affects me more is the world view of planning my life in three-month intervals... I know a lot of people will talk about scanxiety and being anxious before a scan, but for me, it's this sense of the unknown and this feeling of hesitation about *how much I plan?*... The hardest part should be thinking about what the scan really means, as it could be a much more severe prognosis. But for me, it's that I want to be able to keep doing the things I was supposed to be doing even if I didn't have cancer. It can be small things too. Like, my husband asked me a few weeks ago, 'Should we plan a trip for the summer?' And I'm like, I don't know. Like, yes, I'd like to go somewhere, but I don't know what the scan results are going to show. I don't know if I'm going to have surgery. I don't know if I am having surgery or when that surgery is going to be. There's just this complete inability to plan, even normal, simple things that you should be able to plan.

As Shannon describes the struggle to create timelines for her dissertation fieldwork and program completion, she states, "I don't know which intervals of time are actually going to be mine."

In the proceeding section, I illustrate three forms of resilience work that young adults employed in the context of this uncertainty: bodily labor, family work, and support work. As culture is more evident when lives are unsettled (Swidler 2001), I briefly describe how each strategy of action is culturally informed. Finally, I argue that, in the context of a life stage associated with peak productivity, health, economic contribution, and caregiving (by caring children and aging parents or by contributing to social security via the taxation of wages), the pressure for young adults to conform to culturally appropriate strategies of action that young adults see as available to them.

Bodily Labor

The first strategy of action was the engagement in bodily labor. I use the term bodily labor to describe strategies that center on the physical body, including engagement in protective health behaviors like alterations in diet and exercise, as well as techniques of self-surveillance, where young adults describe being hyper-aware of bodily functions or in a heightened state of alertness for any potential bodily abnormalities. Cancer organizations and healthcare clinicians encouraged bodily labor as a strategy of action by encouraging young adults to "take responsibility" for their health. The strategy of "bodily labor" reflects the underlying neoliberal logic embedded within cancer culture (Bell 2012), whereas the burden of detecting relapses and recurrences shift from the medical system to the individual young adult patient.

For young adults, bodily labor is motivated by the bodily experience of cancer and the violence enacted on the body during cancer treatment. At a life stage associated with health, this bodily labor is not about achieving the cultural ideal of fitness and health. Rather, bodily labor is a response to the experience of illness that cultivate

ongoing anxieties around health, mortality, and disability. Carlos (32, Latinx, colorectal) demonstrates the transformation of ideas associated with bodily labor:

I think about my health constantly, whereas before, I don't think I ever thought about it...now I realize that health is a perpetual state of how you are living. Everything you do affects your health...I used to look at health as a very passive thing that would just always be there for me. Now I know that it's not. Health is something that you have to work to maintain.

Importantly, bodily labor as a strategy of action occurs within the context of increasing privatization of health services, dissolution of professional authority, and destruction of welfare provisions in which "the individual" is endowed with responsibility for their own wellbeing (see: Stacey 2013). As such, bodily labor is a form of emotion work that allows young adults to reassert control over their illness experience in the context of decreasing contact with the medical system while also ensuring that young adults comply with neoliberal ideals of individualism and personal responsibility. As asserted by Peterson (1996:48-49), "[neoliberalism] calls upon the individual to enter into a process of their own self-governance through processes of endless self-examination, self-care, self-improvement."

Protective Health Behaviors

Bodily labor included engagement in protective health behavior, through which young adults engaged in exercise, diet change, and other lifestyle activities to minimize the chance of a recurrence, secondary cancer or to slow disease progression. Such ideals are common in the context of cancer recovery, where an individual is encouraged to see their recovery as a project (Stacey 2013). Cancer survivors are susceptible to messages

that link lifestyle behavior and cancer prevention to diminish the possibility of disease recurrence (Bell 2010). Such protective actions often fell outside the standards of normative medical or treatment regimens. However, they were encouraged by mainstream oncology care to capitalize on cancer as an opportunity for positive lifestyle adjustments and as a catalyst for physical development (Bell 2012). Expressed lifestyle changes included using only "clean" personal care and beauty products, paying close attention to nutrition, cutting out processed food and red meat, and transitioning to a vegetarian or plant-based diet. For example, Julia (38, white, breast) describes her attempt to protect herself and her daughters from "chemical" exposure via home, health, and beauty products and eating a diet that restricts corn and soy. "We have really revolutionized our [personal care] products. I wear beauty counter makeup and shop to ensure that our products are chemical-free. I'm also wary about corn products, and I make sure that we don't eat any soy." The emphasis on individual consumption reasserts neoliberal ideals of personal responsibility (Guthman 2011; Petersen 1996). Here, the burden is on Julia to protect her family via informed consumption rather than governmental regulation.

Shannon (36, white, colorectal), whose metastatic disease responded favorably to treatment, uses exercise as a protective health behavior to minimize the likelihood of recurrence. Shannon, who was "fairly active" before her cancer diagnosis, describes how her motivation for exercise changed because of the lived bodily experience of cancer:

The exercising part never necessarily took a priority for me as an adult. Other things, like work, would always come first. Post that first diagnosis and treatment, I really prioritize [exercise] more because there is research that says that exercise

is really effective in kind of keeping cancer at bay, and people who exercise more are less likely to have recurrences. So, I started just literally making that almost my first priority every day.

Shannon illustrates how the prioritization of exercise changed in the context of her illness experience, stating, "everything else has to fit around [exercise]." The motivations and incentives for engagement in bodily labor are not singular and change across one's moral career (Crossley 2006).

Mark (28, white, blood), describes how exercise takes on new meaning in light of his cancer diagnosis as a way to minimize the late effects of cancer treatment. "When I go to work out, I immediately think every time, I should go work out because my heart doesn't work as well as other people my age because I have had radiation, so I really need to focus on my cardiovascular health more than I otherwise would." Mark continues by distinguishing between his motivations for bodily labor compared with other young adults:

That's not something you think about if you haven't gone through treatment.

[Others think], I should work out because, you know, it's healthier, I feel better or at least positive endorphins or because I've got a little bit of weight from last Christmas that I want to work off or whatever... but for me, it's because my heart is not as healthy and I don't want to have a heart attack.

Julia, Shannon, and Mark all demonstrate how young adults engage in protective health behaviors to minimize cancer risk, prevent recurrence, and minimize the late effects of treatment. Notably, engagement in such actions requires access to financial resources to buy healthy food, pay for a gym membership, and buy "clean" products that are often

more expensive and less accessible. The emphasis on bodily labor as a protective health strategy reflects the emphasis on physical development embedded in cancer culture. The individualized nature of this resilience places the responsibility for recurrence prevention in the hands of individuals rather than the medical system.

For Mariana (38, Native, colorectal), bodily labor involves incorporating various alternative medicines, including a marijuana-derived oil and herbal tea, as well as dietary changes. While her stage-three cancer was operable, she concluded treatment early due to dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase deficiency (DPD), where the body lacks the enzyme to break down chemotherapy. In these cases, chemotherapy remains active in the body and continues to damage all rapidly dividing cells, causing severe or fatal reactions. "[My doctor] told me this numerous times [that] chemo is the backbone of this treatment for this cancer...so basically all they can do is watch me and monitor me: blood work every two months, CAT scan every three months." She continues, "I don't want it back, you know? I mean, I am trying anything and everything I can get my hands on to where this thing won't come back... I tried the chemo that didn't work. And I was like, that's okay. I got backups, you know... I'm doing it all."

Self-Surveillance

Bodily labor also took the form of bodily awareness and self-surveillance. Here, young adults describe being hyper-aware of bodily functions and experience a heightened state of alertness for any potential bodily abnormalities (or abnormal bodily sensation) as a mechanism to detect any potential signs of cancer progression, recurrence, or potential adverse side effects. This bodily surveillance demonstrates ongoing bodily dysappearance, or the non-normative awareness of the body that occurs in times of pain or

illness, in contrast to the body "moving to the side" of awareness in times of health (Leder 1990). The dys-appearance of the body was expressed by young adults receiving maintenance treatment, those in remission, and those who were considered "cancer free," thus demonstrating that the dys-appearance associated with cancer in young adulthood persists even after the conclusion of active treatment. The heightened awareness of the body violates cultural expectations of young adulthood, as bodies at peak health are taken for granted and therefore "absent" from awareness (Leder 1990).

Amanda's (33, white, breast) self-surveillance demonstrates the persistence of bodily dys-appearance, as well as the in-betweenness of health and sickness (Frank 2005, 2013). Despite the conclusion of active treatment, Amanda remains hyperaware of her body, attributing any abnormal bodily sensation to a sign of a recurrence. She asserts, "I don't have to think about [cancer] anymore, but in reality, it's always there. If I feel a little icky, I don't think, 'oh, these are flu symptoms.' I'm like, 'Oh, I have cancer.' Even though I had nothing, I didn't have an ache. I didn't have a pain." In another example, "with every single cramp or pain [I think] "what's that? Oh, what's this?" And you know, just different changes in your body. Like you're always gonna have that in the back of your mind. Like, "Oh my God, I could have a recurrence, and I could be dead next year or something." Even young adults in complete remission for five years still expressed difficulty in "letting go of the fear" and "remaining confident" in their health status, engaging in similar self-surveillance techniques and protective health behaviors. However, not all young adults expressed fear associated with the chance of recurrence. Michael (33, white, testicular): "I don't think I'm generally unhealthy because of the

cancer. I don't think it's going to show itself in other ways that I don't think that I'm like doomed to have a recurrence or that my health is going to be impacted."

The importance of self-surveillance in the context of diminishing medical contact and personal responsibility for health was emphasized by Mark's (28, white, blood) oncologist, who told him "self-diagnosis" was more effective than traditional lab work or scans at detecting recurrence. Importantly, this "self-diagnosis" occurs as Mark's contact with the medical system, specifically his oncologist, occurs only annually. As such, Mark describes himself as "waiting for a symptom," which exacerbates his bodily dysappearance. He explains a major consequence of this institutionally-exacerbated anxiety: "I know what to look for, I know the severity. But I am still always anxious... There's always a baseline level of anxiety around my health." While it is outside the purview of this dissertation to assess the medical validity of "self-diagnosis" being "more effective than traditional lab work or scans at detecting recurrences" -- specifically in the context of high rates of misdiagnosis – Mark's narrative demonstrates how the bodily labor of self-surveillance, i.e., "self-diagnosis" is institutionally disseminated. This emphasis on personal responsibility shifts the burden of detecting relapses and recurrences from the medical system to the individual young adult patent. As such, bodily labor as a strategy of action reflects and reifies the neoliberal project of personal responsibility.

Bodily labor also emerged during participant observations, where it was emphasized as a strategy of action by young adult cancer support organizations. With this, young adult organizations support and disseminate cancer culture's underlying neoliberal ideologies through discourses associated with bodily labor. The program at a young-adult cancer-specific convention encouraged young adults to engage in meditation,

maintain a healthy diet via "eating for cancer," and "take control" of their health in the aftermath of diagnosis and treatment. This reflects the tendency for oncology clinicians to exploit cancer as an opportunity for active interventions that promote adherence to lifestyle behavioral guidelines (Blanchard, Courneya, and Stein 2008; Bell 2012). In a panel discussion sponsored by a sizeable cancer-specific health organization, young adults were encouraged to "own" their survivorship by taking responsibility for longterm, follow-up care (because, as explained by one speaker, "long-term follow-up care is often neglected" because "older doctors don't know what to talk about" or "there isn't enough time"). These panels served as knowledge-gathering spaces where young adults eagerly sought information to understand further their conditions, risks, and specific health statuses. This included being actively aware of the conditions for which they experienced an increased risk (including leukemia and heart disease) and being aware of the routine follow-up tests they would need in the years following the conclusion of treatment (for example, an echocardiogram and pulmonary functioning test after both 5 and 10 years). Young adults were also encouraged to "take responsibility" for their medical history by keeping all medical records in a note on their smartphone so they could be accessed at any time. This reinforces underlying power inequities by encouraging young adults to navigate age-specific limitations in care not by reshaping patent-provider relationships, expanding access to healthcare, or advocating for improved informed consent but rather by individualizing the responsibility of follow-up care. With this, the burden is placed on young adults to be active information-seekers and to "own" their thrivership. This burdens the individual patient and privileges those with healthcare

capital. With this, organizations emphasize individual self-care and psychological wellbeing.

Finally, the experience of Eric (34, Black, blood) demonstrates how continued medical contact and surveillance can help to *diminish* the anxiety related to one's health status. In the following example, Eric describes how continued contact every three months provides a sense of security.

Now that I'm post-transplant for six years, I should only go for yearly checkups. But since I'm going in there every three months, I have the confidence to know that if something were to ever return, it would be caught early. And that gives me some peace of mind somewhat. Just because, like, sure, I worry about relapse all the time, but I'm able to put it on the back burner, for the most part, knowing that I'll have checkups and bloodwork in three months or sooner. And if something is there, it will show up, and we'll take action immediately... There is still fear there, but it's not to the point where I'm *drowning* in it. I can live my life and make plans and prepare for the future, whatever that may look like. But I'm confident enough to know that I'll be able to make it through whatever comes if something were to come again. And that's only because of my frequent checkups with my doctors.

This example illustrates the role of institutions in alleviating or exacerbating the feelings of anxiety and fear that buttress bodily labor as a strategy of action for young adults.

Family Work

The second strategy of action, the renewed focus on family, was expressed universally by women with young children, who made up roughly a quarter of the sample. This theme is characterized by engagement in emotional care work and

mothering responsibilities. Family work becomes a "tool" for young women based on gendered cultural expectations associated with nurturing, caregiving, and emotion work. Women are held accountable for family work in a way that men are not; thus, family work remains central to how women construct a gendered self (Erickson 2011). As such, family work is not experienced as a burden but a meaningful and symbolic expression of what it means to be a wife and mother and becomes central to identity (Erickson 2011; Hochschild 1979; Hochschild and Machung 2012).

For all mothers, the disruption caused by illness was often framed based on the impact on children and partners. In response, mothers described sustained *work* to maintain "normalcy" for their children despite physical and emotional pain and sustained emotional *work* on relationships with partners (which often included attending to a partner's emotional wellbeing). In the words of Gloria (32, Latinx, breast), a mother of two, "as a mom, you don't have the option to not get out of bed." The underlying sentiment of this statement is that mothers are not provided the space to take care of their emotional and physical wellbeing. Instead, women recognize that as mothers, they are accountable for the performance of this labor in ways that fathers are not.

Chloe (34, white, breast) describes herself as "always taking care of the kids and my husband first." With diagnosis and treatment, this was disrupted, "the focus was on me, and me getting better and help me and help me." She describes difficulty being "a normal mom" and treatment "really taking a toll on her kids." She recalls having difficulty getting down on the floor to play, being unable to take her children to places like parks and on play dates, and losing energy and her "happy moods." In the aftermath of this disruption, Chloe describes the importance of redirecting attention from herself to

her children and husband and returning to the roles she considers "normative." Family work is experienced as an expression of what it means to be a wife and mother (Erickson 2011). While Chloe continues to experience long-term side effects from treatment and lacks confidence in her health status, she firmly and purposefully places attention on being present with her family: "I try to just enjoy the time that I have with my family and try not to dwell on and think about the fact that five or ten years down the road I'll have to go through this again."

Melissa (31, white, breast), who has three young children and works within the home as a "stay-home mom," emphasizes the importance of maintaining her role as a primary caregiver for her children. She identifies with what is characterized as the "traditional mother" (Garey and Arendell 2001), who engages in full-time caregiving and domestic work and prioritizes, in her own words, "being there for her children" over working outside the home (Johnston and Swanson 2006). For Melissa, the intensive demands of treatment made her unable to perform the most taken-for-granted parenting activities central to her identity as a mother, such as cuddling a sick child.

When you're in treatment and immunocompromised, you have to be really careful not to get sick. As a mom, that's really difficult. If your kids are sick, you can't take care of them. You can't even hug and cuddle them. You've got to isolate and keep away from them. It really goes against all your [mothering] instincts.

In reflecting on a particularly salient moment, Melissa describes an occasion when her oldest son had a stomach bug and was "throwing up all over the place." She describes her husband, unfamiliar with care work, as "clueless" about how to clean up vomit. "He had no idea what to do, and I couldn't help him out. I ended up yelling instruction from across

the room, you know, 'get a paper towel and scrape up the vomit!" This incident is significant for Mellissa, as she was forced to "stand there and watch." As she moves farther from the active treatment and regains her immunity, she describes the importance of "making up for lost time" with her children.

Chloe and Melissa describe how their family work is based on the pressure of intensive mothering, or a child-centered, emotionally engrossing, and labor-intensive endeavor where the mother takes responsibility for the needs of the child, with the child's needs taking precedence over those of the mother (Hays 1996, also see: Garey and Arendell 2002; Wall 2001). As the demands of cancer treatment conflicted with the gendered demands of intensive mothering, young women reasserted the importance of family work and intensive mothering. In the context of disruption, mothers remained committed to the middle-class ideal of intensive mothering, trying to minimize the impact of the disruption on children and partners.

Mothers most successful in maintaining parenting goals describe support outside their romantic dyad. For example, Amanda (33, white, breast) describes the role of community in realizing her desire to breastfeed her daughter until her first birthday. This desire was so strong that, following her mastectomy, she considered postponing treatment that would negatively impact her milk production. "A big part of me was like, I'm just gonna not do it. I'm going to nurse her. I'll worry about the hormone therapy later. We'll just get through this year, and I'll take my risks that it'll come back." Amanda ultimately decided to complete her recommended treatment protocol. While this decision was difficult, her access to donor milk was essential in signifying her community of support and alleviating her guilt of not breastfeeding. "There [are] all these people behind us, and

I just need to take care of me and make sure that I am there for [my daughter] when she has to go through this."

I was worried that not breastfeeding would affect our bond, time, and closeness. That I wouldn't be able to give that something that only a mom can give. But it hasn't been that way... And there wasn't a moment where I was like, oh my gosh, we're running out of breast milk. I had breast milk coming out of my ears.

Amanda's initial response to postpone treatment until after she had achieved her breastfeeding goals reflects the ideology of intensive mothering, where the child's needs take precedent over the mother's needs (Hays 1996). For Amanda, access to donor breastmilk allowed her to maintain these parenting ideas – by providing her daughter breastmilk – without delaying treatment. With this, access to donor breastmilk allowed her to "take care of" herself while also asserting agency in the decision to breastfeed her child. In the context of disruption, mothers remain committed to the middle-class ideal of intensive mothering, trying to minimize the impact of the disruption on children and partners.

For young men unable to return to paid employment due to disability or lost work opportunities, family work became a way to compensate for limited options. For example, with his long-term professional goals upended, Michael (33, white, testicular) rearticulated his plan with an emphasis on family life rather than work life. Michael describes his long-term goals shifting from becoming a prominent litigator to starting a family, "I could potentially be a stay-at-home dad, which I would have never thought would happen." In another instance, Marcus (33, white, brain), whose treatment left him unable to work outside the home, describes "prioritizing" being a father for his two

school-age children. He states, "I want to be the father that I didn't have," demonstrating a desire to move away from traditional gendered divisions of labor that he experienced growing up. However, unlike the narrative of mothers, (potential) fathers did not frame family work as a "natural expression" of love for their children (See Erickson 2011; Wall and Arnold 2007).

Some young adults without family or long-term partners described the importance of maintaining contact and closeness with friends or what they deemed as their "chosen family." An unintended consequence of the emphasis on friendships was that close friends provided instrumental support for young adults without close family ties. Marriage undermines relations with the broader community, and the never-married are more likely to spend time with friends (Sarkisian 2006). Focus on family and friends is particularly important in neoliberal contexts where the state does not provide instrumental support for the long-term care of people with disability. This constant pressure to contain welfare spending in advanced capitalist societies means that informal, family-based care is socially necessary (Mowbray and Bryson 1984). As discussed previously, a cancer diagnosis in young adulthood can disrupt the formation of long-term partnerships and family formation. Reflecting on this disruption, some young adults describe emphasizing a chosen family or non-biological kinship bonds for mutual support and love (Gates 2017). For those young adults who found it difficult to form lasting adult romantic dyads, the strategy of focusing on chosen family provided an essential form of instrumental support often fulfilled by more traditional familial support networks.

The role of "chosen family" in providing instrumental support is demonstrated by the experiences of Jasmine (38, Black, colorectal) and Jennifer (39, white, sarcoma).

Both unpartnered middle-class women in their late thirties, Jasmine and Jennifer, described how close friends filled a gap in support and caregiving that would traditionally be filled by family (or, in the case of a more robust welfare state, the government). For Jasmine, a long-term friend, Susan, would accompany her to the doctor, schedule appointments, ask questions, and play the role of patient advocate. Jennifer (39, white, sarcoma), whose condition is terminal, describes making a "wheelchair pact" with a friend who also has a chronic illness. In the following excerpt, she describes their wheelchair pact and the motivation behind it:

She and I were talking very seriously last year about our health and how neither of us had stability in that regard. Neither of us has a family... our own nuclear family. So, we made [what we] called the 'wheelchair pact' where the first person who was in a wheelchair and needed help, the other would go to them, and we wouldn't ask questions. We wouldn't think about it twice. We'd just do what we had to do.

In the absence of a robust social safety net and without a family to provide extrainstitutional support, young adults like Jasmine and Jennifer, without a partner or traditional family support, relied on close friends and "chosen family" to provide support.

Support Work

Support activities took numerous forms and were often related to the needs of a specific cancer community, for example, young adult cancer, colorectal cancer, or BIPOC (Black Indigenous and People of Color) patients. The rise of condition-specific organizations, where individuals with the same illness share knowledge and experiences, is associated with the rise of embodied health movements and the trends in patient

empowerment (Brown and Zavestoski 2004; Brown et al. 2004). Breast cancer has been central in modeling what "good" survivorship looks like by emphasizing giving back and being a good-biomedical citizen (Klawiter 2008)

Involvement in support work was motivated by experiences of isolation, marginalization, and the lack of awareness and resources available for the target population. These motivations reflect in the distinct but analytically related and often cooccurring cultures of actions (Klawiter 2008): community-building, awareness and self-advocacy, and institutional reform. Support work became an outlet for young adults to fulfill the desire to help others associated with cancer survivorship (Little et al. 2000). Here, young adults mobilize to address the limitations of existing medical systems to meet the needs of a cancer population by providing community spaces of support (often unavailable in cancer centers) or by addressing institutional vulnerabilities experienced by young adults.

The most common form of support work was the engagement in age-specific community building. The prevalence of this theme may be due to sampling techniques and snowball sampling via these young adult networks. Age-specific community-building emphasizes overcoming isolation, building solidarity with other young adults, providing emotional support, and sharing knowledge. Young adults describe involvement in age-specific communities and the support they provide others as a form of service work. These communities included young adult-specific support groups, social media communities, and involvement with young adult cancer organizations. Michael (33, white, testicular) describes continued involvement with his age-specific support group as a mechanism to provide service to other group members: "I feel like I am more helpful to

them and that entire group...I feel like I'm there for them." Monica (28, white, thyroid), describes her online community as a space where members remain "positive and lean on each other" in times of uncertainty. She describes: "I find a lot of peace in my groups on Facebook where people my age that share their experiences." Geographically disbursed, young adults sought community in online groups and made connections via social media hashtags. Social media is associated with the creation of cancer support spaces online (Song et al. 2012).

Advocacy work

Online communities served as consciousness raising spaces, helping young adults navigate personal choices and identify institutional barriers. As such, involvement in these communities led to larger YA activism. The emphasis of YA included awareness, personal health advocacy, and institutional reform. The young adults who engaged in advocacy work did so because they were "filling a gap" or meeting a need that was not represented in mainstream YA support work. Those young adults most likely to engage in this work did so because they were diagnosed with a lesser recognized cancer (for example, colorectal cancer) or because they were distressed by a lack of medical knowledge and protocols for young adults (for example, not being offered options to preserve fertility). Maria (26, Latinx, blood) describes "using her voice" to raise awareness of YA cancer and encourage young adults to engage in health self-advocacy to address high rates of delayed diagnosis. With this, she actively encourages young adults to seek medical advice for any abnormal bodily sensations: "my goal is just to get you to talk to your doctor about any symptom you're having, about any part of your body. If you have a weird mole, if you have headaches all the time, if you have this weird thing

growing out of your side, you need to talk to a doctor." Danielle (27, white, colorectal) uses the language of obligation to describe her engagement in support work, "I feel like it's now part of my like responsibility to help spread that awareness whenever I can."

Sophie serves as an ambassador for a large cancer organization and maintains a public profile where she provides support and guidance on personal health advocacy for other young adults. She feels pressure to "put this shiny gloss on" her illness experience, serving as a source of positivity for other young adults. "I'm trying to reach out to people and help them...Even on my worst day, [when] I'm at home crying over everything that happens, someone will message me, and I'm like, 'You're fine. The world's a great place. Don't worry about it." Maria and Sophie's emphasis on "positivity" reflects what McGrath (2004:25) characterizes as the "RA RA positive," or the "unwanted pressure from others to be positive" during illness. As such, we should understand the feelings of altruism associated with "giving back" as closely related to the culture of positivity that governs experience of illness (and cancer, specifically).

Carlos (32, Latinx, colorectal), became involved with advocacy due to dissatisfaction with the support group at his hospital and described turning to online communities to make contact with other young adults. "I needed to find other people like me, and that led me to a couple of online support groups. That's really when I started meeting people around my age." These online communities served as consciousness raising spaces, helping Carlos navigate personal choices and identify institutional barriers for young adults with colorectal cancer. "I knew that I wanted to be more involved. So it started off as just a kind of casual volunteer role and metamorphosized into something much bigger." At the time of the interview, Carlos worked as a patient navigator for

young adults with colorectal cancer, acting as a resource of age-specific information for other young adults with cancer: "I'm teaching people how to save their lives. I know how to ask the appropriate questions when to seek a second opinion, what to not be afraid of, and what to read and what not to read." Despite the deep meaning Carlos gains from helping other young adults and colorectal patients, he describes the emotion work associated with support labor:

These conversations are not easy, and they bring up a lot of emotions for me...

They are very, very taxing emotionally on me, and I've just had to learn how to let it go... They're calling in for help and not calling in... [for me to tell] my story and to cry with them. They're looking for someone who has strength and can potentially talk them down off the ledge.

Sophie and Carlos describe the vast amount of emotional labor embedded with support work and the emotional management necessary to help other young adults through their illness experience.

Political Advocacy

For young adults with dominant class capital, advocacy work occurs on the political stage, with young adults engaging with public policy through political lobbying and or the creation of Political Action Committees (PACs). Support labor at the political level was the least common among young adults as it required both the political capital to understand how to engage in political work and necessitated free time unavailable to all young adults. The goals of political advocacy were shaped by the larger context in which the advocacy occurred. For example, Jennifer (39, white, sarcoma) describes becoming involved in politics during the Affordable Care Act debate:

My friends and I formed a political action committee, and I was, for lack of a better word, I was the spokesperson for it. I told my story to senators and members of Congress in the lead-up to the Affordable Care Act. And what I told them was, "I have never been as frightened of my disease as I am of health insurance companies. I'm more frightened of them than I am of cancer. How fucked up is that? That's what I'm scared of." And I told that story over and over and over again to any member of Congress who would listen. And that's how we did it. We lobbied, and we organized political actions to help pass the bill.

Importantly, access to political advocacy is not about income or wealth but social capital. Social capital capitalizes on political engagement by enhancing the capacity for collective action (Lowndes et al. 2004). While Jennifer was "financially ruined," her social capital allowed her to join with friends to craft political engagement to fill the gaps in existing healthcare policy.

In more recent examples, the goals of the political advocacy were shaped by cancer organizations that facilitated political engagement and taught young adults how to "tell their story" in an effective way. Lindsay (37 white, gynecological) describes attending a two-day advocacy training offered by a survivorship organization:

You go down to DC, and they train you on how to tell your cancer story and what they're working on, like the financial aspects of cancer care, all these things that you would never know if you're not in it. But it's so eye-opening. And then the second day, you go on the hill and... you [see] your local senators and your congressmen. They have this simple thing...that is like "how to tell your cancer story" ...Basically, your stump speech or selling speech [that] has to be under two

minutes...And it goes, "Hi, I'm from _____. My life's changed and _____, but thankfully I was able to do this. I'm asking you to do this." And then, "thank you for your support." You just insert [yourself into] it. It's kind of like a mad lib.

Lindsay's experience highlights how the rules and rituals of the political stage are something that must be learned - and rehearsed - before engaging in these interactions. She describes being trained "how to tell your cancer story" and taught "what [the organization] is working on ."The following day, Lindsay describes "sitting on the steps of the Senate with Cory Booker and Chuck Schumer talking about my cancer story." It is important to note that the individuals that often have access to these advocacy spaces are those with race and class privilege. The involvement of cancer organizations in facilitating institutional support meant that these organizations often shaped *what* needs – and *whose* needs – were emphasized including increased medical research on young adults, age-specific protocols, and addressing maladaptation. Importantly, like all support work, political advocacy was associated with vast emotional labor. This *work* echoed throughout the narratives of young adults:

If you're so involved in the cancer zone, then you're more aware when more people pass away. You have all these connections that are so much more painful instead of if you were just like this passerby or if you were like, *I finished* treatment, later days, bye!... But then, if you want to be more actively involved if you want to change the system, then you meet more people, and then you get hurt, and then it becomes so much more painful. And you're just like, if you change the system and you can help one more person, even if it's so small, and it's just like, Oh God, could I do it? Can I just walk away and not care? I don't think so.

Racial Justice

For BIPOC respondents, support work focused on not only age-specific needs but also the needs of BIPOC communities, such as racial health disparities, inequality in access to health care, and structural racism. For these BIPOC young adults, support work filled a gap in mainstream young adult advocacy support work that took a "colorblind" lens. In one case, Joshua (33, Black, blood), who has been involved in the larger young adult-cancer community for over five years, describes how the needs of his community differ from the themes emphasized in the YA community and the failure of their tactics to reach a diverse audience. Joshua's support work means encouraging Black people in his southern community to seek medical care when they experience abnormal symptoms:

In my [southern] community, Black people don't go to the doctor. Luckily, my mom is a nurse, so I didn't have that experience [because] I'm more trusting of medicine, so I went to the doctor when I started having symptoms... For me, advocacy means going to my friends and cousins, and others in my community and telling them to seek medical care when they think something is wrong.

Given his longstanding engagement with young adult advocacy and support, Joshua praises many young adult cancer support and advocacy spaces for their progress, for example, inviting BIPOC speakers and including more BIPOC people in conversations. However, his chosen advocacy reflects unique histories of institutionalized racism within medicine and a barrier to health care for BIOPOC communities.

Jasmine (38, Black, colorectal) also expresses the desire to "serve her demographic," suggesting an institutional and cultural disregard for Black women. Like Joshua, she critiques mainstream overly individualized approaches to cancer awareness,

stating, "I'm a Black female. I don't see that going back to a community of people who look and sound like me." Jasmine's emphasis on support work for Black women is motivated by racial disparities in colorectal cancer:

Colon cancer [has a] higher probability in African Americans, which is information that I don't think is truly out there... African American females specifically are a huge demographic of people who are affected; they either don't act on the symptoms they're having, [they] are misdiagnosed, or [they] don't have a voice.

Jasmine, whose diagnosis was delayed for over a year, uses her experience with the medical system to emphasize the intersections of race and gender to "help spread the good word and make my friends do it too" about the unique vulnerability of Black

Women.

Finally, Mariana's (38, Native, colorectal) advocacy includes participation in a place-based environmental justice campaign investigating the role of environmental toxins in increasing rates of cancer in young adults. Mariana, an enrolled tribal member, grew up in Indian Country on tribal land. She became aware of the area's high cancer rates in young adults after she and her (young adult) sister were diagnosed with the same non-genetic cancer. "I was surprised by how many young adults up there have developed cancer within the last ten years." She describes becoming involved with a local environmental activist who is "kind of doing an Erin Brockovich on the area...[because] there have been more and more young adults developing cancer." She describes her and her sister "throwing [their] names in the ring" in her investigation of toxic exposure and rising cancer rates in young adults. In the following excerpt, she reflects on her history of toxic exposure and the impact it likely had on her health:

We have a lot of factories up there, and I have personally worked in three of them for a pretty good amount of time each. I'm sure I was exposed to all kinds of toxic stuff. My car's paint got eaten up just sitting in the parking lot. So, I can only imagine what it did to my body.

Mariana, whose case is likely terminal, emphasizes using her experience and her "testimony" to make a difference in the lives of others. "I'm willing to help in any way to prevent my nephews or my niece from getting this crap, you know?" Racism is a structural issue that impacts the distribution of environmental risk (Alvarez and Norton-Smith 2018). Mariana's emphasis on the role of environmental racism in shaping rates of cancer in young adulthood demonstrates the connection between macro-level structures and individual lives. At the same time, environmental racism becomes an individual problem that must be dealt with by mobilizing the individual.

Discussion

This chapter explores young adults as they "figure out" life after a cancer diagnosis. From an individual-level reading of this data, this story may seem like one of resilience: Young adults are mindful of their health status, women with children focus on their families, and young adults across race, class, and gender engage in age-specific support as a way to support themselves and other young adults in different ways based on their unique positionality and perception of need. However, placing these strategies of action in a larger cultural context illuminates how ideology shapes responses to illness and the ways in which such responses require emotional, physical, and material resources.

Most importantly, this chapter illuminates the emotional labor associated with resilience work – work rendered invisible by commonsense ideologies. To be resilient to

off-time illness, to be a "survivor," to engage in bodily labor and take responsibility for your health, and to take it upon yourself to change the experience of other young adults with cancer require substantial and ongoing work. It requires emotional resources and is not infinite or free. The labor underpinning social expectations of "survivorship" is captured in the following statement made by Mitch (42, white, blood/sarcoma), who describes how the pressure to be a "successful survivor" after being diagnosed with a second primary cancer:

There's almost a societal expectation to go out and do something great...I need to go and do something great again, but I have also almost zero motivation to go and do so, which makes me feel even worse. Because not only am I not living up to me, I'm not living up to what society wants me to be, or what society wants to see, the successful survivor, and, oh, you've had it twice, you have to go into something twice as good. That's what I'm dealing with right now. There's an expectation that I need to go and be a superhero, and I just wanna sit at home. I just wanna relax. I've been through a show in the last couple of years. I'm tired.

Mitch's narrative illuminates the pressure to be a "superhero" and bounce back after his second cancer diagnosis. Mitch describes how embedded within this elasticity is an overarching pressure to "save the world" while lacking a "crusade" to go on. Here, Mitch demonstrates how his perceived failure to live up to expectations of survivorship serves as a source of emotional labor. This is perhaps what is most contradictory about the commonsense ideologies young adults draw upon; just as these strategies require emotional management and labor, similarly, failing to "live up to them" evokes emotional distress.

This chapter moves beyond literature that examines the "survivor" experience of young adults with cancer. This literature explores the impact of cancer on identity and self-concept (Darabos and Ford 2020; Langeveld and Arbuckle 2008; Song et al. 2012). I build on this literature, focusing not on the meanings young adults attach to their experience but rather how the strategies of action they use in life after a cancer diagnosis, with particular attention to how they reinforce cancer culture's emphasis on growth, development, and individualized resilience. I find that pieces of contemporary commonsense ideology become more salient in particular moments or for particular people as they re-settle their lives.

This critical interpretation of cancer culture builds on the work of existing sociological research. Bell (2012) shows that cancer survivorship is associated with "post-traumatic growth" and is seen as an opportunity for physical and psychological development. Youll and Meekosha (2011) demonstrate that "positive thinking" in response to cancer minimizes stress and harm while reinforcing dominant neoliberal ideals of personal responsibility. Others have critiqued the characterization of cancer as enabling self-transformation and facilitating development (Bell 2012; Steinberg 2015). Dominant discourses frame cancer as a "unique opportunity to catalyze the patient's physical and psychological development" (Bell 2012: 584).

I find that young adults also engage in bodily labor to limit, prevent, and identify any disease progression or recurrence, reflecting neoliberal ideals of personal responsibility. Bodily labor took on two interrelated forms: 1) protective health behaviors, in which young adults engaged in exercise, diet change, and other lifestyle activities to minimize the chance of a recurrence, secondary cancer or to slow the

progression of disease, and 2) self-surveillance, wherein young adults describe being hyper-aware of bodily functions and experience a heightened state of alertness for any potential bodily abnormalities (or abnormal bodily sensation) as a way to detect any potential signs of a cancer progression, recurrence, or potential negative side-effects. Bodily labor was encouraged as a strategy of action by oncology clinicians and young adult cancer organizations, which encouraged young adults to "take responsibility" for their health, placing the burden for recurrence detection and prevention and knowledge about long-term follow-up care on individual young adults rather than the medical institutions. This reflects the privatization of risk management, where the individual young adult manages the risk of cancer progression or recurrence through individual (lifestyle) choices, alleviating the burden placed on medical institutions.

Bodily labor as a strategy of action supports and challenges prior research. They support prior literature which emphasizes the underlying neoliberal logic embedded within discourses on cancer survivorship. For example, Bell (2012) shows how oncological discourses on cancer survivorship reflect the neoliberal logic of privatized risk management, where the individual is expected to take responsibility for managing the risk of cancer recurrence to alleviate the financial burden on the healthcare system. My findings challenge previous research that argues cancer survivors engage in high-risk behaviors (Cox et al. 2005). Instead, I find that young adults engage in protective health behavior to reassert control over health status and minimize the risk of relapse or recurrence, reflecting prior findings of Frank (2003) and Bell (2010).

I find that young women with heterosexual partners and young children emphasize family work. Family work describes the emphasis on caregiving and nurturing

associated with normative cultural expectations of femininity. Here, young adults described shifting attention from themselves, the receiver of caregiving during treatment, back to their children and husbands. Young women engage in family work, committed to hewing to the modern ideals of middle/upper-class intensive mothering, trying their best not to let the disruption of illness disrupt, even as it does. Young women demonstrate how "pieces" of contemporary commonsense ideology become more salient in particular moments for particular people as they re-settle their lives. For young women, gendered expectations of care work and ideologies of intensive mothering are reflected in the strategies of action young women employ.

Family work as a strategy of action for young adults with cancer extends prior research. This literature builds on work examining how gender shapes illness experiences (Wedgwood et al. 2020; Charmaz 1994; Parton, Ussher, and Perz 2016; Parton, Katz, Ussher 2019; Pound 1998) by showing how gender shapes strategies of action employed in response to the disruption caused by illness. Others have shown how women with children often emphasize the impact of illness on their children rather than themselves (Parton et al. 2017) and how women unable to fulfil expectations of nurturing and caregiving risk having their illness minimized (Montali et al. 2011). This extends this inquiry, showing that young adults with children attempt to repair this disruption by engaging in family work as a strategy of action. Ammons and Kelly (2008) note that literature on family work has yet to examine the experiences of the young adult cohort and life course literature has failed to examine work-family transition to adulthood.

I find that young adults engage in support work as a strategy of action, which encompasses involvement in peer-to-peer social support and advocacy work related to the

needs of a specific cancer community. Most support work emphasized age rather than condition, focusing on young adults with cancer. Involvement in support work was motivated by experiences of isolation, marginalization, and the lack of awareness and resources available for the target populations; young adults would *mobilize* to address the limitations of existing medical institutions to meet the needs of a cancer population.

Support work focused on three distinct but analytically related and co-occurring cultures of action (Klawiter 2008, 2004): community-building, awareness and self-advocacy, and institutional reform.

The prevalence of support work places the burden for the emotional, physical, and social wellbeing of young adults with cancer on the shoulders of their peers. A dearth of institutionally embedded support programs means that young adults feel compelled to act as "ambassadors" for other young adults -- answering questions, providing access to resources, and raising the visibility of cancer in young adult bodies. Even when condition-specific organizations exist, these entities rely on young adults to "tell their cancer story" to facilitate fundraising and institutional reform, demonstrating the overreliance on informal care work in advanced capitalist societies (Mowbray and Bryson 1984). For example, the director of a young-adult cancer organization described the benefit of mobilizing the illness experiences in an interview, describing "stories that come from the patients themselves" as "the best and most effective promotional tactics."

Previous research describes the tendency for cancer survivors to engage in altruistic activities and service work that continues after the conclusion of active treatment (Little 2000; Frank 2003). Frank (2003:251) explores the role of service work in the craftwork of survivorship, as involvement in the world of illness is not self-evident. Frank describes

suffering as "the call to and preparation for works for further service," drawing on Schweitzer's (1990) assertation that serious illness awakens a responsibility beyond normative awareness. On one level, my interviewees exhibit what Frank (2003) terms "extensive responsibility" in their desire to make a difference. At the same time, young adults often do not have the privilege of "limited liability" in the aftermath of illness, as the social and physical disruption caused by cancer extends beyond the illness period. As this 'service work' results from the limitations of institutions, motivations should move beyond seeing service as an *individualized responsibility* but rather a sense of group responsibility due to the collective failings of institutions to support the needs of young adults with cancer.

My findings detailing engagement in age-specific individual and collective support connect with previous literature describing the emergence of – and involvement in – condition-specific organizations. This literature emphasizes the specificity of illness experience as it pertains to a specific illness or disease. The experience of young adults with cancer and their involvement in *age*-specific organizations demonstrate how the life course stage surpasses cancer type as a uniting identity. I find that young adults mobilize resources and engage in age-specific organizations to address the limitations of medical institutions to meet the needs of young adults. Involvement in cohort-specific support groups does provide young adults space for individual and collective support. The burden of this labor falls on the young adult cancer patient and survivor rather than health care institutions and systems. Placing this burden on young adults means that young adults employ emotional management and labor.

Finally, in addressing racial differences in approaches to support work, I illuminate how mainstream cancer advocacy perpetuates the needs and perspectives of those with race and class privilege. This builds on the work of others (Ernst 2011) that show the limitations of colorblindness, particularly within the context of racialized institutions, like medicine or welfare. The actions of BIPOC young adults in targeting the needs of BIPOC communities should be understood as an anti-racist racial project (Omi and Winant 2014), as it attempts to "reorganize and redistribute" resources along particular racial lines. Future research should consider the impact of the life course stage in response to health inequalities. Responses to racism change over the life course due to different levels of social power (Vasquez and Norton-Smith 2017). Therefore, the responses of BIPOC young adults with cancer may differ from others at other life stages. With the emergence of age-specific cancer support, future research should examine young-adult-specific spaces to determine if they can overcome the limitations of other condition-specific cancer organizations.

CHAPTER VI

CONCLUSION

As I approach the conclusion of this project, I am overwhelmed by grief. Perhaps this seems like a strange feeling to be associated with a dissertation, as completion of this academic milestone should be a source of celebration. For me, this is not the case. I am acutely aware that a few – and perhaps several – of my respondents have not lived long enough to see this project come to fruition. During one of my first interviews in 2018, Carlos described survivor's guilt as a symptom of institutional failure: the failure to capture the entirety of a young adult patient, the failure to consider the long and late effects of cancer treatment, and the failure to address mental health. He described the labor of immersing oneself in the world of young adult cancer and the labor associated with watching people you know and care about die. He recalled watching "vibrant" young adults who had "the rest of their lives to live cut very, very short" by cancer. In writing this dissertation, I have been completely immersed in the world of young adult cancer while simultaneously detached from this reality of death. I have had the luxury to engage with a young adult who is temporally suspended – forever captured in an interview transcript. In this moment, their illness has not progressed or returned. They continue to play with their dogs, kiss their children goodnight, see their doctors, and engage with the enduring uncertainty of illness. As I complete this project, I feel the weight of these vibrant lives; a responsibility to share their stories while protecting them from the reality outside these pages.

In the preceding chapters, I explored young adults' lived experiences of cancer. I sought to answer the following research questions: How did young adults experience selfdiagnosis? How did they experience professional diagnosis? How did a cancer diagnosis impact their lives, from educational and occupational trajectories to relationships, intimacy, and family formations? How did social institutions mitigate or exacerbate the impacts of off-time illness? What responses did young adults employ in life after a cancer diagnosis? How were these responses culturally informed? The dissertation examines illness experiences as culturally and institutionally shaped and age-specific. This dissertation's primary contribution is examining a previously unexamined population, young adults with cancer. The findings contribute to sociological literature in medical sociology and the sociology of health and illness, demonstrating how age shapes experiences of illness in formal and informal ways, how the timing of illness during young adulthood influences the experience of disruption, and how social actors assert agency in the context of cultural and institutional constraints. Above all, this dissertation emphasizes the importance of age as an axis that structures experiences and social relations.

Contributions

Emphasis on Young Adults with Cancer

The primary contribution of this dissertation is the sociological examination of an understudied population: young adults with cancer. Biomedical advancements in the last 40 years have transformed cancers once fatal into chronic conditions. The benefit of such advancement has been uneven with young adult survival rates being significantly outpaced by increased survival rates in childhood and older adulthood. As such, young

adults with cancer are characterized as the most underserved cancer population, prompting the growth of research on this population in medicine, nursing, oncology, and social work. Sociological analysis of experiences of cancer in young adulthood, as well as the activities and growth of age-based organizations, provide an opportunity to place individual illness experiences in the context of social structure.

Emphasis on Age

A central goal of this dissertation is to emphasize age as an axis that shapes individual experiences and social relations. Expectations attached to life stages are formalized through governmental policies that attach specific responsibilities, rights, and benefits to people at specific ages within the life course. Age should not be understood as an individual attribute or chronological fact (Laz 1986). Instead, age reflects – and shapes -- institutions and normative discourses based on cultural expectations about the life course. This conception of age is like that offered recently by Barrett and Michael (2022:185), who conceptualize age as an institution or "a structure of social relations scaffolded by ideologies about age and aging, grounded in practices to sustain them, and enforced by coercive social norms."

For young adults with cancer, age shapes illness experiences in both formal and informal ways. Age is socially constructed and serves as a marker for when events should occur along the life course. Age provides a prescription of how individuals move through time, influencing their understanding of themselves and the social world (Hockey and James 2003). Notably, cultural expectations of age^{14} shape social support systems, policies, and practices. These cultural expectations are also placed on young adult bodies,

¹⁴ These cultural expectations of age could themselves be considered "common sense" ideologies.

shaping expectations and interpretations of sensations. It is these cultural discourses and institutional practices that shape the experience of illness. Emphasis on age provides the opportunity to examine how young adults view their age as central to their understanding of their bodies, interactions with the medical system, and experiences as patients, thus setting the stage for the creation of age-specific extra-institutional organizations. For example, in chapter two, I demonstrate how age-based expectations of health in young adulthood framed self and professional symptom interpretation, yielding insight into how life course stage shapes young adult understanding of their bodies and how health care professionals perceive their bodies. I offer the term 'age-related blind spots,' where young adults, clinicians, and medical systems are slow to recognize ill health in some young adult bodies, as a conceptual tool to capture how life-course stage impacts diagnosis.

For young adults, age serves as an important aspect of identity. As Twigg (2012:1032) asserts, "age is surely one of the key or 'master' identities, along with gender, class, 'race' and other contenders." The salience of age as an identity is evident in young adult rejection of a generalized cancer identity, often associated with older adults, in favor of a young adult specific biosocial identity. With this, young adults challenge this conception of cancer as a disease of old age by producing new collective identities with other young adults.

Biographical Disruption in Young Adulthood

The second goal of this dissertation is to illuminate how the timing of biographical disruption during young adulthood creates unique and cascading impacts.

The biographical disruption framework understands illness as a "major kind of disruptive experience" that disrupts daily life, expectations, and plans for the future, necessitating a

fundamental rethinking of biography and self-concept (Bury 1991; 982:169). Despite the vast application of the biographical disruption framework, central critiques point to its failure to acknowledge how social structure, timing, and context shape experiences of *illness*. The life course perspective asserts the importance of timing, emphasizing how the consequences of life course events and transitions vary based on when they occur in an individual's life (Elder 1998; Elder et al. 2003). Social norms and expectations dictate the appropriate "timing" of events and transitions along the life course, classifying them as "off-time" or "on-time" (Settersten 2003). As norms and expectations associate ill health with older adulthood (Gullette 2017), the timing of a cancer diagnosis in young adulthood disrupts cultural expectations. Focusing on individuals at one life course stage, young adulthood, I show how life course stage and the (off)timing of illness shape the experience of disruption.

Young adulthood is a period of transition and change, where individuals achieve the traditional markers of adulthood: completing education, entering the labor force, financial independence, marriage, and becoming a parent. The life course principle of lifelong development holds that experiences with cancer in young adulthood shape subsequent life stages as life experiences reverberate across the life course. In chapter three, I find that the (off)timing of illness during the transitionary period of young adulthood has unique consequences with potentially long-term and cascading effects. I show how a cancer diagnosis disrupts the everyday lives, plans, and expectations of young adults in the key sites of education and occupation and relationship, intimacy, and family formation. Young adults shared disruption in these sites despite variations in diagnosis, treatment, and diverse positionality in the trajectory to adulthood. At the

critical juncture of the young adult life stage, I argue that these disruptions must be understood in terms of their potential long-term and cascading effects. I also find that the off-timeness of cancer in young adulthood challenges culturally-informed pathways to adulthood by disrupting the achievement of "traditional" markers of adulthood. I also illuminate the role of institutions in mitigating or exacerbating the disruption of cancer during young adulthood.

Structural Factors Shaping Illness Experience

This dissertation draws attention to how structure and culture shape illness experiences. Grounding the research in the US context, which, compared to other advanced democracies, has a comparatively weak welfare state and health care that is not guaranteed, demonstrates how institutions exacerbate the disruption of illness. For example, Grinyer's (2009) analysis of life after cancer in adolescents and young adults (diagnosed between the ages of 14 and 26) in the United Kingdom fails to acknowledge the role of the National Health Service in shaping the experience of survivorship. Unlike the findings of this dissertation, the participants in Grinyer's (2009) study did not describe difficulty accessing treatment, fear of a loss of health insurance, or the high cost of care due to un- or under-insurance. While participants in the UK did describe longterm financial consequences of cancer, they were attributed to side effects, comorbidities, and disabilities, rather than financial toxicity, which, as a consequence of the cost of access to healthcare, pattern future employment, relationships, and family-formations. By examining the experience of illness in the context of employer based-healthcare and lessrobust social safety nets, this study illuminates how structural conditions shape illness

experience and how young adults without guaranteed access to healthcare mobilize recourses to address gaps in institutional support.

An emphasis on structural conditions allows for a more critical reading of often overly individualistic responses to illness. For example, the biographical disruption framework describes how illness disrupts everyday life and forces individuals to reevaluate future expectations (Bury 1982). While important, such perspectives are often overly individualistic and fail to acknowledge how experiences of – and responses to – illness are socially constructed. I build on this literature to illuminate how cultural and institutional forces shape illness experiences. A central goal in this project is to further interrogate narratives that frame illness, and cancer specifically, as facilitating personal development and growth. Acting on such 'opportunities' requires engineering, support, or, at the very least, access to consistent and affordable healthcare.

Rethinking Resilience

This project illuminates how vulnerability and resilience are socially constructed for young adults with cancer. For example, in chapter three I show how young adult resilience to employment disruptions was mitigated by robust workplace benefits, including health insurance, access to short and long-term disability, and workplace flexibility. In the context of disruption and institutional failure, young adults assert agency in ways to fill the gaps left by institutions. The natal family was central to the engineering that facilitated young adult resilience to an off-time illness for those otherwise outside of most age-based supports and lacking resources of their own. Upper and middle-class families provided young adults with direct financial support, while working-class families relied on community fundraisers to support young adults. While

essential, this renewed dependence on parents negatively impacted the self-concept of young adults as it challenged cultural expectations of independence.

Finally, finding themselves outside of existing support systems, young adults labor to facilitate their own resilience through various form of resilience work. For example, I show how young adults engage in peer-to-peer support and advocacy work related to the needs of a specific cancer community. This support work involved vast emotional labor and often reflected the needs of those with race and class privilege. With this, I demonstrate how inequalities are exacerbated as young adults from different racial backgrounds navigating racialized organizations that are buttressed by cultural understandings about what, and who should be at the forefront of advocacy. BIPOC respondents engage in support work that centers on the needs of their communities, working to fill a gap in mainstream young adult advocacy support work.

Limitations and Future Research

A fundamental limitation includes the small sample size and variation among cancer types, stage at diagnosis, geographic locations, and the broad age range of young adults. Limitations also include variations around race, gender, and social class. Although I conducted interviews until I reached theoretical saturation and no new themes emerged, the sample of 40 young adults is not large enough to allow for generalizability. My sample also includes variations in geographic location across states with differing state policies and Medicaid eligibility, differing demographics, and treatment at various hospitals and cancer centers. A final limitation of my research is the vast variation in the bodies of young adult respondents. Even those with the same cancer type and stage will

not experience illness similarly. There are far too many variations in the corporeal reality of cancer that I cannot account for in this research.

The limitations of this research provide exciting opportunities for future inquiry. Future research should examine, more specifically, cancer experiences in young adulthood with specific parameters around race, gender, and social class. Future research should also examine young adults' experiences in one (or across) specific geographic contexts, among a larger sample, specific cancer type and time from diagnosis, across more demographic categories, and based on private vs. public insurance coverage. In the interrogation of large samples, it would be beneficial to employ a mixed-methods approach to keep the nuance provided by in-depth interviews and participant observations. A natural progression of this work would be to examine the experiences of young adults as time increases after initial diagnosis: 10-20 years after diagnosis, 20-30 years after diagnosis, etcetera. More research is needed to understand how the medical system uses age in formal and informal ways. How have age-based ideologies been codified into social and medical institutions to shape the experiences of young adults? What types of professional development or training might aid primary care providers, oncologists, clinicians, and others working in the medical field in support of young adults with cancer? Finally, future research should examine how age impacts individual experiences and social relations. How might other age-based ideologies perpetuate inequitable social and material environments?

Recommendations

Recommendations based on my research findings include healthcare reform, an emphasis on an expanded conception of informed medical consent, and reconceptualizing cancer.

These recommendations may help support the survival and flourishing of young adults diagnosed with cancer.

Healthcare Reform

The first recommendation of this dissertation is to expand access to public health insurance and lower individual out-of-pocket expenses. In the context of the increasing precariousness of young adulthood, the current employer-based healthcare system creates specific age-related blind spots in coverage for young adults as a demographic.

Compared to children or older adults, the young adult demographic is more likely to be uninsured or have minimal health insurance (Smith and Medalia 2013). Those young adults with low- or moderate-income households are most at risk. Lack of insurance has significant health implications. For example, Collins et al. (2012) found that 60% of uninsured surveyed young adults said they did not get needed health care because of cost. Such delays in help-seeking are particularly troublesome in cancer cases as many cancers spread rapidly, and the stage at diagnosis impacts treatment cost, intensity, duration, and 5-year survival rates.

Recent healthcare reforms have yet to go far enough to extend protection for young adults. Patterns of un and underinsurance remains even after changes in the Affordable Care Act extended coverage for some young adults, allowing them to stay on their parent's insurance until age 26 under the Dependent Coverage Provision (DCP). Despite this expansion, research shows that almost 40% of young adults ages 19-29 were without health insurance for all or part of a year (Collin et al. 2011). Many young adults are unaware of this expansion or pre-existing insurance options (Warner et al. 2014), and only some have access to parental health insurance. In addition, the coverage provided by

the DCP has been uneven, with Black and Latinx patients less likely to have private insurance before and after the Affordable Care Act-Dependent Coverage Provision, compared with white patients (Alvarez et al. 2018). Research demonstrates that the ACA-DCP improved healthcare coverage for those young adults that traditionally have access to resources and healthcare, reinforcing existing patterns of inequality and that insurance does not directly translate to increased access due to high out-of-pocket costs (Kirchhoff et al. 2012). Therefore, it is central to focus on expanding access for publicly insured groups and decreasing out-of-pocket expenses. While the ACA-DCE did expand coverage for a subset of the young adult population with race and class privilege, it reifies existing racial and socioeconomic disparities for those that already experience disparate survival outcomes (Alvarez et al. 2018).

The current private and public health insurance system reduces young adults' resiliency following disruptions to work and employment activities. Employment disruptions can result in health care loss for those with private health insurance. After the conclusion of active treatment, young adults have less flexibility in pursuing professional opportunities, as maintaining healthcare coverage is a central concern. Previous research speculates that employer-based health insurance results in job lock, little choice of health plans, and limited portability. Such patterns are exacerbated for illnesses like cancer that require ongoing treatment and long-term follow-up care. While Medicaid expansion increased access to public health care for low-income young adults, income restrictions mean young adults must remain asset-poor to continue receiving benefits, thus limiting their return to work.

Healthcare reform should include the development and implementation of universally accessible long-term follow-up care to meet the unique needs of young adults as they age. The best way to ensure young adults receive long-term follow-up care is to implement a universal public healthcare system where access to care is separate from formal employment. Ghaderi et al. (2013) find that after five years, young adults experience an increased risk of severe late effects, morbidities, chronic illnesses, and disabilities, resulting in diminished working capacity and prolonging the financial impact of cancer. For young adults with cancer, the risk of permanent disability increases as access to healthcare decreases (Ghaderi et al. 2013). Universally accessible healthcare is necessary for early detection and intervention to reduce the adverse health effects associated with cancer and cancer treatment. As the incidents and prevalence of cancer continue to grow among young adults, the collective and individual physical, emotional, social, and economic burden associated with the long-term consequences can be mediated with universal healthcare and accessible, long-term follow-up care.

An Expanded Conception of Informed Consent

The second recommendation is that healthcare professionals, including physicians, clinicians, and social workers, ensure an expanded conception of informed consent in all patient-provider interactions. This expanded conception of informed consent includes consent for a given medical procedure(s), transparency around possible side effects of treatments, access to treatment options themselves, and information about long-term follow-up care. While important in all contexts, informed medical consent is essential for young adults based on high rates of late-stage misdiagnosis and short-term and long-term side effects of cancer treatment. In the context of an off-time illness,

informed consent may look different in young adulthood than in other life states. Young adults have less social power than older adults, and healthcare capital likely increases with age, as does familiarity with medical institutions. Informed consent must encompass the doctor-patient relationships at every stage of illness, from diagnosis to long-term follow-up care.

An expanded conception of informed consent will address unequal access to fertility preservation and fertility-based information. While I am not the first to discuss the importance of informed consent in the context of young adults with cancer, medical literature often emphasizes physician disclosure of potential treatment-induced infertility and access to options for fertility preservation. While I support such initiatives, especially as women are more likely to experience treatment-induced infertility and less likely to be provided with options for fertility preservation, limiting the scope of informed consent to focus only on *fertility* fails to acknowledge the myriad of ways sexual and reproductive health may be impacted by cancer treatments, for example, side-effects on sexual pleasure and treatment-induced menopause. Further, the emphasis on *fertility* prioritizes women's reproductive labor, reflects (and reinforces) the massive growth of the reproductive bioeconomy, and fails to acknowledge that such fertility chains are highly dependent on the appropriation and exploitation of women's unpaid and paid reproductive labor (See: Vertommen et al. 2021).

An expanded conception of informed consent will also ensure that all young adult patients fully understand the potential long-term side and late effects of treatments and treatment options before starting treatment and are given precise long-term follow-up plans. While there have been calls to create young adult-specific "checklists" for

providers to cover with young adults, my finding demonstrates that protocols alone do not guarantee agency. As such, expanded informed consent requires moving away from evidence based medicine that fails to take account of the individual.

Reconceptualizing Cancer

My final recommendation is to reconceptualize cancer as a disease that impacts all ages and stages of the life course. As I have shown here, the cultural construction of cancer as a disease of old age shapes the understanding of risk by both individuals and clinicians. The ideology underpinning this cultural construction, the association with old age with decline, has also been used to justify the irrationality of universal health care, as young bodies do not experience catastrophic illness. As such, reconceptualizing cancer will further support policies and practices that offer support to young adult bodies.

The case of colorectal cancer demonstrates the importance of reconceptualizing cancer, which, as I have shown, is conceptualized as a disease of older adults. While it is true that the majority of cancer cases occur after the age of 40, the incidence is increasing in young adults. Based on current trends, colon cancer is projected to increase by 90% and rectal cancer by 124% in those under 35 (Underferth 2020). As reflected by my sample, over 60% of young adult cases are diagnosed at either stage III or IV. I remind the reader that, if caught early, colorectal cancer is curable, while stage IV has a five-year survival rate of 20%. In recent years, the recommended age to begin screening for colorectal cancer has been lowered from 60 to 45. While this marks a significant move, it would not capture the experiences of colorectal cancer found in these pages. Further, as the young adults in my sample experienced prolonged IBS symptoms, they should have had access to a colonoscopy based on the prior guidelines. It is not enough to lower

screening guidelines, especially if those who exhibit symptoms experience barriers to diagnostic testing.

Final Thoughts

This dissertation began after my family navigated the disruption of an off-time illness. Throughout our experience, I was struck by the inability of existing institutions to accommodate illness in young adults. To be a young body with cancer was to violate individual expectations, medical expectations, and the expectations of existing institutionally-embedded support. From the beginning of this project, I have struggled with the story I wanted to tell. On the one hand, the story of young adults with cancer is one of biomedical triumph: advancements in medical technology in the last forty years have turned cancer from a terminal condition to one that is chronic and sometimes curable. Many of the young adults in my sample, including my partner, would have faced different outcomes five decades ago. These interventions come at an emotional, physical, social, and financial cost—costs that are exacerbated by institutional support and practices. At the same time, young adults demonstrate resilience in their commitment to their families, responsibility for their health, and obligation to improve the experiences of other young adults with cancer. Young adults find ways to be resilient when institutions fail them. It is my final hope that this dissertation demonstrates the limitations of a system that places the burden of resilience on the individual.

APPENDIX A

SAMPLE DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS

 Table 1. Young Adult Participants Demographic Characteristics

Name	Gender	Age	Race	Cancer Type	Class	Partnered	Parent
Alexis	female	38	white	colorectal	working	partnered	no
Amanda	female	33	white	breast	middle	partnered	yes
Amber	female	33	while	skin	middle	partnered	yes
Amira	female	30	white	colorectal	working	partnered	no
Brittany	female	35	white	sarcoma	middle	single	no
Carlos	male	34	Latinx	colorectal	working	partnered	no
Chloe	female	34	white	breast	working	partnered	yes
Christopher	male	21	white	colorectal	middle	single	no
Danielle	female	27	white	colorectal	middle	single	no
Donella	female	41	white	blood	middle	partnered	yes
Eric	male	34	Black	blood	middle	single	no
Gloria	female	32	Latinx	breast	middle	partnered	yes
Heather	female	31	white	colorectal	working	partnered	no
Hector	male	19	Latinx	blood	working	Single	no
Isabelle	female	26	Latinx	blood	middle	single	no
Jade	female	29	black	blood	middle	partnered	no
Jasmine	female	38	Black	colorectal	middle	single	no
Jennifer	female	39	white	sarcoma	middle	single	no
Jeremy	male	36	white	blood	middle	partnered	yes
Joshua	male	33	Black	blood	middle	single	no
Julia	female	38	white	breast	middle	partnered	yes
Kimberly	female	26	white	colorectal	middle	single	no
Lindsay	female	37	white	gynecological	middle	single	no
Marcus	male	33	white	brain	Working	partnered	yes
Maria	female	26	Latinx	blood	middle	single	no
Mariana	female	38	native	colorectal	working	partnered	no
Marin	male	28	Latinx/Asian	blood	working	single	no
Mark	male	28	white	blood	middle	single	no
Melissa	female	31	white	breast	working	partnered	yes
Michael	male	33	white	testicular	middle	partnered	no
Mitch	male	42	white	blood/Sarcoma	middle	partnered	yes
Monica	female	28	white	thyroid	middle	partnered	no

Nicole	female	28	South Asian	blood	middle	single	no
Paul	male	33	white	blood	working	single	no
Rebecca	female	34	white	breast	middle	single	no
Samuel	male	35	Latinx	blood	middle	single	no
Shannon	female	36	white	colorectal	middle	partnered	no
Sydney	female	28	white	blood	working	single	no
Tracy	female	39	white	gynecological	middle	partnered	yes
Wendy	female	24	white	blood	working	single	no

REFERENCES CITED

- Abrahamsen, A. Foss, A. Andersen, O. Nome, A. B. Jacobsen, H. Holte, J. Foss Abrahamsen, and S. Kvaløy. 2002. "Long-term risk of second malignancy after treatment of Hodgkin's disease: the influence of treatment, age and follow-up time." *Annals of oncology* 13(11): 1786-1791.
- Ahmadzadeh, Ahmad, Mir Saeed Yekaninejad, Mohamad H. Jalili, Mohammad Bahadoram, Mehdi Efazat, Mohammad Seghatoleslami, Fatemeh Yazdi, Mozhdeh Mahdipour, Armita Valizadeh, and Najmaldin Saki. 2014. "Evaluating the survival rate and the secondary malignancies after treating hodgkin's lymphoma patients with chemotherapy regimens." *International journal of hematology-oncology and stem cell research* 8(2): 21.
- Ahmed, Sara. 2007. "A Phenomenology of Whiteness." Feminist Theory 8(2):149–68. doi: 10.1177/1464700107078139.
- Al-Azri, Mohammed, Aziza Al-Maskari, Salma Al-Matroushi, Huda Al-Awisi, Robin Davidson, Sathiya Murthi Panchatcharam, and Abdullah Al-Maniri. 2016. "Awareness of cancer symptoms and barriers to seeking medical help among adult people attending primary care settings in Oman." *Health services research and managerial epidemiology* 3: 2333392816673290.
- Alvarez, Camila and Kathryn Norton-Smith 2018.. "Latino Destinations and Environmental Inequality: Estimated Cancer Risk from Air Toxics in Latino Traditional and New Destinations". *Socius*, 4.
- Alvarez, Elysia M., Theresa H. Keegan, Emily E. Johnston, Robert Haile, Lee Sanders, Paul H. Wise, Olga Saynina, and Lisa J. Chamberlain. 2018. "The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act Dependent Coverage Expansion: Disparities in Impact among Young Adult Oncology Patients: ACA Coverage Disparities in Young Adults." *Cancer* 124(1):110–17. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30978.
- Ammons, Samantha K., and Erin L. Kelly. 2008. "Social class and the experience of work ☐ family conflict during the transition to adulthood." *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*. 119: 71-84.
- Andersen, Barbara L., John T. Cacioppo, and Dawn C. Roberts. 1995. "Delay in seeking a cancer diagnosis: delay stages and psychophysiological comparison processes." *British journal of social psychology* 34(1): 33-52.
- Andersen, Rikke Sand, Bjarke Paarup, Peter Vedsted, Flemming Bro, and Jens Soendergaard. 2010. "'Containment as an analytical framework for understanding patient delay: A qualitative study of cancer patients' symptom interpretation processes." *Social science & medicine* 71(2): 378-385.
- Anderson, Elijah. 2015. "The White Space." *Sociology of Race and Ethnicity* 1(1):10–21. doi: 10.1177/2332649214561306.

- Anon. 2011. *Our Bodies, Ourselves*. 40th anniversary Touchstone ed. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Armstrong, N. and Eborall, H. 2012. "The sociology of medical screening: past, present and future." *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 34: 161-176.
- Armuand, Gabriela M., Lena Wettergren, Kenny A. Rodriguez-Wallberg, and Claudia Lampic. 2015. "Women More Vulnerable than Men When Facing Risk for Treatment-Induced Infertility: A Qualitative Study of Young Adults Newly Diagnosed with Cancer." *Acta Oncologica* 54(2):243–52. doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2014.948573.
- Arnett, Jeffrey Jensen. 1994. "Are College Students Adults? Their Conceptions of the Transition to Adulthood." *Journal of Adult Development* 1(4):213–24. doi: 10.1007/BF02277582.
- Arnett, Jeffrey Jensen. 1998. "Learning to Stand Alone: The Contemporary American Transition to Adulthood in Cultural and Historical Context." *Human Development* 41(5–6):295–315. doi: 10.1159/000022591.
- Arnett, Jeffrey Jensen. 2010. "Oh, Grow Up! Generational Grumbling and the New Life Stage of Emerging Adulthood—Commentary on Trzesniewski & Donnellan (2010)." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 5(1):89–92. doi: 10.1177/1745691609357016.
- Arnett, Jeffrey Jensen. 2012. "New Horizons in Research on Emerging and Young Adulthood." Pp. 231–44 in *Early Adulthood in a Family Context*, edited by A. Booth, S. L. Brown, N. S. Landale, W. D. Manning, and S. M. McHale. New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Aronson, Pamela. 2008. "The markers and meanings of growing up: Contemporary young women's transition from adolescence to adulthood." *Gender & Society* 22(1): 56-82.
- Arruebo, Manuel, Nuria Vilaboa, Berta Sáez-Gutierrez, Julio Lambea, Alejandro Tres, Mónica Valladares, and África González-Fernández. 2011. "Assessment of the evolution of cancer treatment therapies." *Cancers* 3(3): 3279-3330.
- Atkin, Karl, Sally Stapley, and Ava Easton. 2010. "No one listens to me, nobody believes me: self management and the experience of living with encephalitis." *Social science & medicine* 71(2): 386-393
- Atkin, Karl, Sally Stapley, and Ava Easton. 2010. "No One Listens to Me, Nobody Believes Me: Self Management and the Experience of Living with Encephalitis." *Social Science & Medicine* 71(2):386–93. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.04.011.
- Ayo, Nike. 2012. "Understanding health promotion in a neoliberal climate and the making of health conscious citizens." *Critical public health* 22(1): 99-105.

- Balmer, Claire, Frances Griffiths, and Janet Dunn. 2015. "A 'new normal': exploring the disruption of a poor prognostic cancer diagnosis using interviews and participant-produced photographs." *Health*: 19(5): 451-472.
- Barr, Ronald D., Andrea Ferrari, Lynn Ries, Jeremy Whelan, and W. Archie Bleyer. 2016. "Cancer in Adolescents and Young Adults: A Narrative Review of the Current Status and a View of the Future." *JAMA Pediatrics* 170(5):495. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.4689.
- Barrett, Anne E., and Cherish Michael. 2022. "Spotlight on Age: An Overlooked Construct in Medical Sociology." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 63(2): 177-190.
- Bassani, Gaia, Nicoletta Marinelli, and Silvio Vismara. 2019. "Crowdfunding in healthcare." *The Journal of Technology Transfer* 44(4): 1290-1310.
- Beach, Wayne A. 2009. A natural history of family cancer: Interactional resources for managing illness. Hampton Press.
- Beaupin, Lynda M., Anne Boldt, and Katharine Amato. 2018. "Come Back: Identifying Targets to Engage Young Adult Survivors Who Have Been Lost to Follow-Up." *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 36(7 suppl):29–29. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.36.7 suppl.29.
- Beck, Ulrich. 2000. The brave new world of work. Malden, MA: Blackwell.
- Bell, Kirsten. 2012. "Remaking the self: trauma, teachable moments, and the biopolitics of cancer survivorship." *Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry* 36(4): 584-600.
- Bell, Kirsten. 2014. "The breast-cancer-ization of cancer survivorship: Implications for experiences of the disease." Social Science & Medicine 110: 56-63.
- Bellizzi, Keith M., and Thomas O. Blank. 2009. "Predicting posttraumatic growth in breast cancer survivors." Health Psychology 25(1): 47.
- Bellizzi, Keith M., Ashley Smith, Steven Schmidt, Theresa H. M. Keegan, Brad Zebrack, Charles F. Lynch, Dennis Deapen, Margarett Shnorhavorian, Bradley J. Tompkins, Michael Simon, and and the Adolescent and Young Adult Health Outcomes and Patient Experience (AYA HOPE) Study Collaborative Group. 2012. "Positive and Negative Psychosocial Impact of Being Diagnosed with Cancer as an Adolescent or Young Adult: Impact of Cancer." *Cancer* 118(20):5155–62. doi: 10.1002/cncr.27512.
- Berliner, Lauren S., and Nora J. Kenworthy. 2017. "Producing a worthy illness: Personal crowdfunding amidst financial crisis." *Social Science & Medicine* 187: 233-242.
- Blanchard, Christopher M., Kerry S. Courneya, and Kevin Stein. 2008. "Cancer survivors' adherence to lifestyle behavior recommendations and associations with health-related quality of life: results from the American Cancer Society's SCS-II." *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 26(13): 2198-2204.

- Blaxter, Mildred. 1978. "Diagnosis as category and process: the case of alcoholism." Social Science & Medicine. Part A: *Medical Psychology & Medical Sociology* 12: 9-17.
- Blaxter, Mildred. 2009. "The Case of the Vanishing Patient? Image and Experience." *Sociology of Health & Illness* 31(5):762–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9566.2009.01178.x.
- Bloom, Joan R., Susan L. Stewart, Monica Johnston, Priscilla Banks, and Patricia Fobair. 2001. "Sources of support and the physical and mental well-being of young women with breast cancer." *Social science & medicine* 53(11): 1513-1524.
- Bloom, Joan R., Susan L. Stewart, Subo Chang, and Priscilla J. Banks. 2004. "Then and now: quality of life of young breast cancer survivors." *Psycho* \square *Oncology: Journal of the Psychological, Social and Behavioral Dimensions of Cancer* 13(3): 147-160.
- BOLAJI, brahim, Arabinda Saha, and Ka yan Shirley SZE. 2014. "Reproductive Challenges in Young Female Cancer Patients." *Journal of Reproduction and Contraception* 25(4):241–57. doi: https://doi.org/10.7669/j.issn.1001-7844.2014.04.0241.
- Bowleg, Lisa. 2008. "When Black+ lesbian+ woman≠ Black lesbian woman: The methodological challenges of qualitative and quantitative intersectionality research." *Sex roles* 59(5): 312-325.
- Bowleg, Lisa. 2012. "The problem with the phrase women and minorities: intersectionality—an important theoretical framework for public health." *American journal of public health* 102(7): 1267-1273
- Brandner, Susanne, Jacqueline Müller-Nordhorn, Wiebke Stritter, Christina Fotopoulou, Jalid Sehouli, and Christine Holmberg. 2014. "Symptomization and triggering processes: Ovarian cancer patients' narratives on pre-diagnostic sensation experiences and the initiation of healthcare seeking." *Social Science & Medicine* 119: 123-130.
- Briggs, Laura. 2000. "The race of hysteria:" Overcivilization" and the savage woman in late nineteenth-century obstetrics and gynecology." *American Quarterly* 52(2): 246-273.
- Brown, Patrick, and Sabine de Graaf. 2013. "Considering a future which may not exist: the construction of time and expectations amidst advanced-stage cancer." *Health, risk & society* 15(6-7): 543-560.
- Brown, Phil, and Stephen Zavestoski. 2004. "Social movements in health: an introduction." *Sociology of health & illness*.
- Brown, Phil, Rachel Morello-Frosch, and Stephen Zavestoski. 2012. *Contested Illnesses: Citizens, Science, and Health Social Movements*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Brown, Phil, Stephen Zavestoski, Sabrina McCormick, Brian Mayer, Rachel Morello ☐ Frosch, and Rebecca Gasior Altman. 2004. "Embodied health movements: new approaches to social movements in health." *Sociology of health & illness* 26(1): 50-80.

- Bruheim, Kjersti, Kjell Magne Tveit, Eva Skovlund, Lise Balteskard, Erik Carlsen, Sophie D. Fosså, and Marianne G. Guren. 2010. "Sexual function in females after radiotherapy for rectal cancer." *Acta oncologica* 49(6): 826-832
- Burgess, C. C., H. W. W. Potts, H. Hamed, A. M. Bish, M. S. Hunter, M. A. Richards, and A. J. Ramirez. 2006. "Why Do Older Women Delay Presentation with Breast Cancer Symptoms?: DELAY IN PRESENTATION WITH BREAST CANCER." *Psycho-Oncology* 15(11):962–68. doi: 10.1002/pon.1030.
- Burgess, Caroline, Victoria Cornelius, Sharon Love, Jill Graham, Michael Richards, and Amanda Ramirez. 2005. "Depression and anxiety in women with early breast cancer: five year observational cohort study." *Bmj* 330(7493): 702.
- Burgess, Cc, Aj Ramirez, Ma Richards, and Sb Love. 1998. "Who and What Influences Delayed Presentation in Breast Cancer?" *British Journal of Cancer* 77(8):1343–48. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1998.224.
- Bury, Michael. 1982. "Chronic illness as biographical disruption." *Sociology of health & illness* 4(2): 167-182.
- Bury, Michael. 1991. "The sociology of chronic illness: a review of research and prospects." *Sociology of Health & Illness* 13(4): 451-468.
- Butler, Judith. 2006. *Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity*. New York: Routledge.
- Carter, Robert T. 1995. The Influence of Race and Racial Identity in Psychotherapy: Toward a Racially Inclusive Model. New York: Wiley.
- Cassell, Joan. 1997. "Doing Gender, Doing Surgery: Women Surgeons in a Man's Profession." *Human Organization* 56(1):47–52. doi: 10.17730/humo.56.1.2362n66w4522428h.
- Cayless, Sandi, Liz Forbat, Nicola Illingworth, Gill Hubbard, and Nora Kearney. 2010. "Men with prostate cancer over the first year of illness: their experiences as biographical disruption." *Supportive Care in Cancer* 18(1): 11-19.
- Chandler, Amy. 2019. "Boys Don't Cry? Critical Phenomenology, Self-Harm and Suicide." *The Sociological Review* 67(6):1350–66. doi: 10.1177/0038026119854863.
- Chao, Chun, Vicki Chiu, Lanfang Xu, and Robert M. Cooper. 2015."Survival differences by race/ethnicity and neighborhood socioeconomic status in adolescents and young adults diagnosed with non-Hodgkin lymphoma." Journal of adolescent and young adult oncology 4(2): 76-83.
- Charmaz, Kathy. 1991. *Good days, bad days: The self in chronic illness and time*. Rutgers University Press.

- Charmaz, Kathy. 1995. "The body, identity, and self: Adapting to impairment." *Sociological quarterly* 36(4): 657-680
- Charmaz, Kathy. 2006. Constructing grounded theory: a practical guide through qualitative analysis. Sage Publications.
- Cherven, Brooke, Amani Sampson, Sharon L. Bober, Kristin Bingen, Natasha Frederick, David R. Freyer, and Gwendolyn P. Quinn. 2021. "Sexual health among adolescent and young adult cancer survivors: a scoping review from the Children's Oncology Group Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology Discipline Committee." *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians* 71(3): 250-263
- Choi, Eunju, Becker, Heather, and Soojeong Kim. 2022. Unmet needs in adolescents and young adults with cancer: A mixed-method study using social media, *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*. 64:31-41
- Collective, Combahee River. 'A Black Feminist Statement'. na, 1977.
- Collins, P. H. 2005. Black sexual politics: African Americans, gender, and the new racism. New York: Routledge.
- Collins, Patricia Hill. 2000. "Gender, black feminism, and black political economy." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 568(1): 41-53.
- Collins, Patricia Hill. 2015. "Intersectionality's definitional dilemmas." *Annual review of sociology* 41(1): 1-20.
- Collins, Sara R., Ruth Robertson, Tracy Garber, and Michelle M. Doty. "Young, uninsured, and in debt: why young adults lack health insurance and how the Affordable Care Act is helping." *Issue Brief (Commonwealth Fund)* 14 (2012): 1-24
- Colton, Meryl D., Makenzie Hawkins, DeLayna Goulding, Myles Cockburn, and Adam L. Green. 2018. "Socioeconomics, race, and ethnicity in childhood cancer survival: Accessing and addressing root causes of disparities." *Cancer* 124(20): 3975-3978.
- Cooley, Charles Horton. 1902. "Looking-glass self." *The production of reality: Essays and readings on social interaction* 6: 126-128.
- Corbin, Juliet M. 2003. "The body in health and illness." *Qualitative health research* 13(2): 256-267.
- Cox, Cheryl L., Rosemary A. McLaughlin, Shesh N. Rai, Brenda D. Steen, and Melissa M. Hudson. 2005. "Adolescent survivors: a secondary analysis of a clinical trial targeting behavior change." *Pediatric blood & cancer* 45(2): 144-154
- Coyne, Sarah M., Laura M. Padilla-Walker, and Emily Howard. 2012. "Emerging in a digital world: A decade review of media use, effects, and gratifications in emerging adulthood." *Emerging Adulthood* 1(2): 125-137

- Crenshaw, Kimberle. 1991. "Race, gender, and sexual harassment." s. Cal. l. Rev. 65: 1467.
- Crossley, Nick. 2006. "In the Gym: Motives, Meaning and Moral Careers." *Body & Society* 12(3):23–50. doi: 10.1177/1357034X06067154.
- Darabos, Katie, and Jennifer S. Ford. 2020. ""Basically, You Had Cancer and Now You Don't": exploring the meaning of being a "Cancer Survivor" among adolescents and young adult cancer survivors." *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology* 9(4): 534-539
- De Lew, Nancy, and Robin M. Weinick. 2000. "An overview: eliminating racial, ethnic, and SES disparities in health care." *Health Care Financing Review* 21(4): 1.
- DeAngelis, Susan. 1998. "The Influence of Price and Price Subsidies on Within-Year Persistence of Graduate and Professional Students." *Journal of Student Financial Aid* 28(3): 41-57.
- Decker, Carol L. 2007. "Social support and adolescent cancer survivors: A review of the literature." *Psycho* \square *Oncology: Journal of the Psychological, Social and Behavioral Dimensions of Cancer* 16(1): 1-11.
- Demoor-Goldschmidt, Charlotte, and Florent de Vathaire. 2019. "Review of risk factors of secondary cancers among cancer survivors." *The British journal of radiology* 92(1093): 20180390. doi:10.1259/bjr.20180390
- Demoor-Goldschmidt, Charlotte, Stéphane Supiot, Marc-André Mahé, Odile Oberlin, Rodrigue Allodji, Nadia Haddy, Sylvie Helfre, Céline Vigneron, Victoire Brillaud-Meflah, Valérie Bernier, Anne Laprie, Anne Ducassou, Line Claude, Ibrahim Diallo, and Florent de Vathaire. 2018. "Clinical and Histological Features of Second Breast Cancers Following Radiotherapy for Childhood and Young Adult Malignancy." *The British Journal of Radiology* 20170824. doi: 10.1259/bjr.20170824.
- Diana Richter, Katharina Clever, Anja Mehnert-Theuerkauf, Antje Schönfelder, 2022. Fear of Recurrence in Young Adult Cancer Patients—A Network Analysis, *Cancers*, 10.3390/cancers14092092, **14**(9)2092
- Dittmar, Helga. 2011. "Material and Consumer Identities." Pp. 745–69 in *Handbook of Identity Theory and Research*, edited by S. J. Schwartz, K. Luyckx, and V. L. Vignoles. New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Douglas, Mary. 2003. *Natural Symbols: Explorations in Cosmology*. United Kingdom: Routledge.
- Ehrenreich, Barbara. 2001. "Welcome to cancerland." *Harper's Magazine* 303(1818): 43-53
- Ehrenreich, Barbara. 2009. *Bright-sided: How positive thinking has undermined America*. Metropolitan Books.

- Elder Jr, Glen H. 1994. "Time, human agency, and social change: Perspectives on the life course." *Social psychology quarterly* 4-15.
- Elder, Glen H. 1998. "The Life Course as Developmental Theory." *Child Development* 69(1):1. doi: 10.2307/1132065.
- Elder, Glen H., and Social Science Research Council (U.S.), eds. 1985. *Life Course Dynamics: Trajectories and Transitions*, 1968-1980. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Elder, Glen H., Monica Kirkpatrick Johnson, and Robert Crosnoe. 2003. "The Emergence and Development of Life Course Theory." Pp. 3–19 in *Handbook of the Life Course*, *Handbooks of Sociology and Social Research*, edited by J. T. Mortimer and M. J. Shanahan. Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Emerson, Robert, ed. 2001. *Contemporary Field Research: Perspectives and Formulations*. Wavleand Press, Inc.
- Erickson, Jenet Jacob, Giuseppe Martinengo, and E. Jeffrey Hill. 2010. "Putting work and family experiences in context: Differences by family life stage." Human Relations 63(7): 955-979
- Erickson, Rebecca J. 2011. "Emotional carework, gender, and the division of household labor." *At the heart of work and family: Engaging the ideas of Arlie Hochschild.* 61-73.
- Ernst, Rose, Linda Nguyen, and Kamilah C. Taylor. 2013."Citizen control: Race at the welfare office." *Social Science Quarterly* 94(5): 1283-1307.
- Ernst, Rose. 2010. The price of progressive politics: The welfare rights movement in an era of colorblind racism. NYU Press.
- Faircloth, Christopher A., Craig Boylstein, Maude Rittman, Mary Ellen Young, and Jaber Gubrium. 2004. "Sudden Illness and Biographical Flow in Narratives of Stroke Recovery." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 26(2):242–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9566.2004.00388.x.
- Fanon, Frantz. 2008. *Black Skin, White Masks*. 1st ed., new ed. New York : [Berkeley, Calif.]: Grove Press ; Distributed by Publishers Group West.
- Ferber, Abby L. 2007. "The construction of Black masculinity: White supremacy now and then." Journal of Sport and Social Issues 31(1): 11-24.
- Fingerman, Karen, Laura Miller, Kira Birditt, and Steven Zarit. 2009. "Giving to the good and the needy: Parental support of grown children." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 71(5): 1220-1233.
- Fosket, Jennifer. 2000. "Problematizing biomedicine: Women's constructions of breast cancer knowledge." *Ideologies of breast cancer: Feminist perspectives*: 15-36.

- Foucault, Michel (2012 [1977]). Discipline and punish: the birth of the prison. New York: Pantheon Books,
- Frank, Arthur W. 2000. Illness and autobiographical work: Dialogue as narrative destabilization. Qualitative Sociology 23 (1): 135–156.
- Frank, Arthur W. 2003. "Survivorship as craft and conviction: Reflections on research in progress." *Qualitative Health Research* 13(2): 247-255.
- Frank, Arthur W. 2013. The wounded storyteller: Body, illness, and ethics. University of Chicago Press.
- Frank, Arthur. 2005. "The remission society." The sociology of health and illness: 163-166.
- Fujiwara, Lynn. 2008. Mothers without citizenship: Asian immigrant families and the consequences of welfare reform. U of Minnesota Press.
- Furlong, Andy. 2017. *Routledge handbook of youth and young adulthood*. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Ganz, Patricia A., Gail A. Greendale, Laura Petersen, Barbara Kahn, and Julienne E. Bower. 2003. "Breast cancer in younger women: reproductive and late health effects of treatment." *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 21(22): 4184-4193.
- Garey, Anita Ilta, and Terry Arendell. 2001. "Children, work, and family." *Working families: The transformation of the American home*: 293-303
- Garland-Thomson, Rosemarie. 2011. "Misfits: A feminist materialist disability concept." *Hypatia* 26(3): 591-609.
- Garland-Thomson, Rosemarie. 2011. "Misfits: A Feminist Materialist Disability Concept." *Hypatia* 26(3):591–609. doi: 10.1111/j.1527-2001.2011.01206.x.
- Gates, T. 2017. Chosen families. In J. Carlson, & S. Dermer (Eds.), *The sage encyclopedia of marriage, family, and couples counseling* 1:240-242.
- Gee, Gilbert C., and Chandra L. Ford. 2011. "Structural racism and health inequities: Old issues, New Directions1." *Du Bois review: social science research on race* 8(1):115-132
- Ghaderi, S., A. Engeland, D. Moster, E. Ruud, A. Syse, F. Wesenberg, and T. Bjørge. 2013. "Increased Uptake of Social Security Benefits among Long-Term Survivors of Cancer in Childhood, Adolescence and Young Adulthood: A Norwegian Population-Based Cohort Study." *British Journal of Cancer* 108(7):1525–33. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.107.
- Gill, Rosalind, and Shani Orgad. 2018. "The Amazing Bounce-Backable Woman: Resilience and the Psychological Turn in Neoliberalism." *Sociological research online* 23(2): 477–495.

- Glaser, Barney G. and Anselm L. Strauss. 1967. *The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research*. Hawthorne, NY: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Greil, Arthur L., Kathleen Slauson ☐ Blevins, and Julia McQuillan. 2010. "The experience of infertility: a review of recent literature." *Sociology of health & illness* 32(1): 140-162.
- Grinyer, Anne. 2009. *Life after cancer in adolescence and young adulthood: The experience of survivorship*. Routledge.
- Gubrium, Jaber F., and James A. Holstein. 1994. "Grounding the postmodern self." *The Sociological Quarterly* 35(4): 685-703.
- Gullette, Margaret Morganroth. 2017. "Ending ageism, or how not to shoot old people." In *Ending Ageism, or How Not to Shoot Old People*. Rutgers University Press.
- Gurevich, Maria, Scott Bishop, Jo Bower, Monika Malka, and Joyce Nyhof-Young. 2004. "(Dis)Embodying Gender and Sexuality in Testicular Cancer." *Social Science & Medicine* 58(9):1597–1607. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00371-X.
- Guthman, Julie. 2011. Weighing in: Obesity, food justice, and the limits of capitalism. Univ of California Press.
- Hay, M. Cameron. 2008. "Reading Sensations: Understanding the Process of Distinguishing Fine' from 'Sick'." *Transcultural Psychiatry* 45(2):198–229. doi: 10.1177/1363461508089765.
- Hays, Sharon. 1996. The cultural contradictions of motherhood. Yale University Press.
- Hochschild, Arlie Russell. 1979. "Emotion work, feeling rules, and social structure." *American journal of sociology* 85(3): 551-575
- Hochschild, Arlie, and Anne Machung. 2012. *The second shift: Working families and the revolution at home*. Penguin.
- Hockey, Jenny, and Allison James. 2003. "Gender, Sexuality and the Body in the Life Course." In *Social Identities across the Life Course*: 139-156. Palgrave, London,
- hooks, Bell. 1981. Ain't I a woman: Black women and feminism.
- Hoover, Elizabeth, Katsi Cook, Ron Plain, Kathy Sanchez, Vi Waghiyi, Pamela Miller, Renee Dufault, Caitlin Sislin, and David O. Carpenter. 2012. "Indigenous peoples of North America: environmental exposures and reproductive justice." *Environmental health perspectives* 120(12): 1645-1649.
- Horlick ☐ Jones, Tom. 2011. "Understanding Fear of Cancer Recurrence in Terms of Damage to 'everyday Health Competence." *Sociology of health & illness* 33(6): 884–898.

- Hubbard, Gill, and Liz Forbat. 2012. "Cancer as biographical disruption: constructions of living with cancer." *Supportive Care in Cancer* 20(9): 2033-2040.
- Hubbard, Gill, Lisa Kidd, and Nora Kearney. 2010. "Disrupted lives and threats to identity: the experiences of people with colorectal cancer within the first year following diagnosis." *Health:* 14(2): 131-146.
- Igra, Mark, Nora Kenworthy, Cadence Luchsinger, and Jin-Kyu Jung. 2021. "Crowdfunding as a Response to COVID-19: Increasing Inequities at a Time of Crisis." *Social Science & Medicine* 282:114105. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114105.
- Igra, Mark. 2022. "Donor Financial Capacity Drives Racial Inequality in Medical Crowdsourced Funding." *Social Forces* 100(4):1856–83. doi: 10.1093/sf/soab076.
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Understanding and Eliminating Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care, Smedley BD, Stith AY, Nelson AR, eds. 2003. *Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care*. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US).
- Jain, Sarah S. Lochlann. 2013. *Malignant: How Cancer Becomes Us*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Joffe, Lenat, Dara M. Steinberg, Tiffany Strohli, and Melissa Beauchemin. 2022. "Adolescents and Young Adults with Cancer: Survivorship and Special Considerations." *Pediatric Annals* 51(1): e27-e33.
- Johnson, Monica Kirkpatrick. 2013. "Parental Financial Assistance and Young Adults' Relationships with Parents and Well-Being." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 75:713–33.
- Johnston, D Deirdre. D., Swanson, Debra H. Invisible Mothers: A Content Analysis of Motherhood Ideologies and Myths in Magazines. *Sex Roles* 49, 21–33 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023905518500
- Johnston, Deirdre D., and Debra H. Swanson. 2006. "Constructing the "good mother": The experience of mothering ideologies by work status." *Sex roles* 54(7): 509-519.
- Jutel, Annemarie, and Sarah Nettleton. 2011. "Towards a sociology of diagnosis: Reflections and opportunities". *Social Science & Medicine* 73(6): 793-800.
- Jutel, Annemarie. 2009. "Sociology of diagnosis: a preliminary review." *Sociology of health & illness* 31(2): 278-299.
- Kaiser, Karen. 2008. "The meaning of the survivor identity for women with breast cancer." *Social Science & Medicine* 67(1): 79-87.
- Kehl, Kenneth L., Kai-Ping Liao, Trudy M. Krause, and Sharon H. Giordano. 2017. "Access to Accredited Cancer Hospitals Within Federal Exchange Plans Under the Affordable Care Act." *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 35(6):645–51. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.69.9835.

- Kellehear, Allan. 2007. "A social history of dying." Death and dying, a reader: 61-84.
- Kelly, Michael P., and David Field. 1996. "Medical Sociology, Chronic Illness and the Body." *Sociology of Health and Illness* 18(2):241–57. doi: 10.1111/1467-9566.ep10934993.
- Kerr, Anne, Emily Ross, Gwen Jacques, and Sarah Cunningham ☐ Burley. 2018. "The sociology of cancer: a decade of research." *Sociology of Health & Illness* 40(3): 552-576.
- King, Deborah K. 1988. "Multiple jeopardy, multiple consciousness: The context of a Black feminist ideology." *Signs: Journal of women in culture and society* 14(1): 42-72.
- Kirchhoff, Anne C., Jaehee Yi, Jennifer Wright, Echo L. Warner, and Ken R. Smith. 2012. "Marriage and divorce among young adult cancer survivors." *Journal of Cancer Survivorship* 6(4): 441-450.
- Kirkpatrick Johnson, Monica. 2013. "Parental Financial Assistance and Young Adults' Relationships With Parents and Well-Being: Parental Financial Assistance." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 75(3):713–33. doi: 10.1111/jomf.12029.
- Klawiter, Maren. 2004. "Breast cancer in two regimes: the impact of social movements on illness experience." *Sociology of Health & Illness* 26(6): 845-874.
- Klawiter, Maren. 2008. *The biopolitics of breast cancer: Changing cultures of disease and activism*. U of Minnesota Press.
- Kohli, Martin, and John W. Meyer. 1986. "Social structure and social construction of life stages." *Human development* 29(3): 145-149.
- Ku, Ja Yoon, Nam Cheol Park, Tae Gyeong Jeon, and Hyun Jun Park. 2015. "Semen Analysis in Cancer Patients Referred for Sperm Cryopreservation before Chemotherapy over a 15-Year Period in Korea." *The World Journal of Men's Health* 33(1):8. doi: 10.5534/wjmh.2015.33.1.8.
- Langeveld, N. E., and Julia Arbuckle. 2008. "End of treatment issues: looking to the future." *Cancer care for adolescents and young adults*: 147-159.
- Laz, C. 1998. "Act Your Age." Sociological forum (Randolph, N.J.) 13(1): 85–113.
- Leder, Drew. 1990. The absent body. University of Chicago Press.
- Lee, Catherine. 2009. "'Race' and 'Ethnicity' in Biomedical Research: How Do Scientists Construct and Explain Differences in Health?" *Social Science & Medicine* 68(6):1183–90. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.12.036.
- Leydon, G. M., J. Bynoe Sutherland, and M. P. Coleman. 2003. "The journey towards a cancer diagnosis: the experiences of people with cancer, their family and carers." *European Journal of Cancer Care* 12(4): 317-326.

- Little, Miles, Christopher FC Jordens, Kim Paul, Kathleen Montgomery, and Bertil Philipson. 1998. "Liminality: a major category of the experience of cancer illness." *Social Science & Medicine* 10(47): 1485-1494
- Little, Miles, Kim Paul, Christopher FC Jordens, and Emma-Jane Sayers. 2000. "Vulnerability in the narratives of patients and their carers: studies of colorectal cancer." *Health:* 4(4): 495-510
- Little, Miles, Kim Paul, Christopher FC Jordens, and Emma ☐ Jane Sayers. 2002. "Survivorship and discourses of identity." *Psycho ☐ Oncology: Journal of the Psychological, Social and Behavioral Dimensions of Cancer* 11(2): 170-178
- Locock, Louise, Sarah Nettleton, Susan Kirkpatrick, Sara Ryan, and Sue Ziebland. 2016. "'I knew before I was told': Breaches, cues and clues in the diagnostic assemblage." *Social Science & Medicine* 154: 85-92.
- Lofland, John, and Lyn H. Lofland. 1984. *Analyzing Social Settings: A Guide to Qualitative Observation and Analysis*. 2nd ed. Belmont, Calif: Wadsworth Pub. Co.
- Lorde, Audre. 2012. Sister outsider: Essays and speeches. Crossing Press.
- Lowndes, Vivien. 2004. "Getting on or getting by? Women, social capital and political participation." *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations* 6(1): 45-64
- Lu, Amy D., Zhiyuan Zheng, Xuesong Han, Ruowen Qi, Jingxuan Zhao, K. Robin Yabroff, and Paul C. Nathan. 2021. "Medical financial hardship in survivors of adolescent and young adult cancer in the United States." *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 113(8): 997-1004.
- Lupton, Deborah. 1994. "Toward the development of critical health communication praxis." *Health Communication* 6(1): 55-67.
- Macleod, Una, E. D. Mitchell, Caroline Burgess, S. Macdonald, and A. J. Ramirez. 2009. "Risk factors for delayed presentation and referral of symptomatic cancer: evidence for common cancers." *British journal of cancer*. 101(2): S92-S101.
- MacMillan, Carllene. 2013. "Social media revolution and blurring of professional boundaries." *Imprint* 60 (3): 44-46.
- Manning, Wendy D. 2020. "Young Adulthood Relationships in an Era of Uncertainty: A Case for Cohabitation." *Demography* 57(3):799–819. doi: 10.1007/s13524-020-00881-9.
- Mathieson, Cynthia M., and Hendaikns J. Stam. 1995. "Reneotiating identity: cancer narratives." *Sociology of Health & Illness* 17(3): 283-306.
- McGrath, Pam. 2004. "The burden of the 'RA RA'positive: survivors' and hospice patients' reflections on maintaining a positive attitude to serious illness." *Supportive care in cancer* 12(1): 25-33

- McKenzie, Heather, and Mira Crouch. 2004. "Discordant feelings in the lifeworld of cancer survivors." *Health* 8(2): 139-157.
- Montali, L., A. Frigerio, Paolo Riva, and Pietro Invernizzi. 2011. "'It's as if PBC didn't exist': The illness experience of women affected by primary biliary cirrhosis." *Psychology & Health* 26 (11): 1429-1445.
- Mortimer, Jeylan T., and Pamela Aronson. 2000. "Adulthood." *Encyclopedia of sociology* 1: 25-41.
- Mowbray, Martin, and Lois Bryson. 1984. "Women really care." *Australian Journal of Social Issues* 19(4): 261-272
- Mykhalovskiy, Eric, and Lorna Weir. 2004. "The Problem of Evidence-Based Medicine: Directions for Social Science." *Social Science & Medicine* 59(5):1059–69. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2003.12.002.
- National Cancer Institute (2022). "Cancer in Children and Adolescents". https://www.cancer.gov/types/childhood-cancers/child-adolescent-cancers-fact-sheet
- National Cancer Institute. 2022. "Guidelines for Treatment Regimens". https://ctep.cancer.gov/protocoldevelopment/policies_nomenclature.htm
- Newman, Katherine S. 2013. The accordion family: Boomerang kids, anxious parents, and the private toll of global competition. Beacon Press.
- Ng, Andrea K., and Peter M. Mauch. 2009. "Late effects of Hodgkin's disease and its treatment." *The Cancer Journal* 15(2): 164-168.
- Odo, Rachel, and Clarissa Potter. 2009. "Understanding the needs of young adult cancer survivors: a clinical perspective." *Oncology* 23(11): 23-7.
- Omi, Michael, and Howard Winant. 2014. Racial formation in the United States. Routledge.
- Park, Lisa Sun-Hee, and David N. Pellow. 2004. "Racial formation, environmental racism, and the emergence of Silicon Valley." *Ethnicities* 4(3): 403-424.
- Park, M. Jane, Tina Paul Mulye, Sally H. Adams, Claire D. Brindis, and Charles E. Irwin Jr. 2006. "The health status of young adults in the United States." *Journal of adolescent health* 39(3): 305-317.
- Parker, Richard, and Peter Aggleton. 2003. "HIV and AIDS-Related Stigma and Discrimination: A Conceptual Framework and Implications for Action." *Social Science & Medicine* 57(1):13–24. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00304-0.
- Parsons, Helen M., Linda C. Harlan, Charles F. Lynch, Ann S. Hamilton, Xiao-Cheng Wu, Ikuko Kato, Stephen M. Schwartz, Ashley W. Smith, Gretchen Keel, and Theresa HM

- Keegan. 2012. "Impact of cancer on work and education among adolescent and young adult cancer survivors." *Journal of clinical oncology* 30(19): 2393.
- Parsons, J. A., Eakin, J. M., Bell, R. S., Franche, R. L., & Davis, A. M. 2008.. "So, are you back to work yet?" Re-conceptualizing 'work' and 'return to work' in the context of primary bone cancer. *Social science & medicine*, 67(11): 1826–1836.
- Parton, Chloe M., Jane M. Ussher, and Janette Perz. 2016. "Women's construction of embodiment and the abject sexual body after cancer." *Qualitative Health Research* 26(4): 490-503.
- Parton, Chloe, Terri Katz, and Jane M. Ussher. 2019. "'Normal'and 'failing'mothers: Women's constructions of maternal subjectivity while living with multiple sclerosis." *Health* 23(5): 516-532
- Peddie, Vl, Ma Porter, R. Barbour, D. Culligan, G. MacDonald, D. King, J. Horn, and S. Bhattacharya. 2012. "Factors Affecting Decision Making about Fertility Preservation after Cancer Diagnosis: A Qualitative Study: Perceptions of Fertility Preservation after Cancer Diagnosis." *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology* 119(9):1049–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2012.03368.x.
- Penrose, Rebecca, Lisa Beatty, Julie Mattiske, and Bogda Koczwara. 2012. "Fertility and Cancer—a Qualitative Study of Australian Cancer Survivors." *Supportive Care in Cancer* 20(6):1259–65. doi: 10.1007/s00520-011-1212-y.
- Perales, Miguel-Angel, Emily K. Drake, Naveen Pemmaraju, and William A. Wood. 2016. "Social media and the adolescent and young adult (AYA) patient with cancer." *Current hematologic malignancy reports* 11(6): 449-455.
- Perrin, Andrew. 2015. "Social media usage." Pew research center 125: 52-68.
- Petersen, Alan R. 1996. "Risk and the Regulated Self: The Discourse of Health Promotion as Politics of Uncertainty." *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Sociology* 32(1):44–57. doi: 10.1177/144078339603200105.
- Pound, Pandora, Patrick Gompertz, and Shah Ebrahim. 1998. "Illness in the Context of Older Age: The Case of Stroke." *Sociology of Health & Illness* 20(4):489–506. doi: 10.1111/1467-9566.00112.
- Pounders, Kathrynn, and Marlys Mason. 2018. "Embodiment, illness, and gender: The intersected and disrupted identities of young women with breast cancer." In *Consumer culture theory*. Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Quigley, Kathleen M. 1989. "The adult cancer survivor: psychosocial consequences of cure." In *Seminars in Oncology Nursing*, 5(1):63-69.

- Rabin, Carolyn, Norah Simpson, Kathleen Morrow, and Bernardine Pinto. 2011. "Behavioral and psychosocial program needs of young adult cancer survivors." *Qualitative health research* 21(6): 796-806.
- Reeve, Joanne, Mari Lloyd-Williams, Sheila Payne, and Christopher Dowrick. 2010. "Revisiting biographical disruption: exploring individual embodied illness experience in people with terminal cancer." *Health:* 14(2): 178-195.
- Roberts, Dorothy. 2014. *Killing the black body: Race, reproduction, and the meaning of liberty.* Vintage.
- Rome, Jennifer Marie. 2021. "Blogging Wounded Manhood: Negotiating Hegemonic Masculinity and the Crisis of the Male (In)Fertile Body." *Women's Studies in Communication* 44(1):44–64. doi: 10.1080/07491409.2020.1752342.
- Rose, Nikolas. 1990. *Governing the soul: The shaping of the private self.* Taylor & Frances/Routledge.
- Rozmovits, Linda, and Sue Ziebland. 2004. "Expressions of loss of adulthood in the narratives of people with colorectal cancer." *Qualitative health research* 14(2): 187-203.
- Rubery, Jill, Damian Grimshaw, Arjan Keizer, and Mathew Johnson. 2018. "Challenges and contradictions in the 'normalising' of precarious work." *Work, Employment and Society* 32(3): 509-527.
- Salander, Pär. 2002. "Bad News from the Patient's Perspective: An Analysis of the Written Narratives of Newly Diagnosed Cancer Patients." *Social science & medicine* 55(5): 721–732.
- Salter, Brian, and Charlotte Salter. 2018. "The Politics of Ageing: Health Consumers, Markets and Hegemonic Challenge." *Sociology of health & illness* 40(6): 1069–1086.
- Salter, Charlotte Ingrid, Amanda Howe, Lisa McDaid, Jeanette Blacklock, Elizabeth Lenaghan, and Lee Shepstone. 2011. "Risk, Significance and Biomedicalisation of a New Population: Older Women's Experience of Osteoporosis Screening." *Social science & medicine* 73(6): 808–815.
- Sandahl, Carrie, and Philip Auslander, eds. 2005. *Bodies in Commotion: Disability & Performance*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Sandberg-Thoma, Sara E., Anastasia R. Snyder, and Bohyun Joy Jang. 2015. "Exiting and Returning to the Parental Home for Boomerang Kids." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 77(3):806–18. doi: 10.1111/jomf.12183.
- Sarkisian, Natalia, and Naomi Gerstel. 2006. "Marriage: The good, the bad, and the greedy." *Contexts* 5(4): 16

- Saunders, Benjamin. 2014. "Stigma, deviance and morality in young adults' accounts of inflammatory bowel disease." *Sociology of health & illness* 36(7): 1020-1036.
- Schaepe, Karen Sue. 2011. "Bad News and First Impressions: Patient and Family Caregiver Accounts of Learning the Cancer Diagnosis." *Social science & medicine*. 73(6): 912–921.
- Seiffe-Krenke, Inge. 2006. "Leaving Home or Still in the Nest? Parent-Child Relationships and Psychological Health as Predictors of Different Leaving Home Patterns." Developmental Psychology 42(5):864–76. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.42.5.864.
- Settersten, Richard A. 2003. "Age structuring and the rhythm of the life course." In *Handbook of the life course*: 81-98. Springer, Boston, MA.
- Shanahan, Michael J. 2000. "Pathways to adulthood in changing societies: Variability and mechanisms in life course perspective." *Annual review of sociology* 26(1): 667-692.
- Shim, Janet K. 2010. "Cultural health capital: a theoretical approach to understanding health care interactions and the dynamics of unequal treatment." *Journal of health and social behavior* 51(1): 1-15.
- Simon, Kosali, Aparna Soni, and John Cawley. 2017. "The impact of health insurance on preventive care and health behaviors: evidence from the first two years of the ACA Medicaid expansions." *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management* 36(2): 390-417.
- Sinding, Chris, and Jennifer Wiernikowski. 2008. "Disruption foreclosed: older women's cancer narratives." *Health*: 12(3): 389-411.
- Sinding, Christina, and Ross Gray. 2005. "Active aging—spunky survivorship? Discourses and experiences of the years beyond breast cancer." *Journal of Aging Studies* 19(2): 147-161.
- Smith, Elaine M., and Barrie Anderson. 1985 "The effects of symptoms and delay in seeking diagnosis on stage of disease at diagnosis among women with cancers of the ovary." *Cancer* 56(11): 2727-2732.
- Smith, Erlyn C., Argyrios Ziogas, and Hoda Anton-Culver. 2013. "Delay in surgical treatment and survival after breast cancer diagnosis in young women by race/ethnicity." *JAMA surgery* 148(6): 516-523.
- Smith, Jessica C., and Carla Medalia. 2014. *Health insurance coverage in the United States:* 2013. Washington, DC: US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, Bureau of the Census.
- Smith, Jessica C., and Carla Medalia. *Health insurance coverage in the United States: 2013*. Washington, DC: US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, Bureau of the Census, 2014

- Smith, Lucy K., Catherine Pope, and Johannes L. Botha. 2005. "Patients' help-seeking experiences and delay in cancer presentation: a qualitative synthesis." *The Lancet* 366(9488): 825-831.
- Snyder, Jeremy, Valorie A. Crooks, Annalise Mathers, and Peter Chow-White. 2017. "Appealing to the crowd: ethical justifications in Canadian medical crowdfunding campaigns." *Journal of medical ethics* 43(6): 364-367.
- Soliman, Hatem, and Samuel V. Agresta. 2008. "Current issues in adolescent and young adult cancer survivorship." *Cancer control* 15(1): 55-62.
- Song, Hayeon, Yujung Nam, Jessica Gould, W. Scott Sanders, Margaret McLaughlin, Janet Fulk, Kathleen A. Meeske, and Kathleen S. Ruccione. 2012. "Cancer survivor identity shared in a social media intervention." *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing* 29, no. 2 (2012): 80-91
- Stacey, Jackie. 2013. Teratologies: A cultural study of cancer. Routledge.
- Steinberg, Deborah Lynn. 2015. "The bad patient: Estranged subjects of the cancer culture." *Body & society* 21(3): 115-143.
- Stergiou-Kita, Mary, Cheryl Pritlove, and Bonnie Kirsh. 2016. "The "Big C"—stigma, cancer, and workplace discrimination." *Journal of Cancer Survivorship* 10(6): 1035-1050.
- Stergiou-Kita, Mary, Cheryl Pritlove, Dwayne van Eerd, Linn D. Holness, Bonnie Kirsh, Andrea Duncan, and Jennifer Jones. 2016a. "The provision of workplace accommodations following cancer: survivor, provider, and employer perspectives." *Journal of Cancer Survivorship* 10(3): 489-504.
- Stone, Dawn S., Patricia A. Ganz, Carol Pavlish, and Wendie A. Robbins. 2017. "Young adult cancer survivors and work: a systematic review." *Journal of Cancer Survivorship* 11(6): 765-781.
- Strauss, Anselm L. 1987. *Qualitative Analysis for Social Scientists*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Swartz, Teresa Toguchi, Heather McLaughlin, and Jeylan T. Mortimer. 2017. "Parental Assistance, Negative Life Events, and Attainment During the Transition to Adulthood." *The Sociological Quarterly* 58(1):91–110. doi: 10.1080/00380253.2016.1246898.
- Swartz, Teresa Toguchi, Minzee Kim, Mayumi Uno, Jeylan Mortimer, and Kirsten Bengtson O'Brien. 2011. "Safety Nets and Scaffolds: Parental Support in the Transition to Adulthood." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 73(2):414–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00815.x.
- Swidler, Ann. 1986. "Culture in action: Symbols and strategies." *American sociological review* 273-286.

- Swidler, Ann. 2001. 2013. Talk of love: How culture matters. University of Chicago press.
- Tasca, Cecilia, Mariangela Rapetti, Mauro Giovanni Carta, and Bianca Fadda. 2012. "Women and hysteria in the history of mental health.
- Taylor, Evi, Patricia Guy-Walls, Patricia Wilkerson, and Rejoice Addae. 2019. "The historical perspectives of stereotypes on African-American males." *Journal of Human Rights and Social Work* 4(3): 213-225.
- Toombs, S. Kay. 1992. "The Body in Multiple Sclerosis: A Patient's Perspective." Pp. 127–37 in *The Body in Medical Thought and Practice*. Vol. 43, *Philosophy and Medicine*, edited by D. Leder. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Tuan, Mia. 1998. Forever foreigners or honorary whites?: the Asian ethnic experience today. Rutgers University Press.
- Twigg, Julia. "The Body, Gender, and Age: Feminist Insights in Social Gerontology." *Journal of aging studies* 18, no. 1 (2004): 59–73.
- Underferth, Danielle. 2020. "What young adults need to know about colorectal cancer." https://www.mdanderson.org/cancerwise/why-are-more-young-adults-getting-colorectal-cancer-what-to-know.h00-159385890.html
- Ussher, J. M., J. Cummings, A. Dryden, and J. Perz. 2016. "Talking about Fertility in the Context of Cancer: Health Care Professional Perspectives." *European Journal of Cancer Care* 25(1):99–111. doi: 10.1111/ecc.12379.
- Van de Werfhorst, Herman G. 2009. "Education, inequality, and active citizenship. Tensions in a differentiated schooling system."
- Van der Vliet, Ron. 2020. "9. Love Without Ties: A New Phase in the Sexual Life Course." *In Adolescence, Careers and Cultures*, pp. 163-174. De Gruyter.
- van Ryn M, Burke J. 2000. The effect of patient race and socio-economic status on physicians' perceptions of patients. *Social Science and Medicine* 50(6): 813-828.
- Vandraas, Kathrine F., Kristin V. Reinertsen, Cecilie E. Kiserud, and Hanne C. Lie. 2021. "Fear of cancer recurrence among young adult cancer survivors—exploring long-term contributing factors in a large, population-based cohort." *Journal of Cancer Survivorship* 15(4): 497-508.
- Vasquez-Tokos, Jessica, and Kathryn Norton-Smith. "Talking back to controlling images: Latinos' changing responses to racism over the life course." *Ethnic and racial studies* 40, no. 6 (2017): 912-930.
- Vasquez, Jessica M. 2010. "Blurred borders for some but not "others": Racialization "flexible ethnicity," gender, and third-generation Mexican American identity." *Sociological Perspectives* 53(1): 45-71.

- Vertommen, Sigrid, Vincenzo Pavone, and Michal Nahman. 2022. "Global Fertility Chains: An Integrative Political Economy Approach to Understanding the Reproductive Bioeconomy." *Science, Technology, & Human Values* 47(1):112–45. doi: 10.1177/0162243921996460.
- Wailoo, Keith. 2010. How cancer crossed the color line. Oxford University Press.
- Wall, Glenda, and Stephanie Arnold. 2007. "How Involved Is Involved Fathering?: An Exploration of the Contemporary Culture of Fatherhood." *Gender & Society* 21(4):508–27. doi: 10.1177/0891243207304973.
- Wall, Glenda. 2001. "Moral Constructions Of Motherhood In Breastfeeding Discourse." *Gender & Society* 15(4):592–610. doi: 10.1177/089124301015004006.
- Warner, Echo L., Roberto E. Montenegro, Antoinette Stroup, Anita Y. Kinney, and Anne C. Kirchhoff. "Health Care Concerns of Rural Childhood Cancer Survivors." *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved* 25, no. 2 (2014): 901-912. doi:10.1353/hpu.2014.0095.
- Waskul, Dennis D., and Pamela van der Riet. 2002. "The Abject Embodiment of Cancer Patients: Dignity, Selfhood, and the Grotesque Body." *Symbolic Interaction* 25(4):487–513. doi: 10.1525/si.2002.25.4.487.
- Waters, Mary C, Gordon Berlin, and Jr. Frank Furstenberg. 2010. *The Transition to Adulthood. Special Issue of The Future of Children*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution and Princeton University.
- Wedgwood, Nikki, Louisa Smith, Tereza Hendl, and Russell Shuttleworth. 2020. "Boy Interrupted—Biographical disruption during the transition to adulthood." *Sociology of health & illness* 42(1):20-34.
- Williams, David R., and Michelle Sternthal. 2010. "Understanding racial-ethnic disparities in health: sociological contributions." *Journal of health and social behavior* 51(1): S15-S27.
- Williams, David R., Emily Z. Kontos, K. Viswanath, Jennifer S. Haas, Christopher S. Lathan, Laura E. MacConaill, Jarvis Chen, and John Z. Ayanian. 2012. "Integrating multiple social statuses in health disparities research: the case of lung cancer." *Health services research* 47(3.2): 1255-1277.
- Williams, Simon J. 1996. "The vicissitudes of embodiment across the chronic illness trajectory." *Body & Society* 2(2): 23-47
- Williams, Simon. 2000. "Chronic Illness as Biographical Disruption or Biographical Disruption as Chronic Illness? Reflections on a Core Concept." *Sociology of Health & Illness* 22(1):40–67. doi: 10.1111/1467-9566.00191.

- Wilson, Sarah. 2007. "'When you have children, you're obliged to live'1: motherhood, chronic illness and biographical disruption." *Sociology of health & illness* 29(4): 610-626.
- Wolfson, Julie A., Can□Lan Sun, Laura P. Wyatt, Arti Hurria, and Smita Bhatia. 2015. "Impact of care at comprehensive cancer centers on outcome: results from a population based study." *Cancer* 121(21): 3885-3893.
- Wolfson, Julie, Can-Lan Sun, Laura Wyatt, Wendy Stock, and Smita Bhatia. 2014. "Impact of care at NCI comprehensive cancer centers (NCICCC) on outcomes in children, adolescents and young adults (AYA) with hematologic malignancies." (2014): 556-556.
- Woody, Ashley. 2021. "Emotions and Ambient Racism in America's Whitest Big City." *Social Problems* spab074. doi: 10.1093/socpro/spab074.
- Wrzus, Cornelia, Julia Zimmermann, Marcus Mund, and Franz J. Neyer. 2017. "Friendships in young and middle adulthood: Normative patterns and personality differences." *The psychology of friendship* 21-38.
- Xie, Jianfei, Qian Sun, Yinglong Duan, Qinqin Cheng, Xiaofei Luo, Yi Zhou, Xiangyu Liu, Panpan Xiao, and Andy SK Cheng. 2022. "Reproductive concerns among adolescent and young adult cancer survivors: A scoping review of current research situations." *Cancer Medicine*.
- Yanez, Betina, Sofia F. Garcia, David Victorson, and John M. Salsman. 2013. "Distress among young adult cancer survivors: a cohort study." *Supportive Care in Cancer* 21(9): 2403-2408.
- Yarden, Ronit I, Kim L. Newcomer, Never Too Young Advisory Board, and Colorectal CancerAlliance. 2019. "Young onset colorectal cancer patients are diagnosed with advanced disease after multiple misdiagnoses." *Cancer Research* 79(13): 3347-3347.
- Youll, Jackie, and Helen Meekosha. 2013. "Always look on the bright side of life: Cancer and positive thinking." *Journal of Sociology* 49(1): 22-40
- Zinn, Maxine Baca, and Bonnie Thornton Dill. 1996. "Theorizing Difference from Multiracial Feminism." *Feminist Studies* 22(2):321. doi: 10.2307/3178416.